
City of Swartz Creek 
AGENDA 

Regular Council Meeting, Monday, November 10, 2014, 7:00 P.M. 
City Hall Building, 8083 Civic Drive Swartz Creek, Michigan 48473 

1. CALL TO ORDER:

2. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:

3. OATH OF OFFICE-COUNCILMEMBER’S ELECT (City Clerk):

4. ROLL CALL:

5. COUNCIL ELECTIONS:
5A. Elect Mayor MOTION Pg. 12 
5B. Elect Mayor Pro-Tem MOTION Pg. 12 

6. MOTION TO APPROVE MINUTES:
6A. Council Meeting of October 13, 2014 MOTION Pg. 45 

7. APPROVE AGENDA:
7A. Proposed / Amended Agenda MOTION Pg. 1 

8. REPORTS & COMMUNICATIONS:
8A. City Manager’s Report (Agenda Item) MOTION Pg. 2 
8B. Metro Alliance Dues (Agenda Item) Pg. 54
8C. Consumers Energy Notices Pg. 56
8D. CMOM Agreement (Agenda Item) Pg. 61 
6E. October Building Department Reports  Pg. 77 
6F. October Check Run Pg. 85 
6G. Senior Center Audit Pg. 90 
6H. October Police Department Report Pg. 111 
8I. Asset Management Training Pg. 117 
8J. Street Findings Presentation (Agenda Item) Pg. 118 
8K. Park board update (Joe Perrault) Pg. 129 
8L. October DPS Report  Pg. 132 
8M. NPDES Permit Application Blank Pg. 138 

9. MEETING OPENED TO THE PUBLIC:
9A. General Public Comments

10. COUNCIL BUSINESS:
10A. Medical Marijuana Moratorium RESO  Pg. 16 
10B. Local Street Plan Findings by Rowe PSC PRESENTATION Pg. 118 
10C. Genesee Metropolitan Alliance Membership RESO Pg. 17 
10D. Board and Commission Appointment Extensions RESO Pg. 18 
10E. Storm Water Management Ordinance 415 Approval RESO Pg. 19 
10F. Illicit Discharge Ordinance 416 Approval RESO Pg. 36 
10G. CMOM Agreement RESO Pg. 43 

11. MEETING OPENED TO THE PUBLIC:

12. REMARKS BY COUNCILMEMBERS:

13. ADJOURNMENT: MOTION 

City Council Packet 1 November 10, 2014



 
City of Swartz Creek 

CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
Regular Council Meeting of Monday, November 10, 2014 - 7:00 P.M. 

 

TO:  Honorable Mayor, Mayor Pro-Tem & Council Members 
FROM: Adam Zettel, City Manager 
DATE:   November 5, 2014 
 

OLD / ROUTINE BUSINESS – REVISITED ISSUES / PROJECTS 
 
 GOLF COURSE TAX APPEAL (No Change of Status) 

At the request of the owner’s legal representative, I ordered the city attorney to send 
the owner a request to remove themselves from the appeal that was filed with the 
Michigan Tax Tribunal.  Since the previous owner has no horse left in the race, this 
should make this entire problem go away. However, until we have notice that they 
have officially withdrawn, we must assume they intend to see the appeal through. 
 

 RACEWAY TAX APPEAL (No Change of Status) 
Here is another one. The harness racing industry is struggling, but they still have 108.5 
acres at a signalized intersection with I-69. Their appeal information is as follows: 
 
2014 Taxable:   $904,200  
2014 Taxable (requested): $250,000 
 
If the city agrees that non-residential land on Morrish Road off of I-69 is valued at less 
than $4,700 per acre, assuming the improvements had no value, then we have very 
large problems indeed. (Note that we would assume no such thing in any case). 
 
Like the golf course, this property keeps appealing. I believe such businesses will do 
so, beyond absurdity, until it is clear the city is resisting.  

 
 DOWNTOWN PARKING LOTS (No Change of Status) 

The Community Development Block Grant portion of the work is not done and there is 
likely to be a delay on closing out this project due to the wait time for street lights. Two 
of the lights are being installed by the contractor, with the light in the Morrish Road 
right-of-way being installed by Consumers Energy.  The CDBG fund allocation was 
approved by Genesee County. 

 
 STREETS (See Individual Category) 

 
 MILLER ROAD RESURFACING PROJECT (Update) 

The grade inspection for Miller Road, between Morrish and Dye, was held on 
November 5, 2014. The project is moving forward as planned, assuming the city is 
able to get design exceptions for a narrow left turn lane and narrow bike lanes. The 
date set by the state for construction commencement was June 1, 2015, with 
completion on August 28, 2015. This is just a tentative schedule. 
 

City Council Packet 2 November 10, 2014



 LOCAL STREET PLAN (Update) 
This is on the agenda again for this meeting. All signs point toward a public vote on 
a levy at some point. The big questions are: how much, how long, and what streets 
get priority.  There has also been some interest in front loading the rehabilitation 
work by seeking a bond with potential revenues. 
 
I have included the presentation that Mr. Fluery and I have been working on. Our 
intention is to provide the findings of the street audit to the public at this time, with 
some added information on road financing and levy options. Though this is not a 
public hearing per se, an allowance for questions, discussion, and comment is 
expected and encouraged.  
 

 SCRAP TIRE GRANT (Update) 
We submitted a placeholder application for another round of funding. This way, if a 
street levy/assessment is approved, we can begin construction in 2015 instead of 
2016 and potentially save $500,000 in the process. The state requested we 
resubmit the proposal for a lesser amount to reflect 4x higher demand for grant 
funds over what is available. The projects tentatively scheduled include (cost 
updates are pending): 
 
Preventative Maintenance Improvements 
Parkridge Parkway    $70,000 
Yarmy Drive    $162,000 
TOTAL     $232,000 
 
Reconstruction (including watermain) 
Worchester Drive    $800,000 
Worchester Watermain   $345,000 
TOTAL     $1,145,000 
 
Construction Total    $1,377,000 
Design/Construction Engineering  $210,000 
TOTAL PROJECT COST   $1,587,000 
 
Funding Breakdown 
-Scrap Tire Grant (provisional)  $125,000 
-Water Fund (including surface work) $500,000 
-Street Fund (levy/assessment needed) $962,000 
 

 SALT PRICES (Update) 
The city is still under the county’s purchasing arrangement for road salt by virtue of 
the county extending the unit prices from the previous year in what has become a 
very smart move. This is a good thing. The city will be paying $52.69 per ton for the 
coming winter. The market price is now at an average of $65.81 according to the 
Detroit Free Press, but I have heard it is creeping over $100 for some communities.  

 
 WATER – SEWER ISSUES PENDING (See Individual Category) 
 SEWER REHABILITATION PROGRAM (No Change of Status) 

Liqui Force has finished relining and videotaping the sewers. We are awaiting their 
recommendation for future projects. At first glance, it appears that the Miller Road 
main that was inspected is in pretty good shape. 

City Council Packet 3 November 10, 2014



 
 BEAR CREEK SANITARY SEWER AGREEMENT (No Change of Status) 

I have been working with Genesee County Water and Waste to find a solution for 
the Bear Creek subdivision that is currently on the city’s system. We can remove 
them from the system and force them to find an alternate solution (not likely given 
the nature of essential services), we can negotiate a new contract for sewage 
collection, or we can sell a section of the Morrish Road main to GCWWS to operate 
and maintain as a multi-jurisdictional line. This last option has some appeal, since 
the city would keep the customers on that line. We are working to see which option 
we will look to recommend based upon the long term interests of the city. 
 

 KWA (No Change of Status) 
The KWA water pipeline project is currently under budget and on schedule. We 
should be online in 2016. The bad news is that the Detroit water authority is 
hammering Genesee County for the last two years of system use in terms of rates, 
as well as any potential for a system backup after the KWA is online. Rates have 
been set, and they are unpleasant. I expect to have a new rate proposal for the city 
council at the next meeting for both water and sewer so that these increases do not 
empty the fund balance for water and sewer. It is likely that we will lose money for a 
quarter or two before new rates can be implemented, but both funds should be able 
to accommodate that loss so that the burden is lessened on the system users.  
 

 STORM SEWER (Update) 
We have two ordinances included in this week’s packet, and I am hoping for 
approval by the city council.  These are required by the state Department of 
Environmental Quality via the Genesee County Drain Commission. The city 
completed our National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) MS4 
application this April, a blank copy is attached. Questions 20-26 & 32-58 compel 
these ordinances, models of which were developed by our partners with the state 
and county.  
 
Our attorney has reviewed these ordinances on behalf of similarly situated 
communities and sees no irregularities with the model ordinances prepared for our 
community.  
 
Like similar ordinances in the past related to industrial pretreatment, there is not 
much wiggle room here.  However, going over the ordinances, I do not feel there is 
anything unreasonable in the requirements to permit storm water improvements and 
enforce illicit discharges. Tom has been working with staff from the state and GCDC 
for months on these. I believe we can adopt them as is, repealing our own storm 
water ordinance, without compromising our police powers or public safety. 
 

 WATER LOSS (No Change of Status) 
I have been taking a look at the city’s water loss with staff. Water loss refers to the 
water that is purchased wholesale from the county but never sold to an end 
user/customer from the city. This is water that is lost to water main breaks, 
undetected leaks, theft, faulty meters, and hydrant use/flushing. Most water systems 
function with 10-12% water loss, and this is an accepted industry standard. I have 
concerns that our water loss is climbing to unacceptable levels.  

City Council Packet 4 November 10, 2014



 
To illustrate what our concerns are, I have created some figures. Table 1 shows the 
quarterly purchases from the county compared to the retails sales. The separation 
between the two lines is our water loss. This gap should be as small as possible. A 
large gap indicates a problem. As you can see, the gap is tremendous during two 
quarters in 2011. I am told there were a series of large water main breaks during 
this time. However, what we are really looking for here are three trends that indicate 
more systemic problems: 1. Upward trending purchases 2. Downward trending 
sales, 3. A widening of the gap between the two over time.  
 

 
 
Based upon this chart and the accompanying water loss percentage chart (Table 2), 
the city is trending in the right direction.  Though water loss is numerically high on 
average, one can deduce that it is largely due to the two quarters of main breaks, 
with the trend line indicated a return to the acceptable range.  
 

City Council Packet 5 November 10, 2014



 
 
With that in mind, I removed those two high quarters and took a look at the data 
without those outlying events. What we found is still disturbing. The new data 
indicate that purchases are stable over time, but sales are slightly decreasing. This 
is evidenced by the trend line (linear regression) on Table 4. What we see here is a 
classic rise from acceptable levels around 12% in 2010 to near 16% in 2014. There 
is a problem. Financially, this can be quite impactful. If water loss approaches 20%, 
the city may be losing well over $75,000 annually beyond acceptable standards. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

City Council Packet 6 November 10, 2014



 
 
What is likely causing the loss? Causes for water loss were listed above, and I 
suspect all of them are at play in our community. However, what is causing the 
gradual increase? It is unlikely that system-wide theft is the issue. Though bills have 
been going up all over south east Michigan and theft may be more likely, I would 
expect this trend to be observable in other communities if it were a large scale 
problem. That does not appear to be the case.  
 
Could it be one or more leaks? Maybe, but such leaks are typically accounted for in 
the 10% water loss figure. A large leak or set of leaks is usually apparent. However, 
underground leaks near the creek or a sewer outlet can go unnoticed because the 
water can drain right into an outlet without coming to the surface. We have visually 
inspected storm water outfalls into the creek and other problem areas and continue 
to be on the lookout. Nothing unusual has been observed. Leak detection of a more 
sophisticated nature is possible by contracted service, however, this option is 
expensive so we are holding off until other avenues are eliminated.  
 
Hydrant flushing and fire department use? Though this water certainly goes 
unmetered, there are no known changes in practices that would indicate more water 
loss. Just to be safe, we intend to meter usage at the fire department to gauge how 
much water is used for training and other purposes.  
 
Faulty meters? This is where we are focusing our efforts.  The city is billed water at 
incoming meters on east Miller, north Elms, and north Morrish Roads. Outgoing 
water is then deducted from our wholesale purchases on Hill and Miller Roads on 
the west end. If the incoming meters are reading high, this would be a problem. 
However, this is unlikely based on meter technology and the stability of our water 
purchases. Could the outgoing meters be reading low? It’s possible, and we are 
working with the county to test all meters. In addition to auditing large accounts for 
billing irregularities, we are also replacing and/or testing meters on our large users 
(GM, schools, & large retailers).  
 

City Council Packet 7 November 10, 2014



General Motors water usage has dropped much over the years. This was expected 
due to the massive reduction in occupancy (office), industrial efficiencies, and the 
overall workforce changes. For that reason, the reduction was not raising a red flag. 
However, the meter is old and they are our largest user. It is possible that a failing 
meter could account for a few percentage points of water loss city wide.  
 
We will continue to monitor water loss and look into its causes. If we are not 
successful, we may need to seek outside assistance to begin a leak detection 
program. I will keep the council informed. 
 
*Note that water loss figures will appear to fluctuate even under ideal circumstances 
based upon the timing of the meter reads by the county and city. That is why the 
trend line is viewed as a more suitable measure than the most current water loss 
figure. 
 

 PERSONNEL:  POLICIES & PROCEDURES (No Change of Status) 
I have taken some best practice polices from our own collection and from across the 
state and have created a working document. I will need time to compare this against 
our collective bargaining agreements, the desires of department heads, and our legal 
counsel. 

 
 CITY PROPERTY, 4438 MORRISH & 5017 THIRD STREET(Update) 

The demolition of the Morrish Road house and the Third Street house are complete. 
There are no issues or irregularities to report. We are now winterizing the accessory 
structures on Third Street. I believe the plan has been to sell this lot off, an issue the 
council should address this winter. 

 
 SHARED SERVICES, POLICE DEPARTMENTS (Update) 

The city is moving forward with studying merger options. In the meantime, we will be 
working under an agreement with Mundy Township to provide the city with an 
employee to oversee the chief duties of the city.  
 
Mundy Township created a temporary position to study merger and hired our own 
retiring Chief Clolinger. Under the shared service agreement with Mundy Township, 
Chief Atkinson has designated Rick Clolinger as the Chief of Swartz Creek. This will 
be done for a cost of $37,500 annually. In the meantime, Lieutenant Bade will be 
working more day hours to supplement the administrative service. This will allow him 
to learn from the Chief to better prepare him for succession to that position, should it 
be necessary.  
 
In practice, not much has changed for us when except that Mr. Bade will be learning 
the ropes of the administration and Chief Clolinger’s hours are now limited. Otherwise, 
we can expect our service to remain the same. The oversight of the department is 
under Chief Clolinger, who will in turn answer to the city manager as required by 
charter. This arrangement has no impact on the policies, rules, procedures, 
supervision, or patrol strategies of the city. 
 
The hope is that, within a year or so, we will know whether we are hiring/promoting a 
chief or moving forward with the merger. At that point, this agreement would go away 
in lieu of status quo chief services or a new authority.  

City Council Packet 8 November 10, 2014



 
 
 SPRINGBROOK EAST & HERITAGE – VACANT LOTS (No Change of Status) 

Following are issues pending for the three Associations: 
 

SPRINGBROOK COLONY SPRINGBROOK EAST HERITAGE VILLAGE 

No outstanding issues No outstanding issues 

Transfer water, sanitary 
sewer, storm sewer, streets to 
city and seek solution for 4 
vacant lots owned by city. 

 
Two units have sold already and are under construction. At some point next year, the 
city council should look at what to do with the funds in excess of the city’s input that we 
are getting for these units. 
 
I have also been in communication with the counsel of Heritage Village. On August 
19th, the home owners association resolved to transfer described rights of ways, 
including utilities to the city. It appears that adequate surveys and language exist for 
the dedication, and there is also language included about storm drainage (collection 
system, pond system, and transmission system).  

 
 MEIJER COMMUNITY DONATION (No Change of Status) 

I am looking for a new contact at Meijer.  Perhaps a recognition of their donation, 
along with all of the other grant and façade work is appropriate in the near future. 

 
 WINCHESTER WOODS LOTS (No Change of Status) 

I suggest we delay any sales or negotiations until a land sale policy is adopted. 
Prior to the last meeting, staff notified the interested parties that a sale will not be 
forthcoming anytime soon. They do not appear to be in a hurry and will await the 
council’s decision.  
 
I want to take a harder look at the development of this area. Previously, the city 
considered an assessment that would provide drainage, curbs, gutters, road 
construction, street lights and sidewalks. The price per lot was absurd. I think the 
goal should be to make these lots buildable for quality homes. The city could 
probably achieve this with less intensive ditching and surfacing of the roads, sans 
the underground drainage system, lights, curbs, and sidewalks. This would 
drastically reduce the scope of the project.  
 
A sale of lots to an adjacent property owner could compromise the success of any 
special assessment for improvements and the ability to use these lots for single 
family homes.  
 

 NEWSLETTER (Update) 
The newsletter has been sent out. Let us know what you think.  
 

 RENTAL REGISTRATION AND INSPECTIONS (Update) 
Please give me any other comments you may have on this proposal. I have been 
working with staff and the city attorney to get this into a final form. We hope to have this 
approved before the new calendar year  
 

City Council Packet 9 November 10, 2014



 WINSHALL PAVILION (Update) 
Done. 
 

 OTHER COMMUNICATIONS & HAPPENINGS (Update)  
 

 MONTHLY REPORTS (Update) 
The building, police, DPS, and check reports are included.  
 

 SENIOR CENTER AUDIT (Update) 
The senior center audit is included. I don’t see any surprises or irregularities. They 
spent some fund balance on capital outlays, but their overall budget position and 
performance beat approved expectations. The auditors noted a deficiency in 
operations, but this is the same, unavoidable deficiency that the city often receives 
as it relates to the available checks and balances with a small staff size.   
 

 OTHER NOTICES (Update) 
I have also included a flyer for some free training on transportation asset 
management.  The timing is perfect! Every council member should attempt to go. 
Let me know if you wish to register.  
 
A pair of Consumers Energy notices are also included. 

 
 BOARDS & COMMISSIONS (See Individual Category)  
 PLANNING COMMISSION (Update) 

The medical marijuana facility that was proposed for the Carriage Plaza was 
withdrawn.  The Marathon site (Biggby Coffee) is working through conceptual and 
draft proposals, with a review expected at the December 2, 2014 meeting. 
 

 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (Update) 
They will meet on November 13 to hear from an architect about possible in-fill 
development on the publicly owned property on Fortino and Morrish. 
 

 ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS (No Change of Status) 
Nothing to report. 
 

 PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION  (Update) 
The commission met on November 5th to go over seasonal issues and the Elms 
Park Recreation Passport Grant. They have tentatively approved a scope for the 
grant work which follows: 
 

Elms Park Recreation Passport Grant Proposed Scope 
    

     
Work Item Description Quantity Unit 

Unit 
Price Amount 

Restroom Renovation 1 LS $41,500 $41,500 

Barrier free parking at main pavilion (Add 1 van accessible 
stall with fill from DPW) 16' x 20' HMA and signage 1 LS $3,500 $3,500 

Speed table concrete road crossing, 6" thick, 45' x 8' 360 SFT $6 $2,160 

City Council Packet 10 November 10, 2014



Concrete sidewalk to metal pavilion, 5' x 60' (fill and culvert 
by DPW) 300 SFT $4 $1,200 
Concrete sidewalk to Tammy Reaves Memorial pavilion, 5' x 
130' 650 SFT $4 $2,600 
Barrier free parking at south parking lot 16' x 20' HMA and 
signage 1 LS $3,500 $3,500 
Backstop 1 LS $3,200 $3,200 
Exercise stations, manufactured, installed 3 EA $1,200 $3,600 
Paved walking path, 8' wide 500 LFT $30 $15,000 
MDNR sign 1 LS $500 $500 
SESC, restoration 1 LS $1,000 $1,000 

     Estimated Construction Cost 
   

$77,760 
Construction Contingency (20%) 

   
$15,552.0 

     Total Estimated Project Cost 
   

$93,312 
 
 
I will write this grant during the winter months. Once that is completed, the city 
council will review and approve (or deny) application to the State of Michigan 
Department of Natural Resources.  Applications are due in April of 2015 with 
construction expected in the spring of 2016. A match of approximately $50,000 
would be expected from the city. This could be done with a combination of in-kind 
services, volunteer labor, donated money/materials, and general fund money.  
 
The park board is planning to provide candle light ambiance at this year’s Christmas 
Parade. In addition, they will be sponsoring and judging city-wide decorating 
contests, with a residential and business category. 
 
We did not discuss the park rules at this meeting. I expect to have an ordinance at 
the next meeting, or a meeting in December that enables the council to promulgate 
rules by resolution instead of by ordinance. This will create some flexibility that does 
not exist now. For example, the park hours are currently set by ordinance and 
require a legislative change to alter or waive. Enabling a set of rules will make such 
changes or waivers on hours, fees, and operations much more fluid. 
 
Park Board member, Joe Perrault, included a 2014 summary/update on park 
activities. This is in the council packet. 
 

 BOARD OF REVIEW (No Change of Status) 
The board of review met on July 23rd. Two petitioners presented. The board also 
requested the appointment of an alternate member. The state encourages this for 
practical reasons. The first is the need to ensure the presence of at least two 
members out of the three appointees. The second is to begin training of potential 
permanent members for what is considered a specialized position.  
 
The charter limits the board to three, but the city attorney believes that alternates 
are permissible as long as the acting board is not comprised of more than three 

City Council Packet 11 November 10, 2014



members at any time. With that said, staff recommends the appointment of another 
qualified board member to serve as an alternate.  

 
 FAIRCHILD AND MILLER INTERSECTION  (No Change of Status) 

At the last meeting there was a comment about the lighting at the Fairchild and 
Miller intersection. Mr. Svrcek looked into that issue later that week by placing a call 
to Consumers Energy.  They indicated that this issue was raised before (I believe it 
may have been last summer, perhaps sooner?).  Though we have not gotten any 
written report from them, we were told that additional lighting at that intersection 
would not be recommended. At this time, I don’t know why that would be, whether 
there were practical concerns with the site or what cost-benefit metric was used. I 
will get the opinion of Consumers and bring back that analysis and options to the 
city council. As of writing this, it appears they called Miss Dig to mark out placement 
of a light at the northeast corner. No such move has been communicated to us. We 
continue to reach out to them.  
 
Related to this, I am certain the city council is aware of a vehicle-pedestrian collision 
on the morning of Friday, October 17, 2014. It appears the young lady will pull 
through this, which is fantastic news considering the circumstances. As of writing 
this, the factors involved in that collision are not available to the public. Concerns 
abound and include lighting, distracted drivers, a general lack of awareness, speed, 
and so on. To what degree lighting is related to this incident at this or other 
intersections, I don’t know. However, it is definitely a reasonable concern of the 
general public.  
 
I will work with the schools, public works, and public safety to see what can be done 
at this intersection and others. There is no question that the darkness and weather 
add risk to pedestrian activities, even when lighting is present. The solution may be 
to prioritize the busier intersections for some sort of mitigation.  
 

 SNOW REMOVAL CONTRACT (Update) 
The contractor that was retained last fall for snow removal services is contracted 
through this winter. However, we could not contact them. We have rebid the service 
and are also getting quotes for the expected sidewalk enforcement services. 

 
NEW BUSINESS / PROJECTED ISSUES & PROJECTS 
 
 NEW COUNCIL, MAYORAL ELECTION (Resolutions) 

Welcome back to our returning incumbents and welcome to our new member, Dennis 
Pinkston.  We have a handful of organizational activities tonight, including Office Oath, 
Mayor, and Mayor Pro-Tem Elections. 
 
Swartz Creek City Council adopted the following selection procedure for the Offices of 
Mayor and Mayor Pro-Tem: 

 
1. The City Clerk will accept verbal nominations for all candidates of the 

respective post.  Support for the nominee is not required. 

City Council Packet 12 November 10, 2014



2. A roll call vote of each Councilmember will be conducted by the Clerk.  
Councilmembers will name a single choice for the respective post. 

3.  Four votes shall be required of a nominee to be selected as Mayor and Mayor 
Pro-Tem. 

4.  If four votes are not cast for a candidate, the process will be repeated. 
 

 MEDICAL MARIJUANA MORATORIUM (Resolution) 
The city council approved this at the last meeting. Unfortunately, the paper was unable 
to accommodate our publication request for October 30, 2014 due to circumstance. As 
such, the process must be repeated.  
 

 GENESEE COUNTY METROPOLITAN ALLIANCE DUES (Resolution) 
The dues are only $150. However, the participation and membership into this group is 
formal enough to require appointments by the legislative body of each community. For 
that reason, I am ensuring we have a resolution to participate. Our current 
representatives are Mr. John Gilbert (elected) and Mr. Ronald Shultz (citizen). Both 
positions require appointments at this meeting. We do not have a current alternate. 
 

GCMA is the policy body responsible for decision making concerning surface 
transportation in Genesee County. Their duties include the review and endorsement of 
transportation planning issues, and federal aid projects and their funding. The decisions 
made by GCMA have a direct impact on roadway, mass transit and non-motorized issues 
within the county. GCMA meets the third Wednesday of the month at 7:00 p.m. in the 
County Administration Building. 

 
 APPOINTMENTS (Resolution) 

As expected following an election, there are numerous appointments to make on a 
number of city boards and commissions. Many appointments are proposed as 
affirmation of existing appointees. However, with the departure of Mr. David Hurt, there 
are many vacancies to fill.  
 
However, since these are mayoral appointments, it is not practical to make such 
appointments at the same meeting in which the Mayor is selected by the council. This 
would, in effect, put a potentially new Mayor on the spot to instantly fill these vacancies 
without any research, preparation, or consultation with appointees. I recommend we 
extend the existing appointments for two weeks and fill these positions on November 
24, 2014. This practice was observed in 2012. A resolution is attached.  
 

 CAPACITY MANAGEMENT AND OPERATIONS MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT 
(CMOM) (Resolution) 

The Genesee County Drain Commission Water and Waste Services Division (WWS) 
provide sewage treatment services to the City of Swartz Creek, as well as sewer 
transportation from the city to the Beecher Road treatment facility. The city pays for 
these services as a wholesale customer, meaning that the county bills the city as one 
user, and the city then bills individual users on our local system. This also means that 
the city is responsible for all operations and maintenance of the local system.  
 
The CMOM agreement you see before you is generally intended for the retail 
customers of the county (those municipalities that do not operate and maintain their 

City Council Packet 13 November 10, 2014



respective systems). This agreement enables the county to provide O&M services, as 
well as billing, ground staking, and lift station operations.  
 
At this point in time, the county is requesting all wholesale customers to be a party to 
this agreement in some capacity. The impetus for this request is to ensure property 
CCIF fee collection by the county through permitting processes, as well as to ensure 
that each municipality maintains some minimum standard of operation and 
maintenance over their system. Since the county is responsible for transporting and 
treating all waste from wholesale customers, this is not an unreasonable request, nor is 
it new to the city (think of the 114 page sewer use ordinance that was passed in 2011 
for exactly this purpose!).  
 
What does this all mean? It means that our community should engage as a party to this 
agreement under the terms that enable us to continue with operations and maintenance 
as usual. This means that, under Exhibit A of the agreement, we should select 
“Municipality to Issue B-Permits” under Item 1, “Not Selected” under Item 2, “Not 
Selected” under Item 3, and “Not Selected” under Item 4. The result of approving this 
agreement under those conditions will be the status quo. If the city is interested in 
having the county perform operations and maintenance of our sewer collection system, 
including lift stations, we can revisit this at any time.  
 
Otherwise, we will be writing B-Permits (permits to connect to the system), staking the 
ground for “Miss Dig”, and operating the system as usual. The sewer use ordinance we 
adopted three years ago satisfies the requirements of Article VII as noted in the letter 
and agreement.  
 

Council Questions, Inquiries, Requests and Comments    
   

 The DPS is replacing signs all over town, included no parking signs that were 
noted as missing by the council.  

 We plan to make the calendars more legible for next year as it relates to 
noting the city council meetings and recycling on the same days.  

 

City Council Packet 14 November 10, 2014



 
City of Swartz Creek 

RESOLUTIONS  
Regular Council Meeting, Monday, October 27, 2014, 7:00 P.M. 

 
 
Motion No. 141110-5A NOMINATIONS & ELECT MAYOR 
 

Councilmember Shumaker: ____________________ 
  Councilmember Porath : ____________________ 
  Councilmember Krueger: ____________________ 
  Councilmember Pinkston: ____________________ 
  Councilmember  Hicks:  ____________________ 
  Councilmember  Gilbert:  ____________________ 

Councilmember  Abrams: ____________________ 
   
  Elected (Minimum 4 Votes Needed): _________________________  
 
 
Motion No. 141110-5B NOMINATIONS & ELECT MAYOR PRO-TEM 
 

Councilmember Shumaker: ____________________ 
  Councilmember Porath : ____________________ 
  Councilmember Krueger: ____________________ 
  Councilmember Pinkston: ____________________ 
  Councilmember  Hicks:  ____________________ 
  Councilmember  Gilbert:  ____________________ 

Councilmember  Abrams: ____________________ 
 
  Elected (Minimum 4 Votes Needed): _________________________  
 
Resolution No. 141110-6A  MINUTES – October 27, 2014 

 
Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 

 
 

I Move the Swartz Creek City Council approve the Minutes of the Regular Council 
Meeting held Monday, October 27, 2014, to be circulated and placed on file. 

 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

 
Voting For:_______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________  

 
Resolution No. 141110-7A AGENDA APPROVAL 

Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 
 
I Move the Swartz Creek City Council approve the Agenda as presented / printed / 
amended for the Regular Council Meeting of November 10, 2014, to be circulated and 
placed on file. 
 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

 

City Council Packet 15 November 10, 2014



Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
Resolution No. 141110-8A CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

 
 Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 

 
I Move the Swartz Creek City Council accept the City Manager’s Report of November 
10, 2014, to be circulated and placed on file. 
  
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
Resolution No. 141110-10A MORATORIUM ON MEDICAL MARIJUANA 

ESTABLISHMENTS 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek Michigan, by Ordinance, has prohibited the 
possession or use of marijuana, as well as the sale, display, furnishing, supplying or 
possession of controlled substance paraphernalia; and 
 
WHEREAS, the use, possession, cultivation, manufacture or sale of marijuana 
remains a crime under the Laws of the State of Michigan, the United States of America 
as a Schedule 1 drug under the Michigan Public Health Code and by the Treaty of 
1980, entitled:  Convention of Psychotropic Substances, and it is illegal to operate a 
motor vehicle with any amount of THC in an individual’s blood system; and    
 
WHEREAS, the people of the State of Michigan by referendum have provided that 
there shall not be criminal prosecution for the medical use of marijuana  in limited and 
specific ways as provided in MCLA 333.26421 et seq; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek passed ordinance number 407 to define and 
regulate medical marijuana dispensaries and growing facilities; and 
 
WHEREAS, the legislature of the State of Michigan is considering certain legislation, 
specifically House Bill 4271, that is expected to significantly alter the operations of 
medical marijuana commercial facilities; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek Michigan believes that in light of potential 
adverse effects upon its citizens, by the use, sale, production, and storage of medical 
marijuana that could affect the public safety, health and welfare, if certain controls 
were not placed as to if, where, or how such medical marijuana use is carried out; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Swartz Creek City Council believes that its Ordinances will require 
amendment to comply with current and proposed legislation, including the Michigan 
Medical Marijuana Act (MMMA), and to regulate certain conduct by medical marijuana 
users and their caregivers; and 

 

City Council Packet 16 November 10, 2014



WHEREAS, the Swartz Creek City Council believes that the location in which medical 
marijuana caregivers provide care to medical marijuana patients requires regulation to 
avoid any harmful impact on the citizens by the placement or concentration of medical 
marijuana caregivers, within the ambit of the Zoning Ordinances of the City of Swartz 
Creek.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Swartz Creek City Council by this 
Resolution determines to place a moratorium upon the establishment of caregiver 
facilities, dispensaries, growing facilities, and similar facilities as defined by ordinance 
407 and state legislation within its City Limits for a period of one hundred eighty (180) 
days, to allow the City Council to consider amendments to its Zoning Ordinances and 
to its Drug Control Ordinances.  It is the intent of the City to maintain a land use status 
quo pending final adoption of any proposed zoning plan or changes regarding 
Michigan medical marijuana caregivers as defined in MCLA 333.26421 et seq. 
(MMMA). 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that in compliance with section 32.15 of the zoning 
code for the City of Swartz Creek, this moratorium shall be effective immediately upon 
publication of this resolution in a newspaper of general circulation. 

 
Moved:  Councilmember 
Second:  Councilmember 
Voting For:   
Voting Against:  
Absent:   
 
The Mayor declared the ordinance adopted. 
 
_________________________________ __________________________ 
David A Krueger, Mayor    Juanita Aguilar, City Clerk 
  

CERTIFICATION 
The foregoing is a true copy of Resolution No. 141110-__, which was passed by the Swartz 
Creek City Council at a regular meeting held on the 10th day of November, 2014. 
 
 
_________________________   
Juanita Aguilar     
City Clerk      
 
Resolution No. 141110-10C GENESEE COUNTY METROPOLITAN ALLIANCE DUES 

 
 Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek is a street authority in the State of Michigan that 
is funded with federal monies through the Genesee County Metropolitan Planning 
Commission, as represented by the Genesee County Metropolitan Alliance (GCMA), 
and; 
 

City Council Packet 17 November 10, 2014



WHEREAS, the City maintains membership status with the GCMA in order to be 
represented throughout the street planning and funding process for the region, and; 
 
WHEREAS, the GCMA is requesting affirmation of membership and the payment of 
dues sufficient to cover meeting preparation and operational costs, and;  
 
WHEREAS, the City finds continued membership to be in the best interests of the 
public. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Swartz Creek hereby 
approves ongoing membership with the GCMA and payment of $150 towards dues for 
the 2015 calendar year. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that representatives to the GCMA shall be 
selected at the regular meeting of the city council on November 24, 2014.  
 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
 
Resolution No. 141110-10D BOARDS & COMMISSIONS, EXTEND APPOINTMENTS 

 
 Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 

 
WHEREAS, the City maintains a variety of Boards & Commissions as part of its 
governmental functions and services; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City’s Charter, Ordinances and State Statutes defines the authority of 
all such boards and commissions, including the term of service, conditions and 
appointments; and 
 
WHEREAS, many of the appointments are concurrent with the election of the City’s’ 
Mayor and/or biennial Council at-large or district seats; and 
 
WHEREAS, many of the appointed Board & Commission positions will expire with the 
seating and oath of office of a new Mayor and Council, as is the case of the meeting of 
November 10, 2014, subsequent to the elections of November 4, 2014; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council finds that appointments immediately following the seating of a 
newly elect Council and Mayor may need review and consideration, and in the best 
interest of the City, its residents and elector’s, desires a postponement of all such 
appointments until the Council’s next regular Council Meeting. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, I Move the City Council postpone the appointments of all 
expiring positions for the various Boards & Commissions, until the regular Council 
Meeting of November 24, 2014, and further, appoint and continue all such terms for an 
additional two weeks, the terms expiring on November 24, 2014 at 11:59 PM.   
 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

City Council Packet 18 November 10, 2014



 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
Resolution No. 141110-10E STORM WATER MANAGEMENT ORDINANCE 
 

CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK 
STORM WATER MANAGEMENT ORDINANCE 

SWARTZ ZCREEK CITY COUNCIL 
SWARTZ CREEK 

GENESEE COUNTY, MICHIGAN 

ORDINANCE NO. 415 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES, FOR SWARTZ CREEK, MICHIGAN, BY 
REPEALING ORDINANCE 376 AND REMOVING CHAPTER 15 ARTICLE IV AND ADDING ARTICLES I 
THROUGH IX TO CHAPTER 21 TO REGULATE STORM WATER CONTROL; TO PROVIDE FOR STORM 
WATER PERMITS AND FOR PAYMENT OR REIMBURSEMENT OF COSTS INCURRED BY THE CITY OF 
SWARTZ CREEK DUE TO STORM WATER PERMITS; AND TO PROVIDE PENALTIES FOR VIOLATIONS.  

THE CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK ORDAINS: 

Section 1.  Amendment of Code of Ordinances. 

Chapter 15 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Swartz Creek, Michigan is amended by repealing 
Ordinance 376 (Chapter 15, Article IV) and by adding Articles I through IX of Chapter 21 to read as follows: 

Article I.  Storm Water  

Section 21.101  Findings 

The City of Swartz Creek finds that: 

(a) Water bodies, roadways, structures, and other property within, and downstream of the 
City of Swartz Creek are at times subjected to flooding; 

(b) Flooding is a danger to the lives and property of the public and is also a danger to the 
natural resources of the City of Swartz Creek and the region; 

(c) Land development alters the hydrologic response of watersheds, resulting in increased 
storm water runoff rates and volumes, increased flooding, increased stream channel 
erosion, and increased sediment transport and deposition; 

(d) Storm water runoff produced by land development contributes to increased quantities of 
water-borne pollutants; 

(e) Increases of storm water runoff, soil erosion, and non-point source pollution have 
occurred as a result of land development, and cause deterioration of the water 
resources of the City of Swartz Creek and downstream municipalities;  

(f) Storm water runoff, soil erosion, and non-point source pollution, due to land 
development within the City of Swartz Creek, have resulted in a deterioration of the 
water resources of the City of Swartz Creek and downstream municipalities; 

(g) Increased storm water runoff rates and volumes, and the sediments and pollutants 
associated with storm water runoff from future development projects within the City of 
Swartz Creek  will, absent reasonable regulation and control, adversely affect the City 
of Swartz Creek's water bodies and water resources, and those of downstream 
municipalities; 

City Council Packet 19 November 10, 2014



(h) Storm water runoff, soil erosion, and non-point source pollution can be controlled and 
minimized by the regulation of storm water runoff from development; 

(i) Adopting the standards, criteria and procedures contained in this ordinance and 
implementing the same will address many of the deleterious effects of storm water 
runoff; 

(j) Adopting these standards is necessary for the preservation of the public health, safety 
and welfare. 

Section 21.102  Purpose 

It is the purpose of this ordinance to establish minimum storm water management requirements and 
controls to accomplish, among others, the following objectives: 

(a) To reduce artificially induced flood damage; 

(b) To minimize increased storm water runoff rates and volumes from identified new land 
development; 

(c) To minimize the deterioration of existing watercourses, culverts and bridges, and other 
structures; 

(d) To encourage water recharge into the ground where geologically favorable conditions 
exist; 

(e) To prevent an increase in non-point source pollution; 

(f) To maintain the integrity of stream channels for their biological functions, as well as for 
drainage and other purposes; 

(g) To minimize the impact of development upon stream bank and streambed stability; 

(h) To reduce erosion from development or construction projects; 

(i) To preserve and protect water supply facilities and water resources by means of 
controlling increased flood discharges, stream erosion, and runoff pollution; and, 

(j) To reduce storm water runoff rates and volumes, soil erosion, and non-point source 
pollution, wherever practicable, from lands that were developed without storm water 
management controls meeting the purposes and standards of this ordinance. 

(k) To reduce the adverse impact of changing land use on water bodies and, to that end, 
this ordinance establishes minimum standards to protect water bodies from degradation 
resulting from changing land use where there are insufficient storm water management 
controls. 

Section 21.203  Applicability, Exemptions and General Provisions 

To prevent an increase in non-point source pollution; this ordinance shall apply to any earth-disturbing 
activities greater than or equal to 1-acre (≥1 ac.) for new development or redevelopment projects or 
earth disturbing activities less than 1-acre on parcels with greater than or equal to 50% (≥ 50%) 
impervious surface which will alter storm water drainage characteristics of the development site. 
Typically these developments require approval of a plat, a site development plan, building permit, and 
other permits to be obtained. However, this ordinance shall not apply to the following: 

(a) Development on one single-family lot, parcel, or condominium unit where the City of 
Swartz Creek determines that due to the size of the development site or other 
circumstances, the quantity, quality, and or rate of stormwater flow does not materially 
alter storm water flow from the property in terms of rate and/or volume. 

(b) The installation or removal of individual mobile homes within a mobile home park.  This 
exemption shall not be construed to apply to the construction, expansion, or 
modification of a mobile home park. 

(c) Ongoing farm operations such as tilling or plowing. Earth disturbances that are not 
directly related to farming are not exempt from this ordinance.  

City Council Packet 20 November 10, 2014



(d) Plats with preliminary plat approval and other developments with final land use approval 
prior to the effective date of this ordinance, where such approvals remain in effect. 

(e) Additions or modifications to any single family or duplex structure disturbing less than 
20,000 square feet of land. 

(f) Landscaping or gardening involving less than 5,000 square feet of land.  

(g) Construction of a dwelling on a legal lot within a development that itself previously 
received approval under this article, provided that less than 5,000 square feet of land is 
cleared or graded for such construction 

Section 21.104  Definitions 

For the purpose of this ordinance, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings 
respectively ascribed to them by this Section unless the context in which they are used specifically 
indicates otherwise: 

(a) Best Management Practices (BMPs) - A practice, or combination of practices and 
design criteria that comply with the Michigan Department of Natural Resources and 
Environment’s Guidebook of BMPs for Michigan Watersheds, the Low Impact 
Development Manual for Michigan, or equivalent practices and design criteria that 
accomplish the purposes of this ordinance (including, but not limited to minimizing 
storm water runoff and preventing the discharge of pollutants into storm water) as 
determined by the Cityy Engineer, and, where appropriate, the standards of the 
Genesee County Drain Commissioner. 

(b) Building Opening - Any opening of a solid wall such as a window or door, through which 
floodwaters could penetrate. 

(c) Construction Site Storm Water Runoff - Storm water runoff from a development site 
following an earth change. 

(d) Detention - A system which is designed to capture storm water and release it over a 
given period of time through an outlet structure at a controlled rate. 

(e) Developed or Development - The installation or construction of impervious surfaces on 
a development site that require, pursuant to state law or local ordinance, the City’s 
approval of a site plan, plat, site condominium, special land use, planned unit 
development, rezoning of land, land division approval, private road approval or other 
approvals required for the development of land or the erection of buildings or structures; 
provided, however, that for purposes of Article II only, developed or development shall 
not include the actual construction of, or an addition, extension or modification to, an 
individual single-family or a two-family detached dwelling or appurtenances to the 
same, if the City Manager finds that such construction, addition, extension or 
modification will not result in adverse storm water runoff. In making his written finding, 
the City Manager may consult with the Zoning Administrator, planning committee, the 
code enforcement official and/or the City engineer. 

(f) Developer - Any person proposing or implementing the development of land. Developer 
can also be interpreted to include their designated design representative (e.g. architects 
and engineers).  

(g) Development Site - Any land that is being or has been developed, or that a developer 
proposes for development. 

(h) Discharger - Any person or entity who directly or indirectly discharges storm water from 
any property.  Discharger also means any employee, officer, director, partner, 
contractor, or other person who participates in, or is legally or factually responsible for, 
any act or omission which is or results in a violation of this ordinance. 

(i) Drain - Any drain as defined in the Drain Code of 1956, as amended, being MCL 280.1, 
et. seq., other than an established county or intercounty drain. 

City Council Packet 21 November 10, 2014



(j) Drainage - The collection, conveyance, or discharge of ground water and/or surface 
water. 

(k) Drainageway - The area within which surface water or ground water is carried from one 
part of a lot or parcel to another part of the lot or parcel or to adjacent land. 

(l) Earth Change - Any human activity which removes ground cover, changes the slope or 
contours of the land, or exposes the soil surface to the actions of wind and rain.  Earth 
change includes, but is not limited to, any excavating, surface grading, filling, 
landscaping, or removal of vegetative roots. 

(m) EPA - The United States Environmental Protection Agency. 

(n) Erosion - The process by which the ground surface is worn away by action of wind, 
water, gravity or a combination thereof. 

(o) Exempted Discharges - Discharges other than storm water as specified in Section 1.04 
and 4.02 of this ordinance. 

(p) Flood or Flooding - A general and temporary condition of partial or complete inundation 
of normally dry land areas resulting from the overflow of water bodies or the unusual 
and rapid accumulation of surface water runoff from any source. 

(q) Floodplain - Any land area subject to periodic flooding (≥ 2 square miles  

(r) Flood Protection Elevation (FPE) - The Base Flood Elevation plus one (1) foot at any 
given location. 

(s) Grading - Any stripping, excavating, filling, and stockpiling of soil or any combination 
thereof and the land in its excavated or filled condition. 

(t) Hazardous or Toxic Material – OSHA defines hazardous and toxic substances as those 
chemicals which are capable of causing harm. In this definition, the term chemical 
includes dusts, mixtures, and common materials such as paints, fuels, and solvents. 
OSHA currently regulates exposure to approximately 400 substances and the OSHA 
Chemical Sampling Information file contains listings for approximately 1500 substances. 
Some industrial libraries maintain files of material safety data sheets (MSDS) for more 
than 100,000 substances. 

(u) Illicit Connection - Any method or means for conveying an illicit discharge into water 
bodies or the City's storm water system. 

(v) Illicit Discharge - Any discharge to water bodies that does not consist entirely of storm 
water, discharges pursuant to the terms of an NPDES permit, or exempted discharges 
as defined in this ordinance. 

(w) Impervious Surface - Surface that does not allow storm water runoff to slowly percolate 
into the ground. 

(x) Improvements - Means those features and actions associated with a project that are 
considered necessary by the body or official granting zoning approval to protect natural 
resources or the health, safety, and welfare of the residents of a local unit of 
government and future users or inhabitants of the proposed project or project area, 
including roadways, lighting, utilities, sidewalks, screening, and drainage. 
Improvements do not include the entire project that is the subject of zoning approval. 

(y) MS4 – Municipal Separate Storm Water Sewer System 

(z) MDNRE - Michigan Department of Natural Resources and Environment. 

(aa) Municipality – County, City, Village, or Township or their designated representative. 

(bb) NPDES - National Pollution Discharge Elimination System.  

(cc) Person - An individual, firm, partnership, association, public or private corporation, 
public agency, instrumentality, or any other legal entity. 

City Council Packet 22 November 10, 2014

http://www.osha.gov/dts/chemicalsampling/toc/toc_chemsamp.html
http://www.osha.gov/dts/chemicalsampling/toc/toc_chemsamp.html


(dd) Planning board/commission - Means a county planning commission created 
under the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, 2006 PA 110, MCL 125.3101 et. seq. 

(ee) Pollutant - A substance discharged which includes, but is not limited to the following: 
any dredged spoil, solid waste, vehicle fluids, yard wastes, animal wastes, agricultural 
waste products, sediment, incinerator residue, sewage, garbage, sewage sludge, 
munitions, chemical wastes, biological wastes, radioactive materials, heat, wrecked or 
discharged equipment, rock, sand, cellar dirt, and industrial, municipal, commercial and 
agricultural waste, or any other contaminant or other substance defined as a pollutant 
under the Clean Water Act. 

(ff) Property Owner - Any person having legal or equitable title to property or any person 
having or exercising care, custody, or control over any property. 

(gg) Retention - A system which is designed to capture storm water and contain it 
until it infiltrates the soil or evaporates. 

(hh) Runoff - means the water flow that occurs when soil is infiltrated to full capacity 
and excess water from rain, snowmelt, or other sources flows over the land. 

(ii) Sensitive Areas – Inland lakes, watercourses and wetlands (≥ 5 ac as specified by 
MDNRE unless a stricter local requirement is specified) 

(jj) Site plan – means a plat, a site development plan, construction drawings, a building 
permit, and any other permits that need to be obtained before development can occur. 
These documents and drawings, required by the zoning ordinance, are to insure that a 
proposed land use or activity is in compliance with local ordinances and state and 
federal statutes. 

(kk) Soil Erosion - The stripping of soil and weathered rock from land creating 
sediment for transportation by water, wind or ice, and enabling formation of new 
sedimentary deposits. 

(ll) State of Michigan Water Quality Standards - All applicable State rules, regulations, and 
laws pertaining to water quality, including the provisions of Section 3106 of Part 31 of 
the Natural Resources and Environmental Protrection Act, 1994 PA 451, as amended. 

(mm) Storm Drain - A system of open or enclosed conduits and appurtenant 
structures intended to convey or manage storm water runoff, ground water and 
drainage. 

(nn) Storm Water Permit - A permit issued pursuant to this ordinance. 

(oo) Storm Water Plan - Written narratives, specifications, drawings, sketches, 
written standards, operating procedures, or any combination of these which contain 
information pursuant to this ordinance. 

(pp) Storm Water Runoff Facility - The method, structure, area, system, or other 
equipment or measures which are designed to receive, control, store, or convey storm 
water as well as treat it for pollutants. 

(qq) Stream - A river, stream or creek which may or may not be serving as a drain, 
or any other water body that has definite banks, a bed, and visible evidence of a 
continued flow or continued occurrence of water. 

(rr) Surface waters of the state: Are defined consistent with the Part 4 Rules (Rules 
323.1041 through 323.1117 of the Michigan Administrative Code) to mean all of the 
following, but not including drainage ways and ponds (detention and retention ponds or 
lagoons) used solely for wastewater conveyance, treatment, or control:  

• The Great Lakes and their connecting waters  
• All inland lakes  
• Rivers  
• Streams  
• Impoundments  

City Council Packet 23 November 10, 2014

http://www.answers.com/topic/water
http://www.answers.com/topic/rain
http://www.answers.com/topic/snowmelt-1


• Open drains  
• Other surface bodies of water within the confines of the state  

 
(ss) Waterbody - A river, lake, stream, creek or other watercourse or wetlands. 

(tt) Watercourse – One that has not been altered artificially.  

(uu) Wetlands (regulated) - Land characterized by the presence of water at a 
frequency and duration sufficient to support wetland vegetation or aquatic life. 

Article II. Storm Water Permits 

Section 21.201  Storm Water Standards 

Developments subject to this ordinance shall require a storm water permit and a storm water plan, and 
shall be designed, constructed, and maintained to prevent flooding, minimize stream channel impacts, 
protect water quality, and achieve the purposes of this Ordinance, as stated above. The City of Swartz 
Creek has adopted the Genesee County Storm Water and Flood Control Design Standard 
Requirements to meet the objectives of managing the quantity and quality of storm water runoff from a 
site as its city engineering standards. 

 

Section 21.202  Storm Water Permit Review Procedures 

The City of Swartz Creek shall grant a storm water permit, which may impose terms and conditions in 
accordance with Section 21.208, and which shall be granted only upon compliance with each of the 
following requirements: 

(1) The developer will engage in the following sequence of events: 

(a) Pre-Development Information Gathering: For all applicable projects, developers 
will contact representatives from each of the following: the County Road 
Commission, Health Department, municipal officials (zoning, planner, engineer, 
DPW, building official), and Drain Commissioner's office (Water and Waste 
Services and Surface Water). The purpose will be to gather information on design 
standards, development guidelines, and to identify the type of information 
developers and their representatives must furnish to comply with this ordinance. In 
some instances it may be expedient to hold one conference with all the involved 
parties.  

(b) Development and Review of Conceptual Site Plan: Review of the conceptual 
site plan for approval at the County level by the appropriate personnel in Water & 
Waste Services, soil erosion, surface water, the Road Commission and the Health 
Department. Comments are returned to the owner/client and designer. At this time 
the design engineer will submit a statement that this site has been reviewed and 
determined sufficient to accommodate soil erosion and soil conservation measures.  

(c) Coordinated Review and Approval:  Review of the Storm Water Plan and the 
proposed BMPs will occur at the same time as the review of the site plan by 
representatives from the appropriate agencies.  

(d) Municipal Review and Approval: Developers shall provide a storm water plan for 
post-construction management of storm water to the City for review and approval.  
Guidance will be provided to zoning administrators and local planning commission 
members on the ordinance and design standards and they will be provided with a 
checklist for reference during site plan review. At this stage all necessary permits 
should have been obtained from Federal, State, and County agencies. Once all of 
the above documents have been obtained a building permit will be issued by the 
city.  

(2) The developer has submitted a storm water plan complying with Section 21.203. 

(3) The storm water plans contain adequate storm water BMPs to address the 
requirements laid out in the Genesee County Storm Water Standards & Requirements 

City Council Packet 24 November 10, 2014



(GCSWS&R). At a minimum the developer will have to satisfy one of the following 
conditions: 

(a) A permanent on-site storm water system that includes on-site detention of storm 
water runoff (see Genesee County Storm Water and Flood Control Design 
Standard Requirements for requirements) , and 

(b) A direct connection for all storm water runoff that will be discharged from and 
through the development site (see GCSWS&R /BMP Requirement Manual for 
requirements); or 

(c) The developer provides a permanent on-site storm water system with a restricted 
outlet designed to result in no net increase in storm water runoff volume or rate onto 
any adjacent property. (see GCSWS&R /BMP Requirement Manual for 
requirements)  

(4) The developer has paid or deposited the storm water permit review fee pursuant to 
Section 21.204. 

(5) The developer has paid or posted the applicable financial guarantee pursuant to 
Section 22.205. 

(6) The developer provides all easements necessary to implement the approved storm 
water plan and to otherwise comply with this Ordinance including, but not limited to, 
Section 21.702. All easements shall be acceptable to the City in form and substance 
and shall be recorded with the Genesee County Register of Deeds. 

(7) The storm water plan is designed in conformity with the City’s design and performance 
standards for drains and storm water management systems, as set forth in Article VIII. 

(8) All storm water runoff facilities shall be designed in accordance with the then-current 
BMPs. 

(9) The developer provides the required maintenance agreement for routine, emergency, 
and long-term maintenance of all storm water runoff facilities and in compliance with the 
approved storm water plan and this Ordinance. The maintenance agreement shall be 
acceptable to the City of Swartz Creek in form and substance and at minimum contain 
the requirements outlined in Article VII.    

Section 21.203  Storm Water Plan 

The Storm Water Management Plan must be designed to meet the Genesee County Storm Water 
Standards as set out in the companion document to the Low Impact Development Manual for Michigan. 
The County is authorized to establish minimum design standards for storm water discharge release 
rates and to require dischargers to implement on-site retention, detention or other methods necessary to 
control the quality, rate and volume of surface water runoff discharged into the storm water drainage 
system and surface waters of the state. The County water quality and quantity standards are to be 
achieved through the techniques and methodologies outlined in the Low Impact Development Manual 
for Michigan (Chapters 6, 7 and 9). The storm water plan shall identify and contain all of the following: 

(1) The location of the development site and water bodies that will receive storm water 
runoff (National Wetland database). Information to consider and include where 
appropriate should be the drainage district ID, zoning, aerial imagery, soils and 
floodplain maps, traffic and utility information. 

(2) The existing and proposed natural feature of the development site, including the 
vegetation, topography, and alignment and boundary of the natural drainage courses, 
with contours having a maximum interval of two (2) foot (using USGS datum).  The 
information shall be superimposed on the pertinent Genesee County soil map. 

(3) The development drainage area to each point of discharge from the development. 

(4) Calculations for the existing and final peak discharge rates (Based on Design criteria). 

(5) Calculations for any facility or structure size and configuration. 

City Council Packet 25 November 10, 2014



(6) A drawing showing all proposed storm water runoff facilities with existing and final 
grades, as well as storm water easements. 

(7) The sizes and locations of upstream and downstream culverts serving the major 
drainage routes flowing into and out of the development site.  Any significant off-site 
and on-site drainage outlet restrictions other than culverts should be noted on the 
drainage map. 

(8) An implementation plan for construction and inspection of all storm water runoff facilities 
necessary to the overall storm water plan, including a schedule of the estimated dates 
of completing construction of the storm water runoff facilities shown on the plan and an 
identification of the proposed inspection procedures to ensure that the storm water 
runoff facilities are constructed in accordance with the approved storm water plan. 

(9) Drawings, profiles, and specifications for the construction of the storm water runoff 
facilities (BMP) reasonably necessary to ensure that storm water runoff will be drained, 
stored, or otherwise controlled in accordance with this ordinance. 

(10) A maintenance agreement, in form and substance acceptable to the city, for ensuring 
maintenance of any privately-owned storm water runoff facilities.  The maintenance 
agreement shall include the Developer's written commitment to provide routine, 
emergency, and long-term maintenance of the facilities and, in the event that the 
facilities are not maintained in accordance with the approved storm water plan, the 
agreement shall authorize the City to maintain any on-site storm water runoff facility as 
reasonably necessary, at the Developer's expense (see Article VII). 

(11) The name of the engineering firm and the registered professional engineer that 
designed the storm water plan and that will inspect final construction of the storm water 
runoff facilities. 

(12) All design information must be compatible for conversion to standard GIS shape files. 

(13) Any other information necessary for the City to verify that the storm water plan complies 
with the City's design and performance standards for drains and storm water 
management systems. 

Section 21.204  Storm Water Permit Review Fees 

(1) (a) All expenses and costs incurred by the City directly associated with processing, 
reviewing and approving or denying a storm water permit application shall be paid (or 
reimbursed) to the City from the funds in a separate escrow account established by the 
Developer, as provided in subsection (b).  The City may draw funds from a Developer's 
escrow account to reimburse the City for out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the City 
relating to the application.  Such reimbursable expenses include, but are not limited to, 
expenses related to the following: 

(a) Services of the City Attorney directly related to the application. 

(b) Services of the City Engineer directly related to the application including inspections 
fees. 

(c) Services of other independent contractors working for the City which are directly 
related to the application. 

(d) Any additional public hearings, required mailings and legal notice requirements 
necessitated by the application. 

(2) At the time a Developer applies for a storm water permit, the Developer shall deposit 
with the City Clerk, as an escrow deposit, an initial amount as determined by resolution 
of the City Council for such matters and shall provide additional amounts as requested 
by the City in such increments as are specified in said resolution.  Any excess funds 
remaining in the escrow account after the application has been fully processed, 
reviewed, and the final City denial or approval and acceptance of the development has 
occurred will be refunded to the Developer with no interest to be paid on those funds.  
At no time prior to the City's final decision on an application shall the balance e in 

City Council Packet 26 November 10, 2014



the escrow account fall below the required initial amount.  If the funds in the account are 
reduced to less than the required initial amount, the Developer shall deposit into the 
account the additional amount needed to restore the account to the required amount 
before the application review process will be continued.  Additional amounts may be 
required to be placed in the escrow account by the Developer, at the discretion of the 
City. 

Section 21.205  Financial Guarantee 

(1) The City Engineer shall not approve a storm water permit until the Developer submits to 
the City, in a form and amount satisfactory to the City, a letter of credit or other financial 
guarantee for the timely and satisfactory construction of all storm water runoff facilities 
and site grading in accordance with the approved storm water plan.  Upon certification 
by a registered professional engineer that the storm water runoff facilities have been 
completed in accordance with the approved storm water plan including, but not limited 
to, the provisions contained in Section 2.03(8), the City may release the letter of credit, 
or other financial guarantee subject to final City acceptance and approval. 

(2) The letter of credit or other financial guarantee may be accessed when: 

(a) violation of this ordinance has occurred as determined by the City, 

(b) three notifications to the developer detailing the infraction have been issued,  

(c) no corrective action has being taken by the developer within 30 days of final 
notification. 

(3) Except as provided in subsection (5), the amount of the financial guarantee shall be as 
determined by the Clity Council in a Resolution of Fees for City Services, unless the 
City determines that a greater amount is appropriate, in which case the basis for such 
determination shall be provided to the Developer in writing.  In determining whether an 
amount greater than the amount established by Resolution of City Council is 
appropriate, the City shall consider the size and type of the development, the size and 
type of the on-site storm water system, and the nature of the off-site storm water runoff 
facilities the development will utilize. 

(4) The letter of credit or other financial guarantee will not be permitted to expire until any 
necessary maintenance agreements for storm water facilities established by the 
developer has been signed.  

(5) A maintenance bond shall be provided to the appropriate agency. The maintenance 
bond shall be provided for a period of two years commencing from the date of the final 
approval of the storm water plan. 

(6) The City Manager may reduce or waive the amount of the financial guarantee for a 
development that will not increase the percentage of impervious surface of the 
development site by more than ten percent (10%). 

(7) This ordinance shall not be construed or interpreted as relieving a developer of its 
obligation to pay all costs associated with on-site private storm water runoff facilities as 
well as those costs arising from the need to make other storm water improvements in 
order to reduce a development's impact on a drain consistent with adopted design 
standards. 

Section 21.206  Certificate of Occupancy 

No certificate of occupancy shall be issued until storm water runoff facilities have been completed in 
accordance with the approved storm water plan; provided, however, the City may issue a certificate of 
occupancy if an acceptable letter of credit or other financial guarantee has been submitted to the City, 
for the timely and satisfactory construction of all storm water runoff facilities and site grading in 
accordance with the approved storm water plan. 

City Council Packet 27 November 10, 2014



Section 21.207  No Change in Approved Facilities 

(1) Storm water runoff facilities, after construction and approval, shall be maintained in 
good condition, in accordance with the approved storm water plan, and shall not be 
subsequently altered, revised or replaced except in accordance with the approved 
storm water plan, or in accordance with approved amendments or revisions in the plan. 

(2) The City has the right to take corrective action if alterations to approved storm water 
facilities occur and to seek compensation from the responsible party for all costs 
associated with the corrective action.   

Section 21.208  Terms and Conditions of Permits 

In granting a storm water permit, the City may impose such terms and conditions as are reasonably 
necessary to implement the purposes of this ordinance.  A Developer shall comply with such terms and 
conditions. 

Article III. Storm Water System, Floodplain and Other Standards, Soil Erosion Control 

Section 21.301  Management of and Responsibility for Storm Water System 

The City is not responsible for providing drainage facilities on private property for the management of 
storm water on said property.  It shall be the responsibility of the property owner to provide for, and 
maintain, private storm water runoff facilities serving the property and to prevent or correct the 
accumulation of debris that interferes with the drainage function of a water body.  

Section 21.302  Storm Water System 

All storm water runoff facilities shall be constructed and maintained in accordance with all applicable 
federal, state and local ordinances, and rules and regulations. 

Section 21.303  Floodplain and Sensitive Areas Standards 

(1) All new buildings and substantial improvements to existing buildings shall be protected 
from flood damage up to the Flood Protection Elevation (FPE) and shall be in 
accordance with all applicable federal, state and local ordinances, and rules and 
regulations.  Floodway alteration shall be permitted only upon review and approval by 
the City, in accordance with an approved storm water plan. 

(2) A storm water plan providing for the filling or alteration of a floodway may include 
provisions for maintaining stability of the banks of streams or other water bodies, by 
means of the establishing of buffer zones and other means of providing protection of 
the slopes and banks of water bodies. 

(3) Within any required buffer zone, no earth change shall take place except in accordance 
with the approved storm water plan. Such a plan may also include provisions for the 
replacement of flood plain storage volume, where such storage volume is lost or 
diminished as a result of approved development. 

(4) Where appropriate, permanent setbacks based on site slopes and soils will be 
established in accordance with the specifications outlined in the Genesee County 
Requirement Manual.  

Section 21.304  Building Openings 

(1) No building openings, including basement walkouts, shall be constructed below the 
following elevations: 

(a) One foot above the 100-year floodplain. 

(b) The building opening established at the time of plat or development approval and 
on file in the City Engineering Department. 

(c) Three feet above the top of any downstream culvert. 

(d) Four feet above the bottom of any permanent and defined drain. 

(e) One foot above an adjacent detention basin design high water. 

City Council Packet 28 November 10, 2014



(2) A waiver from elevations stated in Section 3.06(1a) may be granted by the City 
Engineer following receipt of a certification from a registered professional engineer 
demonstrating that the proposed elevation does not pose a risk of flooding. 

(3) Upon completion of construction of the structure's foundation and or slab on grade, a 
registered land surveyor shall certify any minimum building opening elevation specified 
by this ordinance.  This certificate shall attest that the building opening elevation 
complies with the standards of this ordinance.  The permittee for the building permit 
shall submit the certificate to the City Building Inspections official prior to the 
commencement of framing and/or structural steel placement.  If the surveyor should 
find that the minimum building opening elevation is below the elevation specified in 
Section 79.276(a)(2) or (3), that opening must be raised using a method that meets with 
the approval of the City. After reconstruction, a registered land surveyor or engineer 
shall re-certify that the minimum building opening elevation complies with the standards 
of this ordinance prior to the commencement of framing and or structural steel 
placement. 

Section 21.305  Sump Pump Discharge  

(1) When a sump pump is employed to discharge a buildings footing drains a check valve 
will be installed between the pump and the storm system. A gravity discharge to an 
enclosed system is not permitted unless it can be shown that the discharge point is 
above the overflow elevation for the storm water system.  

(2) A storm water lateral shall be provided for each parcel at the time of storm sewer 
construction. Laterals shall have a check valve. 

  Section 21.306 Public Health, Safety or Welfare 

Protection of the public health, safety or welfare shall be a primary consideration in the design of all 
storm water runoff facilities. 

 

Article IV. Prohibitions and Exemptions 

Section 21.401  Illicit Discharges 

(1) No person shall discharge to a water body or storm collection system, directly or 
indirectly (i.e. via an illicit connection), any substance other than storm water or an 
exempted discharge.  Any person discharging storm water shall effectively prevent 
pollutants from being discharged with the storm water, except in accordance with best 
management practices. 

(2) The City is authorized to require dischargers to implement pollution prevention 
measures, utilizing BMPs, necessary to prevent or reduce the discharge of pollutants 
into the City’s storm water drainage system or surface waters of the state. Discharges 
to storm drains and waters of the state other than storm water and the exempted 
discharges listed in Section 21.402 is strictly prohibited.  

Section 21.402  Exempted Discharges 

The following non-storm water discharges are exempt from discharge prohibitions established by this 
ordinance, provided that they are not identified as significant contributors to violations of State of 
Michigan Water Quality Standards: 

(a) Water supply line flushing 

(b) Landscape irrigation 

(c) Diverted stream flows 

(d) Rising ground water 

(e) Uncontaminated ground water infiltration to storm drains 

(f) Uncontaminated pumped ground water 

City Council Packet 29 November 10, 2014



(g) Discharges from potable water sources 

(h) Foundation drains 

(i) Air conditioning condensate 

(j) Individual residential car washing 

(k) Dechlorinated swimming pool waters from single, two, or three family 
residences 

(l) Residual street wash water 

(m) Discharges or flows from emergency fire fighting activities 

(n) Discharges for which a specific federal or state permit has been issued. 

 

Section 21.403  Interference with Natural or Artificial Drainageway 

It shall be unlawful for any person to stop, fill, dam, confine, pave, alter the course of, or otherwise 
interfere with any natural or constructed drain, or drainage way without first submitting a storm water 
plan to the local City and all appropriate agencies (City, State, Genesee County Drain Commissioner’s 
office) and receiving approval of that plan.  Any deviation from the approved plan is a violation of this 
ordinance.  This section shall not prohibit, however, necessary emergency action so as to prevent or 
mitigate drainage that would be injurious to the environment, the public health, safety, or welfare. 

Section 21.404  Storage of Hazardous or Toxic Materials in Drainageway 

Except as permitted by law, it shall be unlawful for any person to store or stockpile within a drainageway 
any hazardous or toxic materials unless adequate protection and/or containment has been provided so 
as to prevent any such materials from entering a waterway. 

 

Article V. Inspection, Monitoring, Reporting, and Recordkeeping 

Section 21.501  Investigate, Inspect, and Monitor suspected illicit discharges 

To investigate potential illicit discharges or connections and to assure compliance with the standards set 
forth in this ordinance, the City may investigate, inspect and/or obtain monitor any discharge. Upon 
request, the discharger shall allow the City's properly identified representative to enter upon the 
premises of the discharger at all hours necessary for the purposes of such inspection or sampling.  The 
City shall provide the discharger reasonable advance notice of such inspection and/or sampling.  The 
City or its properly identified representative may place on the discharger's property the equipment or 
devices used for such sampling, monitoring or inspection. 

 

Section 21.502  Storm Water Monitoring Facilities 

The City may require, in writing, that a discharger of storm water runoff provide and operate equipment 
or devices for the monitoring of storm water runoff, so as to provide for inspection, sampling, and flow 
measurement of each discharge to a water body or a storm water runoff facility.  The City may require a 
discharger to provide and operate such equipment and devices if it is necessary or appropriate for the 
inspection, sampling and flow measurement of discharges in order to determine whether adverse effects 
from or as a result of such discharges may occur.  All such equipment and devices for the inspection, 
sampling and flow measurement of discharges shall be installed and maintained in accordance with 
applicable laws, ordinances and regulations. All monitoring results will be made available and reported 
to the City at an agreed upon time.  

Section 21.503  Accidental Discharges 

(1) Any discharger who accidentally discharges into a MS4 or water of the state any 
substance other than storm water or an exempted discharge shall inform the City within 
24 hours of knowledge of the incident. If such information is given orally, a written report 

City Council Packet 30 November 10, 2014



concerning the discharge shall be filed with the City within five (5) days.  The written 
report shall specify: 

(a) The composition of the discharge and the cause thereof. 

(b) The exact date, time, and estimated volume of the discharge. 

(c) All measures taken to clean up the accidental discharge, and all measures 
proposed to be taken to reduce and prevent any recurrence. 

(d) The name and telephone number of the person making the report, and the name of 
a person who may be contacted for additional information on the matter. 

(2) A properly-reported accidental discharge shall be an affirmative defense to a civil 
infraction proceeding brought under this ordinance against a discharger for such 
discharge.  It shall not, however, be a defense to a legal action brought to obtain an 
injunction, to obtain recovery of costs or to obtain other relief as a result of or arising out 
of the discharge.  A discharge shall be considered properly reported only if the 
discharger complies with all the requirements of Section 21.503(a). 

Section 21.504  Record Keeping Requirement 

Any person subject to this ordinance shall retain and preserve for no less than three (3) years any and 
all books, drawings, plans, prints, documents, memoranda, reports, correspondence and records, 
including records on magnetic or electronic media and any and all summaries of such records, relating 
to monitoring, sampling and chemical analysis of any discharge or storm water runoff from any property. 

Article VI. Enforcement 

Section 21.601  Sanctions for Violation 

(1) Any person violating any provision of this ordinance shall be responsible for a municipal 
civil infraction and subject to a fine to cover costs, damages, expenses, and other 
sanctions as authorized under Chapter 87 of the Revised Judicature Act of 1961 and 
other applicable laws, including, without limitation, equitable relief; provided, however, 
that the violation stated in Section 21.601(2) shall be a misdemeanor. Each day such 
violation occurs or continues shall be deemed a separate offense and shall make the 
violator liable for the imposition of a fine for each day.  The rights and remedies 
provided for in this section are cumulative and in addition to any other remedies 
provided by law.  An admission or determination of responsibility shall not exempt the 
offender from compliance with the requirements of this ordinance. 

For purposes of this section, "subsequent offense" means a violation of the provisions 
of this ordinance committed by the same person within 12 months of a previous 
violation of the same provision of this ordinance for which said person admitted 
responsibility or was adjudicated to be responsible. 

The Zoning Administrator, code enforcement official, -building inspector and police 
officers of the City are authorized to issue municipal civil infraction citations to any 
person alleged to be violating any provision of this ordinance. 

(2) Any person who neglects or fails to comply with a stop work order issued under Section 
21.602 shall, upon conviction, be guilty of a misdemeanor, punishable by a fine of not 
more than $500 per violation per day or imprisonment in the county jail for not more 
than 93 days, or both such fine and imprisonment, and such person shall also pay such 
costs as may be imposed in the discretion of the court. 

(3) Any person who aids or abets a person in a violation of this ordinance shall be subject 
to the sanctions provided in this section. 

Section 21.602  Stop Work Order 

Where there is work in progress that causes or constitutes in whole or in part, a violation of any 
provision of this ordinance, the City is authorized to issue a Stop Work Order so as to prevent further or 
continuing violations or adverse effects.  All persons to whom the stop work order is directed, or who are 
involved in any way with the work or matter described in the stop work order shall fully and promptly 

City Council Packet 31 November 10, 2014



comply therewith.  The City may also undertake or cause to be undertaken, any necessary or advisable 
protective measures so as to prevent violations of this ordinance or to avoid or reduce the effects of 
noncompliance herewith.  The cost of any such protective measures shall be the responsibility of the 
owner of the property upon which the work is being done and the responsibility of any person carrying 
out or participating in the work, and such cost shall be a lien upon the property. 

Section 21.603  Failure to Comply; Completion 

In addition to any other remedies, should any owner fail to comply with the provisions of this ordinance, 
the City may, after the giving of reasonable notice and opportunity for compliance, have the necessary 
work done, and the owner shall be obligated to promptly reimburse the City for all costs of such work. 

Section 21.604  Emergency Measures 

When emergency measures are necessary to moderate a nuisance, to protect public safety, health and 
welfare, and/or to prevent loss of life, injury or damage to property, the City is authorized to carry out or 
arrange for all such emergency measures.  Property owners shall be responsible for the cost of such 
measures made necessary as a result of a violation of this ordinance, and shall promptly reimburse the 
City for all of such costs. 

Section 21.605  Cost Recovery for Damage to Storm Drain System 

A discharger shall be liable for all costs incurred by the City as the result of causing a discharge that 
produces a deposit or obstruction, or causes damage to, or impairs a storm drain, or violates any of the 
provisions of this ordinance.  Costs include, but are not limited to, those penalties levied by the 
Environmental Protection Agency or MDNRE for violation of an National Pollutant Discharge Elimination 
System permit, attorney fees, and other costs and expenses. 

Section 21.606  Collection of Costs; Lien 

Costs incurred by the City  pursuant to Sections 21.602, 21.603, 21.604 and 21.605 shall be a lien on 
the premises which shall be enforceable in accordance with Act No. 94 of the Public Acts of 1933, as 
amended from time to time.  Any such charges which are delinquent for six (6) months or more may be 
certified annually to the City Treasurer who shall enter the lien on the next tax roll against the premises 
and the costs shall be collected and the lien shall be enforced in the same manner as provided for in the 
collection of taxes assessed upon the roll and the enforcement of a lien for taxes. In addition to any 
other lawful enforcement methods, the City shall have all remedies authorized by Act No. 94 of the 
Public Acts of 1933, as amended, and any other remedies available under applicable law. 

Section 21.607  Appeals 

Any person as to whom any provision of this ordinance has been applied may appeal in writing, not later 
than 30 days after the action or decision being appealed from, to the City Council the action or decision 
whereby any such provision was so applied.  Such appeal shall identify the matter being appealed, and 
the basis for the appeal.  The City Council shall consider the appeal and make a decision whereby it 
affirms, rejects or modifies the action being appealed.  In considering any such appeal, the Clity Council 
may consider the recommendations of the City Engineer and the comments of other persons having 
knowledge of the matter.  In considering any such appeal, the Council may grant a variance from the 
terms of this ordinance so as to provide relief, in whole or in part, from the action being appealed, but 
only upon finding that the following requirements are satisfied: 

(1) The application of the ordinance provisions being appealed will present or cause 
practical difficulties for a development or development site; provided, however, that 
practical difficulties shall not include the need for the developer to incur additional 
reasonable expenses in order to comply with the ordinance; and 

(2) The granting of the relief requested will not substantially prevent the goals and 
purposes sought to be accomplished by this ordinance, nor result in less effective 
management of storm water runoff. 

City Council Packet 32 November 10, 2014



Article VII> Storm Water Easements and Maintenance Agreements 

Section 21.701  Applicability of Requirements 

The requirements of this Article concerning storm water easements and maintenance agreements shall 
apply to all persons required to submit a storm water and/or storm water plan to the City for review and 
approval. 

Section 21.702  Storm Water Management Easements 

The Developer shall provide all storm water management easements necessary to implement the 
approved storm water plan and to otherwise comply with this ordinance in form and substance required 
by the City and shall record such easements as directed by the City. The easements shall assure 
access for proper inspection and maintenance of storm water runoff facilities and shall provide adequate 
emergency overland flow-ways. 

Section 21.0703 Maintenance Agreements 

A. Purpose of Maintenance Agreement 

The purpose of the maintenance agreement is to provide the means and assurance that maintenance of 
stormwater BMPs shall be undertaken. 

B. Maintenance Agreement Required 

(1) A maintenance agreement shall be submitted to the City of Swartz Creek, for review by 
the City Manager and his/her designee and the City Attorney, for all development, and 
shall be subject to approval in accordance with Stormwater Plan. A formal maintenance 
plan shall be included in the maintenance agreement. 

(2) Maintenance agreements shall be approved by the City Council prior to final subdivision 
plat or condominium approval, as applicable, and prior to construction approval in other 
cases.  

(3) A maintenance agreement is not required to be submitted to City of Swartz Creek for 
Chapter 18 Drains that will be maintained by the Genesee County Drain Commission. 

C. Maintenance Agreement Provisions 

(1) The maintenance agreement shall include a plan for routine, emergency, and long-term 
maintenance of all stormwater BMPs, with a detailed annual estimated budget for the 
initial three years, and a clear statement that only future maintenance activities in 
accordance with the maintenance agreement plan shall be permitted without the 
necessity of securing new permits. Written notice of the intent to proceed with 
maintenance shall be provided by the party responsible for maintenance to the City of 
Swartz Creek at least 14 days in advance of commencing work. 

(2) The maintenance agreement shall be binding on all subsequent owners of land served 
by the stormwater BMPs and shall be recorded in the office of the Genesee County 
Register of Deeds prior to the effectiveness of the approval of the City Council. 

(3) If it has been found by the Swartz Creek City Council, following notice and an 
opportunity to be heard by the property owner, that there has been a material failure or 
refusal to undertake maintenance as required under this ordinance and/or as required 
in the approved maintenance agreement as required hereunder, the City of Swartz 
Creek shall then be authorized, but not required, to hire an entity with qualifications and 
experience in the subject matter to undertake the monitoring and maintenance as so 
required, in which event the property owner shall be obligated to advance or reimburse 
payment (as determined by the City of Swartz Creek) for all costs and expenses 
associated with such monitoring and maintenance, together with a reasonable 
administrative fee. The maintenance agreement required under this Ordinance shall 
contain a provision spelling out this requirement and, if the applicant objects in any 
respect to such provision or the underlying rights and obligations, such objection shall 
be resolved prior to the commencement of construction of the proposed development 
on the property. 

City Council Packet 33 November 10, 2014



Section 21.704  Establishment of County Drains  

Prior to final approval, all storm water management facilities for platted subdivisions shall be established 
as county drains, as authorized in Section 433, Chapter 18 of the Michigan Drain Code (P.A. 40 of 
1956, as amended) for long-term maintenance. 

 

Article VIII. Performance and Design Standards 

Section 21.801  Reference to Requirement Manual 

The City or its designate shall use the policy, criteria, and information, including technical specifications 
and standards, in the Genesee County Requirement Manual as the basis for decisions about storm 
water permits and about the design, implementation and performance of structural and non-structural 
storm water BMPs. 

The State LID Manual includes a list of storm water treatment practices, including the specific design 
criteria for each them. Storm water treatment practices that are designed and constructed in accordance 
with these design and sizing criteria should meet the minimum water quality and channel protection 
performance standards outlined in the Genesee County Storm Water and Flood Control Design 
Standard Requirements and the federal Phase II Storm Water Rules. Calculations to demonstrate that 
BMP designs will perform to meet required water quality, channel protection and flood control standards 
are to be submitted to the appropriate reviewing agency. Failure to construct storm water treatment 
practices in accordance with these standards may subject the violator to a civil penalty as described in 
Section 21.600 of this ordinance. 

Section 21.802  Relationship of Genesee County Storm Water and Flood Control Design 
Standard Requirements (Requirements Manual) to Other Laws and Regulations 

If the specifications or guidelines of the Genesee County Storm Water and Flood Control Design 
Standard Requirements are more restrictive or apply a higher standard than other laws or regulations, 
that fact shall not prevent application of the specifications or guidelines in the Requirement Manual. 

Section 21.803  Changes to Standards and Specifications 

Standards, specifications, guidelines, policies, criteria, or other information in the Requirement Manual 
in affect at the time of acceptance of a complete application shall control and shall be utilized in 
reviewing the application and in implementing this ordinance with regard to the application. 

Section 21.804  Amendments to Requirement Manual 

The Requirement Manual may be updated and expanded from time to time, based on advancements in 
technology and engineering, improved knowledge of local conditions, or local monitoring or 
maintenance experience. Prior to amending or updating the Requirement Manual, proposed changes 
shall be generally publicized and made available for review, and an opportunity for comment by 
interested persons shall be provided. 

Section 21.805  Conflict of Laws 

This ordinance is not intended to modify or repeal any other ordinance, rule, regulation or other 
provision of law. The requirements of this ordinance are in addition to the requirements of any other 
ordinance, rule, regulation or other provision of law, and where any provision of this ordinance imposes 
restrictions different from those imposed by any other ordinance, rule, regulation or other provision of 
law, whichever provision is more restrictive or imposes higher protective standards for human or 
environmental health, safety, and welfare, shall control. 

Section 21.806  Private Agreements 

This ordinance is not intended to revoke or repeal any easement, covenant, or other private agreement. 
However, where the regulations of this ordinance are more restrictive or impose higher standards or 
requirements than such easement, covenant, or other private agreement, then the requirements of this 
ordinance shall govern. Nothing in this ordinance shall modify or repeal any private covenant or deed 
restriction, but such covenant or restriction shall not legitimize any failure to comply with this ordinance. 
In no case shall the County or City be obligated to enforce the provisions of any easements, covenants, 
or agreements between private parties. 

City Council Packet 34 November 10, 2014



Section 21.807  Violations Continue 

Any violation of the provisions of this ordinance existing as of the effective date of this ordinance shall 
continue to be a violation under this ordinance and be subject to penalties and enforcement unless the 
use, development, construction, or other activity complies with the provisions of this ordinance. 

 

Article IX. Other Matters 

Section 21.901   Interpretation 

Words and phrases in this ordinance shall be construed according to their common and accepted 
meanings, except that words and phrases defined in Section 21.104 shall be construed according to the 
respective definitions given in that section.  Technical words and technical phrases that are not defined 
in this ordinance but which have acquired particular meanings in law or in technical usage shall be 
construed according to such meanings. 

Section 21.902  Catch-Line Headings  

The catch-line headings of the articles and sections of this ordinance are intended for convenience only, 
and shall not be construed as affecting the meaning or interpretation of the text of the articles or 
sections to which they may refer. 

Section 21.903  Severability 

The provisions of this ordinance are hereby declared to be severable, and if any part or provision of this 
ordinance should be declared invalid or unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such 
invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect any other part or provision of the ordinance. 

Section 21.904  Other Ordinances 

This ordinance shall be in addition to other ordinances of the City and shall not be deemed to repeal or 
replace other ordinances or parts thereof except to the extent that such repeal is specifically provided 
for in this Article. 

 
Section 21.905  Repeal  

Ordinance No. 376, titled Maintenance of Drains, is hereby repealed, as of the effective date of this 
ordinance.  

Section 2.  Effective Date. 

This Ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days after publication. 
 

At a regular meeting of the City Council of Swartz Creek held on the __________ day of 
_____________, 2014, ________________ moved for adoption of the foregoing ordinance and 
________________ supported the motion. 
 
Voting for: 
Voting against: 
The Mayor declared the ordinance adopted. 
 

_________________________________ 
______________ 
Mayor 

 
__________________________________ 
Juanita Aguilar 
City Clerk 

 
 CERTIFICATION 

City Council Packet 35 November 10, 2014



 
The foregoing is a true copy of Ordinance No. _____ which was enacted by the Swartz Creek City 
Council at a regular meeting held on the ________ day of __________________, 2014. 
 

_________________________________ 
Juanita Aguilar 
City Clerk  

 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 
 

Resolution No. 141110-10F ILLICIT DISCHARGE ORDINANCE 
 

 Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 

THE CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK ORDAINS: 

: 
CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK 

ILLICIT DISCHARGE ORDINANCE 
SWARTZ ZCREEK CITY COUNCIL 

SWARTZ CREEK 
GENESEE COUNTY, MICHIGAN 

ORDINANCE NO. 416 

An ordinances to amend Chapter 15 of the Code of Ordinances, for Swartz Creek, Michigan, and add thereto a 
new Article IV to provide for the health, safety, and general welfare of the citizens of Swartz Creek through the 
regulation of non-storm water discharges to the storm drainage system to the maximum extent practicable as 
required by federal and state law. This ordinance establishes methods for controlling the introduction of 
pollutants into the municipal separate storm sewer system (MS4) in order to comply with requirements of the 
National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit process.   
 

The objectives of this ordinance are: 
(1) To regulate the contribution of pollutants to the municipal separate storm sewer system (MS4) by 
stormwater discharges by any user 
(2) To prohibit Illicit Connections and Discharges to the municipal separate storm sewer system 
(3) To establish legal authority to carry out all inspection, surveillance and monitoring procedures 
necessary to ensure compliance with this ordinance 

THE CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK ORDAINS: 

 
Section 1.  Amendment to the Code of Ordinances. 
 
Chapter 15, Article IV of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Swartz Creek is hereby amended to add  
 
Article IV.  Illicit Discharge 
 
 Section 15-401. Definitions. 
 

Authorized Enforcement Agency: employees or designees of the director of the municipal agency 
designated to enforce this ordinance. 

City Council Packet 36 November 10, 2014



Best Management Practices (BMPs): schedules of activities, prohibitions of practices, general good 
house keeping practices, pollution prevention and educational practices, maintenance procedures, and 
other management practices to prevent or reduce the discharge of pollutants directly or indirectly to 
stormwater, receiving waters, or stormwater conveyance systems.  BMPs also include treatment 
practices, operating procedures, and practices to control site runoff, spillage or leaks, sludge or water 
disposal, or drainage from raw materials storage. 
Clean Water Act. The federal Water Pollution Control Act (33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq.), and any 
subsequent amendments thereto. 
Construction Activity. Activities subject to NPDES Construction Permits. Currently these include 
construction projects resulting in land disturbance of 5 acres or more. Beginning in March 2003, NPDES 
Storm Water Phase II permits will be required for construction projects resulting in land disturbance of 1 
acre or more. Such activities include but are not limited to clearing and grubbing, grading, excavating, 
and demolition.  
Hazardous Materials. Any material, including any substance, waste, or combination thereof, which 
because of its quantity, concentration, or physical, chemical, or infectious characteristics may cause, or 
significantly contribute to, a substantial present or potential hazard to human health, safety, property, or 
the environment when improperly treated, stored, transported, disposed of, or otherwise managed. 
Illegal Discharge. Any direct or indirect non-storm water discharge to the storm drain system, except as 
exempted in Section X of this ordinance. 
Illicit Connections. An illicit connection is defined as either of the following: 
Any drain or conveyance, whether on the surface or subsurface, which allows an illegal discharge to 
enter the storm drain system including but not limited to any conveyances which allow any non-storm 
water discharge including sewage, process wastewater, and wash water to enter the storm drain system 
and any connections to the storm drain system from indoor drains and sinks, regardless of whether said 
drain or connection had been previously allowed, permitted, or approved by an authorized enforcement 
agency or, 
Any drain or conveyance connected from a commercial or industrial land use to the storm drain system 
which has not been documented in plans, maps, or equivalent records and approved by an authorized 
enforcement agency.  
Industrial Activity. Activities subject to NPDES Industrial Permits as defined in 40 CFR, Section 122.26 
(b)(14)  
National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Discharge Permit. means a permit issued by 
EPA (or by a State under authority delegated pursuant to 33 USC § 1342(b)) that authorizes the 
discharge of pollutants to waters of the United States, whether the permit is applicable on an individual, 
group, or general area-wide basis.  
Non-Storm Water Discharge. Any discharge to the storm drain system that is not composed entirely of 
storm water. 
Person. means any individual, association, organization, partnership, firm, corporation or other entity 
recognized by law and acting as either the owner or as the owner's agent. 
Pollutant. Anything which causes or contributes to pollution. Pollutants may include, but are not limited 
to: paints, varnishes, and solvents; oil and other automotive fluids; non-hazardous liquid and solid 
wastes and yard wastes; refuse, rubbish, garbage, litter, or other discarded or abandoned objects, 
ordinances, and accumulations, so that same may cause or contribute to pollution; floatables; 
pesticides, herbicides, and fertilizers; hazardous substances and wastes; sewage, fecal coliform and 
pathogens; dissolved and particulate metals; animal wastes; wastes and residues that result from 
constructing a building or structure; and noxious or offensive matter of any kind. 
Premises. Any building, lot, parcel of land, or portion of land whether improved or unimproved including 
adjacent sidewalks and parking strips. 
Storm Drainage System. Publicly-owned facilities by which storm water is collected and/or conveyed, 
including but not limited to any roads with drainage systems, municipal streets, gutters, curbs, inlets, 
piped storm drains, pumping facilities, retention and detention basins, natural and human-made or 
altered drainage channels, reservoirs, and other drainage structures. 
Storm Water. Any surface flow, runoff, and drainage consisting entirely of water from any form of natural 
precipitation, and resulting from such precipitation. 
Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan. A document which describes the Best Management Practices 
and activities to be implemented by a person or business to identify sources of pollution or 
contamination at a site and the actions to eliminate or reduce pollutant discharges to Stormwater, 
Stormwater Conveyance Systems, and/or Receiving Waters to the Maximum Extent Practicable.  

City Council Packet 37 November 10, 2014



Wastewater means any water or other liquid, other than uncontaminated storm water, discharged from a 
facility. 

 
Section 15-402. Applicability. 
This ordinance shall apply to all water entering the storm drain system generated on any developed and 
undeveloped lands unless explicitly exempted by an authorized enforcement agency. 
 
Section 15-403. Responsibility for Administration. 
The City of Swartz Creek shall administer, implement, and enforce the provisions of this ordinance. Any 
powers granted or duties imposed upon the authorized enforcement agency may be delegated in writing 
by the Director of the authorized enforcement agency to persons or entities acting in the beneficial 
interest of or in the employ of the agency. 
 
Section 15-404. Severability. 
The provisions of this ordinance are hereby declared to be severable. If any provision, clause, sentence, 
or paragraph of this Ordinance or the application thereof to any person, establishment, or circumstances 
shall be held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the other provisions or application of this Ordinance. 
 
Section 15-405. Ultimate Responsibility. 
The standards set forth herein and promulgated pursuant to this ordinance are minimum standards; 
therefore this ordinance does not intend nor imply that compliance by any person will ensure that there 
will be no contamination, pollution, nor unauthorized discharge of pollutants. 
 
Section 15-406. Discharge Prohibitions. 
Prohibition of Illegal Discharges. 
No person shall discharge or cause to be discharged into the municipal storm drain system or 
watercourses any materials, including but not limited to pollutants or waters containing any pollutants 
that cause or contribute to a violation of applicable water quality standards, other than storm water. 
 
The commencement, conduct or continuance of any non authorized discharge to the storm drain system 
is prohibited except as described as follows:  
  
(a) The following discharges are exempt from discharge prohibitions established by this ordinance 

providing they are not identified as significant contributor to violations of Water Quality Standards: 
water line flushing or other potable water sources; landscape irrigation or lawn watering, and 
irrigation waters; diverted stream flows and flows from riparian habitats and wetlands; rising ground 
water and springs; uncontaminated ground water infiltration and seepage; uncontaminated pumped 
ground water except for groundwater cleanups specifically authorized by NPDES permits; 
foundation drains, water from crawl space pumps, footing drains and basement sump pumps (not 
including active groundwater dewatering systems); air conditioning condensation; waters from non-
commercial washing of vehicles; street wash water; dechlorinated swimming pool water from single, 
two, or three family residences; and firefighting activities. 

(b) Dye testing done under the authorization of the MDEQ (general Rule 97) is an allowable discharge, 
but requires a complete Notice of Intent to the MDEQ prior to the time of the test. 

(c) The prohibition shall not apply to any non-storm water discharge permitted under an NPDES permit, 
waiver, or waste discharge order issued to the discharger and administered under the authority of 
the Federal Environmental Protection Agency, provided that the discharger is in full compliance with 
all requirements of the permit, waiver, or order and other applicable laws and regulations, and 
provided that written approval has been granted for any discharge to the storm drain system. 

 
Prohibition of Illicit Connections. 
  
(e) The construction, use, maintenance or continued existence of illicit connections to the storm drain 

system is prohibited.  
(f) This prohibition expressly includes, without limitation, illicit connections made in the past, regardless 

of whether the connection was permissible under law or practices applicable or prevailing at the 
time of connection. 

(g)  A person is considered to be in violation of this ordinance if the person connects a line conveying 
sewage to the MS4, or allows such a connection to continue. 

City Council Packet 38 November 10, 2014



 
 
Section 15-407. Suspension of MS4 Access. 
 
Suspension due to Illicit Discharges in Emergency Situations 
The City of Swartz Creek may, without prior notice, suspend MS4 discharge access to a person when 
such suspension is necessary to stop an actual or threatened discharge which presents or may present 
imminent and substantial danger to the environment, or to the health or welfare of persons, or to the 
MS4 or Waters of the United States. If the violator fails to comply with a suspension order issued in an 
emergency, the authorized enforcement agency may take such steps as deemed necessary to prevent 
or minimize damage to the MS4 or Waters of the United States, or to minimize danger to persons. 
 
Suspension due to the Detection of Illicit Discharge 
Any person discharging to the MS4 in violation of this ordinance may have their MS4 access terminated 
if such termination would abate or reduce an illicit discharge. The authorized enforcement agency will 
notify a violator of the proposed termination of its MS4 access.  The violator may petition the authorized 
enforcement agency for a reconsideration and hearing. 
 
A person commits an offense if the person reinstates MS4 access to premises terminated pursuant to 
this Section, without the prior approval of the authorized enforcement agency. 
 
Section 15-408. Industrial or Construction Activity Discharges. 
Any person subject to an industrial or construction activity NPDES storm water discharge permit shall 
comply with all provisions of such permit. Proof of compliance with said permit may be required in a 
form acceptable to City of Swartz Creek prior to the allowing of discharges to the MS4.  
 
Section 15-409. Monitoring of Discharges. 
  
A. Applicability. 
 

This section applies to all facilities that have storm water discharges associated with industrial 
activity, including construction activity. 
 

B. Access to Facilities. 
  

(a) The City of Swartz Creek shall be permitted to enter and inspect facilities subject to regulation under 
this ordinance as often as may be necessary to determine compliance with this ordinance.  If a 
discharger has security measures in force which require proper identification and clearance before 
entry into its premises, the discharger shall make the necessary arrangements to allow access to 
representatives of the authorized enforcement agency. 

 
(b) Facility operators shall allow the City of Swartz Creek ready access to all parts of the premises for 

the purposes of inspection, sampling, examination and copying of records that must be kept under 
the conditions of an NPDES permit to discharge storm water, and the performance of any additional 
duties as defined by state and federal law. 

 
(c) The City of Swartz Creek shall have the right to set up on any permitted facility such devices as are 

necessary in the opinion of the authorized enforcement agency to conduct monitoring and/or 
sampling of the facility's storm water discharge. 

 
(d) The City of Swartz Creek has the right to require the discharger to install monitoring equipment as 

necessary. The facility's sampling and monitoring equipment shall be maintained at all times in a 
safe and proper operating condition by the discharger at its own expense. All devices used to 
measure stormwater flow and quality shall be calibrated to ensure their accuracy.  

 
(e) Any temporary or permanent obstruction to safe and easy access to the facility to be inspected 

and/or sampled shall be promptly removed by the operator at the written or oral request of the City 
of Swartz Creek and shall not be replaced.  The costs of clearing such access shall be borne by the 
operator. 

City Council Packet 39 November 10, 2014



 
(f) Unreasonable delays in allowing the City of Swartz Creek access to a permitted facility is a violation 

of a storm water discharge permit and of this ordinance. A person who is the operator of a facility 
with a NPDES permit to discharge storm water associated with industrial activity commits an 
offense if the person denies the authorized enforcement agency reasonable access to the permitted 
facility for the purpose of conducting any activity authorized or required by this ordinance. 

 
(g) If the City of Swartz Creek has been refused access to any part of the premises from which 

stormwater is discharged, and he/she is able to demonstrate probable cause to believe that there 
may be a violation of this ordinance, or that there is a need to inspect and/or sample as part of a 
routine inspection and sampling program designed to verify compliance with this ordinance or any 
order issued hereunder, or to protect the overall public health, safety, and welfare of the community, 
then the authorized enforcement agency may seek issuance of a search warrant from any court of 
competent jurisdiction.  

 
Section 15-410.  Requirement to Prevent, Control, and Reduce Stormwater Pollutants by 

the Use of Best Management Practices.  
The City of Swartz Creek will adopt requirements identifying Best Management Practices for any 
activity, operation, or facility which may cause or contribute to pollution or contamination of storm water, 
the storm drain system, or waters of the U.S.  The owner or operator of a commercial or industrial 
establishment shall provide, at their own expense, reasonable protection from accidental discharge of 
prohibited materials or other wastes into the municipal storm drain system or watercourses through the 
use of these structural and non-structural BMPs. Further, any person responsible for a property or 
premise, which is, or may be, the source of an illicit discharge, may be required to implement, at said 
person's expense, additional structural and non-structural BMPs to prevent the further discharge of 
pollutants to the municipal separate storm sewer system. Compliance with all terms and conditions of a 
valid NPDES permit authorizing the discharge of storm water associated with industrial activity, to the 
extent practicable, shall be deemed compliance with the provisions of this section.  These BMPs shall 
be part of a stormwater pollution prevention plan (SWPP) as necessary for compliance with 
requirements of the NPDES permit. 
 
Section 15-411. Watercourse Protection. 
Every person owning property through which a watercourse passes, or such person's lessee, shall keep 
and maintain that part of the watercourse within the property free of trash, debris, excessive vegetation, 
and other obstacles that would pollute, contaminate, or significantly retard the flow of water through the 
watercourse. In addition, the owner or lessee shall maintain existing privately owned structures within or 
adjacent to a watercourse, so that such structures will not become a hazard to the use, function, or 
physical integrity of the watercourse. 
 
Section 15-412. Notification of Spills. 
Notwithstanding other requirements of law, as soon as any person responsible for a facility or operation, 
or responsible for emergency response for a facility or operation has information of any known or 
suspected release of materials which are resulting or may result in illegal discharges or pollutants 
discharging into storm water, the storm drain system, or water of the U.S. said person shall take all 
necessary steps to ensure the discovery, containment, and cleanup of such release. In the event of 
such a release of hazardous materials said person shall immediately notify emergency response 
agencies of the occurrence via emergency dispatch services. In the event of a release of non-
hazardous materials, said person shall notify the authorized enforcement agency in person or by phone 
or facsimile no later than the next business day. Notifications in person or by phone shall be confirmed 
by written notice addressed and mailed to the City of Swartz Creek within three business days of the 
phone notice. If the discharge of prohibited materials emanates from a commercial or industrial 
establishment, the owner or operator of such establishment shall also retain an on-site written record of 
the discharge and the actions taken to prevent its recurrence. Such records shall be retained for at least 
three years. 

City Council Packet 40 November 10, 2014



 
Section 15-413. Enforcement. 
 
Notice of Violation. 

 Whenever the City of Swartz Creek finds that a person has violated a prohibition or failed to meet a 
requirement of this Ordinance, the authorized enforcement agency may order compliance by written 
notice of violation to the responsible person. Such notice may require without limitation:  
(a) The performance of monitoring, analyses, and reporting;  
(b) The elimination of illicit connections or discharges;  
(c) That violating discharges, practices, or operations shall cease and desist;  
(d)  The abatement or remediation of storm water pollution or contamination hazards and the restoration 

of any affected property; and 
(e) Payment of a fine to cover administrative and remediation costs; and 
(f) The implementation of source control or treatment BMPs. 
If abatement of a violation and/or restoration of affected property is required, the notice shall set forth a 
deadline within which such remediation or restoration must be completed. Said notice shall further 
advise that, should the violator fail to remediate or restore within the established deadline, the work will 
be done by a designated governmental agency or a contractor and the expense thereof shall be 
charged to the violator. 
 
Section 15-414. Appeal of Notice of Violation. 
Any person receiving a Notice of Violation may appeal the determination of the authorized enforcement 
agency. The notice of appeal must be received within     days from the date of the Notice of Violation. 
Hearing on the appeal before the appropriate authority or his/her designee shall take place within 15 
days from the date of receipt of the notice of appeal. The decision of the municipal authority or their 
designee shall be final. 
 
Section 15-415. Enforcement of Measures After Appeal. 
If the violation has not been corrected pursuant to the requirements set forth in the Notice of Violation, 
or, in the event of an appeal, within 30 days of the decision of the municipal authority upholding the 
decision of the authorized enforcement agency, then representatives of the authorized enforcement 
agency shall enter upon the subject private property and are authorized to take any and all measures 
necessary to abate the violation and/or restore the property. It shall be unlawful for any person, owner, 
agent or person in possession of any premises to refuse to allow the government agency or designated 
contractor to enter upon the premises for the purposes set forth above. 
 
Section 15-416. Cost of Abatement of the Violation. 
Within 30 days after abatement of the violation, the owner of the property will be notified of the cost of 
abatement, including administrative costs. The property owner may file a written protest objecting to the 
amount of the assessment within 30 days. If the amount due is not paid within a timely manner as 
determined by the decision of the municipal authority or by the expiration of the time in which to file an 
appeal, the charges shall become a special assessment against the property and shall constitute a lien 
on the property for the amount of the assessment. 
Any person violating any of the provisions of this article shall become liable to the city by reason of such 
violation. The liability shall be paid in not more than 12 equal payments. Interest at the rate of 5 percent 
per annum shall be assessed on the balance beginning on the 1st day following discovery of the 
violation.  
 
Section 15-417. Injunctive Relief. 

City Council Packet 41 November 10, 2014



It shall be unlawful for any person to violate any provision or fail to comply with any of the requirements 
of this Ordinance.  If a person has violated or continues to violate the provisions of this ordinance, the 
authorized enforcement agency may petition for a preliminary or permanent injunction restraining the 
person from activities which would create further violations or compelling the person to perform 
abatement or remediation of the violation.  
 
Section 15-418. Compensatory Action. 
In lieu of enforcement proceedings, penalties, and remedies authorized by this Ordinance, the 
authorized enforcement agency may impose upon a violator alternative compensatory actions, such as 
storm drain stenciling, attendance at compliance workshops, creek cleanup, etc. 
 
Section 15-419. Violations Deemed a Public Nuisance. 
In addition to the enforcement processes and penalties provided, any condition caused or permitted to 
exist in violation of any of the provisions of this Ordinance is a threat to public health, safety, and 
welfare, and is declared and deemed a nuisance, and may be summarily abated or restored at the 
violator's expense, and/or a civil action to abate, enjoin, or otherwise compel the cessation of such 
nuisance may be taken. 
 
Section 15-420. Criminal Prosecution. 
Any person that has violated or continues to violate this ordinance shall be liable to criminal prosecution 
to the fullest extent of the law, and shall be subject to a criminal penalty of $500.00 dollars per violation 
per day and/or imprisonment for a period of time not to exceed 90 days. 
The authorized enforcement agency may recover all attorney’s fees court costs and other expenses 
associated with enforcement of this ordinance, including sampling and monitoring expenses.  
 
Section 15-421. Remedies Not Exclusive. 
The remedies listed in this ordinance are not exclusive of any other remedies available under any 
applicable federal, state or local law and it is within the discretion of the authorized enforcement agency to 
seek cumulative remedies.  

 
SECTION 2. Effective Date.  

This Ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days after publication. 
 

At a regular meeting of the City Council of Swartz Creek held on the __________ day of 
_____________, 2014, ________________ moved for adoption of the foregoing ordinance and 
________________ supported the motion. 
 
Voting for: 
Voting against: 
The Mayor declared the ordinance adopted. 
 

_________________________________ 
______________ 
Mayor 

 
__________________________________ 
Juanita Aguilar 
City Clerk 

 
 CERTIFICATION 

City Council Packet 42 November 10, 2014



 
The foregoing is a true copy of Ordinance No. _____ which was enacted by the Swartz Creek City 
Council at a regular meeting held on the ________ day of __________________, 2014. 
 

_________________________________ 
Juanita Aguilar 
City Clerk  

 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
Resolution No. 141110-10G CMOM AGREEMENT 

 
 Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 

 
WHEREAS, the Genesee County Drain Commission, Water and Waste Services 
Division (GCDC-WWS) provides sewer transportation and treatment services to the 
City as a wholesale customer; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City issues its own B-Permits, provides staking for “Miss Dig” projects 
in the city, and operates and maintains the local sewer collection system, including lift 
stations and billing; and 
 
WHEREAS, GCDC-WWS is updating operating agreements for retail customers and is 
seeking affirmation from wholesale customers regarding the provision of the above 
services; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City finds it to be in the best interest of the public to continue to 
provide the above services; and 
 
WHEREAS, the city finds that it is in compliance with the minimum requirements of the 
GCDC-WWS by virtue of its sewer use ordinance and ongoing sewer investment 
program. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, I Move the City Council execute the 2014-2024 Lateral Sewer 
System Operation and/or Maintenance Agreement as presented by the GCDC-WWS 
with the following selections within Exhibit A: 
 
Item 1: “Municipality to Issue B-Permits” 
Item 2: “Not Selected” 
Item 3: “Not Selected” 
Item 4: “Not Selected”   
 
BE IT FUTHER RESOLVED, that the Mayor and Clerk are directed to make such 
notations upon the agreement and execute the agreement on behalf of the city council.  
 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

 

City Council Packet 43 November 10, 2014



Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 
 

 
 

City Council Packet 44 November 10, 2014



 CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK 
SWARTZ CREEK, MICHIGAN 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
DATE 10/27/2014 

 
The meeting was called to order at 7:00 p.m. by Mayor Krueger in the Swartz Creek City 
Council Chambers, 8083 Civic Drive. 
 
Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag. 
 
Councilmembers Present:  Abrams, Gilbert, Hicks, Hurt, Krueger, Porath, 

Shumaker. 
 
Councilmembers Absent:   None. 
 
Staff Present: City Manager Adam Zettel, City Clerk Juanita Aguilar,   

DPS Director Tom Svrcek, City Engineer Lou Fleury. 
  
Others Present: Boots Abrams, Sharon Shumaker, Brent Cole, Bob 

Plumb, Steve Shumaker, Lou Fleury, Jim Florence, Ron 
Schultz. 

 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
 Resolution No. 141027-01       (Carried) 
 

Motion by Councilmember Porath 
  Second by Councilmember Shumaker 
 

I Move the Swartz Creek City Council hereby approve the Minutes of the Regular 
Council Meeting held Monday, October 13, 2014 to be circulated and placed on file. 

 
YES: Gilbert, Hicks, Hurt, Krueger, Porath, Shumaker, Abrams. 

 NO:   None.  Motion Declared Carried. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
  

Resolution No. 141027-02       (Carried) 
  

Motion by Mayor Pro-Tem Abrams    
Second by Councilmember Hurt 
 

I Move the Swartz Creek City Council approve the Agenda as presented, for the 
Regular Council Meeting of October 27, 2014, to be circulated and placed on file. 

 
YES: Hicks, Hurt, Krueger, Porath, Shumaker, Abrams, Gilbert. 
NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried.  

 
REPORTS AND COMMUNICATIONS: 

City Council Packet 45 November 10, 2014



 
City Manager’s Report 
 
  Resolution No. 141027-03       (Carried) 
 

 Motion by Councilmember Shumaker 
Second by Councilmember Hicks 
 

 I Move the Swartz Creek City Council accept the City Manager’s Report of October 
27, 2014, to be circulated and placed on file. 

  
YES: Hurt, Krueger, Porath, Shumaker, Abrams, Gilbert, Hicks. 
NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 
 

MEETING OPENED TO THE PUBLIC 
 
Steve Shumaker, 7446 Country Meadow, stated that he requested more information on the 
Karegnondi Water Authority appointments.  City Manager Zettel stated that our community 
did not formally approve membership with Karegnondi, but by virtue of being within the 
interlocal agreement for the county wide system, the Karegnondi was adopted by that 
entity.  Mr. Shumaker spoke about building houses near the DDA area.   
 
Mike Olivo, 5243 Don Shenk, spoke about the police merger.  Mr. Olivo mentioned a study 
he found about other mergers and encouraged the council to look at the study. 
 
COUNCIL BUSINESS 
 
Moratorium on Medical Marijuana Establishments 
 
  Resolution No. 141027-04      (Carried) 
 
   Motion by Councilmember Hicks 
   Second by Councilmember Hurt 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek Michigan, by Ordinance, has prohibited the 
possession or use of marijuana, as well as the sale, display, furnishing, supplying or 
possession of controlled substance paraphernalia; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the use, possession, cultivation, manufacture or sale of marijuana 
remains a crime under the Laws of the State of Michigan, the United States of America as 
a Schedule 1 drug under the Michigan Public Health Code and by the Treaty of 1980, 
entitled:  Convention of Psychotropic Substances, and it is illegal to operate a motor 
vehicle with any amount of THC in an individual’s blood system; and    
 
 WHEREAS, the people of the State of Michigan by referendum have provided that 
there shall not be criminal prosecution for the medical use of marijuana  in limited and 
specific ways as provided in MCLA 333.26421 et seq; and 
 

City Council Packet 46 November 10, 2014



WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek passed ordinance number 407 to define and 
regulate medical marijuana dispensaries and growing facilities; and 
 

WHEREAS, the legislature of the State of Michigan is considering certain 
legislation, specifically House Bill 4271, that is expected to significantly alter the operations 
of medical marijuana commercial facilities; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek Michigan believes that in light of potential 
adverse effects upon its citizens, by the use, sale, production, and storage of medical 
marijuana that could affect the public safety, health and welfare, if certain controls were not 
placed as to if, where, or how such medical marijuana use is carried out; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Swartz Creek City Council believes that its Ordinances will require 
amendment to comply with current and proposed legislation, including the Michigan 
Medical Marijuana Act (MMMA), and to regulate certain conduct by medical marijuana 
users and their caregivers; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Swartz Creek City Council believes that the location in which 
medical marijuana caregivers provide care to medical marijuana patients requires 
regulation to avoid any harmful impact on the citizens by the placement or concentration of 
medical marijuana caregivers, within the ambit of the Zoning Ordinances of the City of 
Swartz Creek.  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Swartz Creek City Council by this 
Resolution determines to place a moratorium upon the establishment of caregiver facilities, 
dispensaries, growing facilities, and similar facilities as defined by ordinance 407 and state 
legislation within its City Limits for a period of one hundred eighty (180) days, to allow the 
City Council to consider amendments to its Zoning Ordinances and to its Drug Control 
Ordinances.  It is the intent of the City to maintain a land use status quo pending final 
adoption of any proposed zoning plan or changes regarding Michigan medical marijuana 
caregivers as defined in MCLA 333.26421 et seq. (MMMA). 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that in compliance with section 32.15 of the zoning code for 
the City of Swartz Creek, this moratorium shall be effective immediately upon publication 
of this resolution in a newspaper of general circulation, date of publication October 30, 
2014. 
 
 
Moved:  Councilmember Hicks 
Second:  Councilmember Hurt 
Voting For:  Krueger, Porath, Shumaker, Abrams, Gilbert, Hicks, Hurt 
Voting Against: None 
Absent:  None 
 
The Mayor declared the ordinance adopted. 
 
_________________________________ __________________________ 
David A Krueger, Mayor    Juanita Aguilar, City Clerk 

City Council Packet 47 November 10, 2014



 
  

CERTIFICATION 
The foregoing is a true copy of Resolution No. 141027-04, which was passed by the 
Swartz Creek City Council at a regular meeting held on the 27th day of October, 2014. 
 
 
_________________________  Publish Date: October 30, 2014 
Juanita Aguilar    Paper:  The Swartz Creek View 
City Clerk     Effective Date: October 30, 2014 

 
Discussion Took Place. 
 
   YES: Krueger, Porath, Shumaker, Abrams, Gilbert, Hicks, Hurt. 
   NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 
 
Local Street Plan Findings by Rowe PSC 
 
Engineer Lou Fleury made a brief presentation on local street plan findings.  City Council 
would like information about options out to city residents. 
 
Miller Road Lot Sale       
 

 Resolution No.  141027-05      (Carried)
      

   Motion by Councilmember Gilbert   
   Second by Councilmember Hurt 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek owns a certain piece of real property on 
Miller Road, identified as parcel 58-36-578-018, an out lot, and; 

 
WHEREAS, the city received an unsolicited offer to purchase this property from an 
adjacent landowner, and; 
 
WHEREAS, the city council and staff, finding this property to be of marginal value 
to the city and no value to non-adjacent land owners, permitted the formal 
solicitation of offers from both neighbors with Miller Road frontage, and;  
 
WHEREAS, one offer was received by the stated deadline from an adjacent land 
owner in the amount of $1,000, and; 
 
WHEREAS, under the city’s land sale policy, the city council finds the sale process 
and consideration to be in the best interest of the public. 
 
BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Swartz Creek hereby approves the sale of this 
lot, with the exception of a public easement, to Justin Ellison, for the consideration 
of $1,000 in accordance with the quit claim deed attached, subject to combination 
of this parcel to the adjacent parcel of the buyer. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that said instrument be made available for public 
inspection in accordance with the city charter.  

City Council Packet 48 November 10, 2014



 
Discussion Took Place. 
 
  YES: Porath, Shumaker, Abrams, Gilbert, Hicks, Hurt, Krueger. 
  NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 
 
Engineering Mitigation Proposal 
 
  Resolution No. 141027-06      (Carried) 
    

Motion by Councilmember Hurt 
   Second by Councilmember Porath 

 
WHEREAS, the city’s primary engineer (Rowe PSC) submitted resurfacing projects 
for Miller Road, including a segment from Morrish to Elms and a segment from 
Tallmadge to Dye, to the Genesee County Metropolitan Planning Commission for 
approval in the Traffic Improvement Program; and  
 
WHEREAS, the projects were approved for construction during the 2015 season; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the city selected a professional engineer (OHM) to perform preliminary 
engineering design work for these segments and 
 
WHEREAS, the city must also retain the services of a third party engineer to 
mitigate any conflicts arising out of the project between OHM and Rowe PSC; and  
 
WHEREAS, prices for the potential scope of work as outlined by the Michigan 
Department of Transportation were requested from the other three pre-qualified 
firms on the city’s federal aid eligible list, with the lowest price submitted by HRC. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED the City of Swartz Creek approves the 
proposal by HRC for an amount not to exceed $10,900, with any such work to be 
done only on an as-needed basis upon the manifestation of a conflict. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City Council directs the staff to amend the 
budget to reflect expenditures as reflected above within the major street fund.  

 
Discussion Took Place. 
 
   YES: Shumaker, Abrams, Gilbert, Hicks, Hurt, Krueger, Porath.  
   NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 
 
Street Usage Permit, Annual Fire Department Christmas Parade 
 
  Resolution No. 141027-07      (Carried) 
 
    

City Council Packet 49 November 10, 2014



Motion by Councilmember Porath 
   Second by Councilmember Shumaker 

 
I Move the City of Swartz Creek accept the Chief of Police’s recommendation and 
approve the Swartz Creek Area Fire Department’s Street Usage Application to hold 
an annual Christmas Parade on Saturday, December 6, 2014 from 6:00 PM to 7:00 
PM, route, stipulations and conditions as set forth in the application packet, a copy 
of which is attached hereto, under the direction and control of the office of the Chief 
of Police. 

 
   YES:  Abrams, Gilbert, Hicks, Hurt, Krueger, Porath, Shumaker. 
   NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 
 
Adopt 2015 FY Fire Budget 
 
Fire Chief Brent Cole made a brief presentation on the Fire Department Budget.  Mr. Cole 
stated that an updated budget will be submitted to show expense of $291,734.50 for total 
budget.   
 
  Resolution No. 141027-08a       
    

Motion by Mayor Pro-Tem Abrams 
   Second by Councilmember Shumaker 

 
I Move the City of Swartz Creek approve the 2015 Fiscal Year Swartz Creek Area 
Fire Department Budget, a copy of which is attached hereto, gross maximum total 
not to exceed $300,234.50, and further, appropriate an amount not to exceed 
$150,117.25 from the City General Fund, to be paid consummate of the agreement 
between the City of Swartz Creek and the Township of Clayton, payment being the 
City’s obligation of one-half of the proposed total budget of $300,234.50. 

 
  Resolution No. 141027-08b      (Carried) 
   
   Motion by Councilmember Gilbert 
   Second by Councilmember Hurt 
 

I Move to amend the amounts on the Fire Budget to reflect correct amounts 
submitted by the Fire Chief . 
 
  YES: Gilbert, Hicks, Hurt, Krueger, Porath, Shumaker, Abrams. 
  NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 
 
 Resolution No. 141027-08c      (Carried) 
 
  Motion by Mayor Pro-Tem Abrams 
  Second by Councilmember Shumaker 
 

City Council Packet 50 November 10, 2014



I Move the City of Swartz Creek approve the 2015 Fiscal Year Swartz Creek Area 
Fire Department Budget, a copy of which is attached hereto, gross maximum total 
not to exceed $291,734.50, and further, appropriate an amount not to exceed 
$145,867.25 from the City General Fund, to be paid consummate of the agreement 
between the City of Swartz Creek and the Township of Clayton, payment being the 
City’s obligation of one-half of the proposed total budget of $291,734.50. 
 

Discussion Took Place. 
    

YES: Hicks, Hurt, Krueger, Porath, Shumaker, Abrams, Gilbert.  
   NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 
 
County Water and Sewer Bond Obligations 
 
  Resolution No. 141027-09       
 
   Motion by Councilmember Shumaker 
   Second by Mayor Pro-Tem Abrams  
 

WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek has a need to pay to the County of Genesee, 
the sum of $59,377.60 to meet the bond and principal requirements on all bond 
obligations for water and sewer facilities in calendar year 2015; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek has such an obligation for the retirement of a 
western trunk sewer extension bond through approximately 2026, and 

 
WHEREAS, there are several means by which the funds can be secured to meet 
this payment; and 

 
WHEREAS, all various means of securing these funds have been reviewed and 
considered; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City of Swartz Creek that the 
monies to meet the principal and interest requirements and all bond obligations for 
water and sewer facilities will be secured from the following funds: 

 
SOURCE OF FUNDS 

 
 
Funds Already Available     $59,376.99 
 
Sewer Fund Total       $59,376.99 
 
Grand Total       $59,376.99 

 
Discussion Ensued. 
 
   YES: Hurt, Krueger, Porath, Shumaker, Abrams, Gilbert, Hicks. 
   NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 

 

City Council Packet 51 November 10, 2014



MEETING OPEN TO THE PUBLIC: 
 
Jim Florence, 4296 Springbrook Drive, spoke about things going on in the City the past 
weekend.  Mr. Florence spoke about the women’s club having a craft show that did very 
well.  Mr. Florence talked about an event at the Performing Arts Center and stated that 
there are brochures available. 
 
REMARKS BY COUNCILMEMBERS: 
 
Councilmember Porath stated that he hoped Councilmember Hurt enjoys his retirement 
from Council and thanked him for his years of great service.  Mr. Porath also thanked Lou 
Fleury for his presentation.  Mr. Porath asked if the council could review the street 
presentation before it was presented to the public.   
 
Councilmember Shumaker thanked Mr. Hurt for his service, knowledge and abilities.  Mr. 
Shumaker spoke about sidewalk complaints he has received from residents.  Mr. 
Shumaker asked if the sidewalk repair list would be completed this year.  Mr. Shumaker 
spoke about the MDEQ stating that the salt shed is too close to the creek.   
 
Councilmember Hicks stated that it has been wonderful working with Councilmember Hurt. 
 
Councilmember Hurt stated that he is grateful to the voters of Precinct 1 for electing him to 
represent them on the City Council.  Mr. Hurt stated that he hopes that he has served them 
well.  Mr. Hurt stated this experience has shown him how cities work and the complications 
involved with that.  Mr. Hurt stated that the city has one of the best city governments in the 
state.  Mr. Hurt thanked everyone for the cake.   
 
Mayor Pro-Tem Abrams thanked Mr. Hurt for his service.  Mr. Abrams stated that Mr. Hurt 
needed to be replaced on the GAIN committee.  Mr. Abrams spoke about Mr. Svrcek being 
appointed to the Karegnondi committee.   
 
Mayor Krueger thanked Mr. Hurt for all the years and efforts he has put into the council.  
Mr. Krueger thanked Councilmembers Porath and Gilbert for the picture of the Mayor for 
the wall in the council chambers.  Mr. Krueger reminded everyone when election day is.  
 
Adjournment 
 

Resolution No. 141027-10       (Carried) 
 

Motion by Mayor Pro-Tem Abrams  
Second by Councilmember Hurt 

 
I Move the City of Swartz Creek adjourn the Regular Session of the City Council 
meeting at 9:16 p.m. 

 
 YES: Unanimous Voice Vote. 

                      NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 
 

City Council Packet 52 November 10, 2014



 
 
___________________________   _____________________________ 
David A. Krueger, Mayor           Juanita Aguilar, City Clerk 

City Council Packet 53 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 54 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 55 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 56 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 57 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 58 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 59 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 60 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 61 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 62 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 63 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 64 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 65 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 66 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 67 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 68 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 69 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 70 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 71 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 72 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 73 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 74 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 75 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 76 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 77 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 78 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 79 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 80 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 81 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 82 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 83 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 84 November 10, 2014



11/03/2014                                    CHECK REGISTER FOR CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK                                              

                                                          CHECK DATE FROM 10/01/2014 ‐ 10/31/2014                                              

Check Date Check Vendor Name Description Amount

Bank GEN CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNT

10/02/2014 39580 ARROW UNIFORM RENTAL UNIFORMS, MATS, SUPPLIES, ENV. 84.91

MATS, SUPPLIES 33.00

117.91

10/02/2014 39581 BADGLEY CONSTRUCTION SIDEWALK REPAIR MAINTENANCE 3,027.14

10/02/2014 39582 BRADYS BUSINESS SYSTEMS COPY MACHINE MAINT AGREEMENT 9/15‐10/14/ 70.87

10/02/2014 39583 CHIEF SUPPLY CORPORATION RAIN COATS (3) 240.26

10/02/2014 39584 CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK 6/20‐9/20/14 UB 4125 ELMS 279.23

6/20‐9/20/14 UB 5121 MORRISH 125.16

6/20‐9/20/14 UB 5363 WINSHALL 262.17

6/20‐9/20/14 UB 8059 FORTINO 652.98

6/20‐9/20/14 UB 8083 CIVIC 397.66

6/20‐9/20/14 UB 8095 CIVIC 189.04

6/20‐9/20/14 UB 8100 CIVIC 464.00

2,370.24

10/02/2014 39585 COMCAST BUSINESS 10/1‐10/31/14 PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING 147.80

10/02/2014 39586 DOUGLAS SHERMAN TAX OVRPMT 58‐35‐576‐051 1.50

10/02/2014 39587 ELECTIONSOURCE BALLOTCHART.COM CHART ONLINE CREATION 47.50

10/02/2014 39588 FAMILY FARM AND HOME INC PLUNGER 5.99

NUTS, BOLTS, WASHERS 9.26

10W30 OIL 49.98

15W40 OIL 25.99

RETURN 15W40 OIL/15W40 OIL 24.00

GLOVES 48.96

164.18

10/02/2014 39589 INTEGRITY BUSINESS SOLUTIONS FACIAL TISSUE (1)/TOWELS (2) 133.63

10/02/2014 39590 JEFF PINKSTON PC K‐9 FOOD 60.42

10/02/2014 39591 JOHNS TRUCK SERVICE REPLACE FUEL PUMP 133.70

STROBE LIGHTS/STREET SWEEPER 301.26

434.96

10/02/2014 39592 JOSE A MIRELES MOW & TRIM CITY PROPERTIES 780.00

10/02/2014 39593 MATTHEW BADE CAMERA CASE FOR PATROL VEH. 149.95

10/02/2014 39594 MICHIGAN ELECTRIC SUPPLY COMPANY CAUTION BARRICADE TAPE (2) 32.00

10/02/2014 39595 MICHIGAN PIPE AND VALVE 4 1/2 X 2 1/2 NSTX MALE NST HYD ADT (6) 100.02

10/02/2014 39596 MICHIGAN STATE POLICE SOR‐BREWER, CONNOR 60.00

10/02/2014 39597 OHM ADVISORS MILLER RD‐TALLMADGE TO S DYE RD PROG BIL 5,434.38

10/02/2014 39598 OHM ADVISORS MILLER RD‐MORRISH TO ELMS PROGRESS BILL  2,578.76

10/02/2014 39599 PLANTE & MORAN PLLC FY14 AUDIT/CONSULTING SERVICES THRU 9/15 14,300.00

10/02/2014 39600 ROWE PROFESSIONAL SERVICES CO SPRINGBROOK EAST PAVING 492.00

10/02/2014 39601 ROWE PROFESSIONAL SERVICES CO 2014 CDBG PARKING LOT ENHANCEMENTS 9,397.00

10/02/2014 39602 ROWE PROFESSIONAL SERVICES CO ASSET MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT 10,030.25

10/02/2014 39603 RWS OF MID MICHIGAN FY15 GARBAGE/RECYCLING/YARD WASTE SEPT 2 21,803.84

10/02/2014 39604 RYAN MCFARLANE SU 2014 TAX OVRPMT 58‐03‐531‐075 83.19

10/02/2014 39605 SHULTS EQUIPMENT UNDERBODY SCRAPER MODEL F8900‐DPR‐12' 10,326.00

CARBIDE BLADE (6) 1,526.52

11,852.52

City Council Packet 85 November 10, 2014



10/02/2014 39606 STATE OF MICHIGAN DEPT TRANS I69 RACEWAY SIGNAL ENERGY 4/1‐6/30/14 25.45

10/02/2014 39607 SUBURBAN AUTO SUPPLY BATTERY 42.95

FUEL FILTER KIT/FUEL LINE HOSE 9.55

52.50

10/02/2014 39608 SWARTZ CREEK ESTATES SU 14 REFUND 58‐35‐776‐141 159.97

10/02/2014 39609 SWARTZ CREEK ESTATES TAX OVERPMT‐COMBINATION MANY ACCTS 54.32

10/02/2014 39610 VALUE HOMES LLC 2014 TAX OVERPMTS MULTIPLE ACCOUNTS 9.78

10/02/2014 39611 VERMEER OF MICHIGAN BLADE SHARPENING 45.85

10/02/2014 39612 VILLAGE CLEANERS AUG. 2014 UNIFORM CLEANING 5.00

AUG 2014 UNIFORM CLEANING 165.00

170.00

10/02/2014 39613 WOODS COLLISION REPAIR 2012‐144 RIGHT REAR DOOR 269.00

REPAIR 2005 ‐168 REPLACE L FRONT FENDER 605.30

874.30

10/09/2014 39614 ADAM ZETTEL SMALL CITIES MTG DINNER (6) 72.42

10/09/2014 39615 ARROW UNIFORM RENTAL UNIFORMS, MATS, SUPPLIES, ENV. 99.33

MATS, SUPPLIES 32.93

132.26

10/09/2014 39616 CONSUMERS ENERGY 9/1‐9/30/14 4524 MORRISH RD 43.91

10/09/2014 39617 CONSUMERS ENERGY 9/1‐9/30/14 ELMS PARKING LOT 29.54

10/09/2014 39618 CONSUMERS ENERGY 9/1‐9/30/14 STREET LIGHTS 10,376.69

10/09/2014 39619 CONSUMERS ENERGY 9/1‐9/30/14 SIRENS 28.85

10/09/2014 39620 CONSUMERS ENERGY 9/1‐9/30/14 TRAFFIC LIGHTS 437.52

10/09/2014 39621 CONSUMERS ENERGY 9/3‐10/1/14 A 5121 MORRISH RD 271.33

10/09/2014 39622 CONSUMERS ENERGY 9/3‐10/1/14 A WINSHALL RESTROOMS 27.95

10/09/2014 39623 CONSUMERS ENERGY 9/3‐10/2/14 A 8059 FORTINO DR 57.48

10/09/2014 39624 CONSUMERS ENERGY 9/3‐10/2/14 A 8083 CIVIC DR 856.28

10/09/2014 39625 CONSUMERS ENERGY 9/3‐10/2/14 A 8095 CIVIC DR 1,013.66

10/09/2014 39626 CONSUMERS ENERGY 9/3‐10/2/14 A 8100 CIVIC DR 982.00

10/09/2014 39627 CONSUMERS ENERGY 9/4‐10/2/14 A 8301 CAPPY LN 122.10

10/09/2014 39628 CONSUMERS ENERGY 9/3‐10/1/14 A 8499 MILLER RD 23.68

10/09/2014 39629 CONSUMERS ENERGY 9/3‐10/1/14 A 5257 WINSHALL DR 22.60

10/09/2014 39630 CONSUMERS ENERGY 9/3‐10/1/14 A 5361 WINSHALL DR 22.60

10/09/2014 39631 CONSUMERS ENERGY 9/3‐10/1/14 A 8011 MILLER RD 22.60

10/09/2014 39632 CONSUMERS ENERGY 8/30‐9/30/14 A 9099 MILLER RD 22.60

10/09/2014 39633 CONSUMERS ENERGY 9/5‐10/6/14 E 4125 ELMS RD 27.81

10/09/2014 39634 CONSUMERS ENERGY 9/5‐10/6/14 A 4125 ELMS RD PAVILION 24.61

10/09/2014 39635 CONSUMERS ENERGY 9/5‐10/6/14 A 6425 MILLER RD PARK‐RIDE 76.32

10/09/2014 39636 FIDELITY SECURITY LIFE INSUR/EYEMED OCT 2014 VISION ‐ RETIREES (5) 26.93

OCT 2014 C. BUECHE 5.95

32.88

10/09/2014 39637 FLINT WELDING SUPPLY CYLINDER COMPRESSED OXYGEN 5.00

(FAX) CYLINDER COMPRESSED OXYGEN 5.00

10.00

10/09/2014 39638 GILL ROYS HARDWARE COUPLING (5)/NIPPLES (4) 40.91

City Council Packet 86 November 10, 2014



4 KEYS CUT 7.16

BATTERIES 5.59

3/4" NAP ROLLER COVER  4.79

MICRO FIBER CLOTH 8.99

CLOCK/AA BATTERIES 11.98

YELLOW PAINT 33.99

WHITE ADHESIVE CAULK 15.96

1 GAL STAIN/ROLLER COVER 37.78

ANTI‐BACTERIAL SOAP 11.94

ANTI‐BACTERIAL SOAP (3)/BOWL CLEANER (2) 11.15

BRUSHES (3) 17.17

NUTS, BOLTS, SCREWS (4) 3.60

PROPANE 4.59

QUICK LINK/SHIPPING 15.98

NUTS, BOLTS, SCREWS/CHAINSAW RESHARPENIN 6.08

5/16" G30 ZINC COLD SHUT 1.99

ROLLER COVER/PAINT/ROLLER FRAME/BRUSH 56.36

1 LB COMBO EXT SCREW 7.99

STAIN 33.99

AA BATTERIES  11.18

60# MORTAR MIX 1 BAG 4.99

2" FLAT POLY BRUSH (2) 2.78

2" FLAT POLY BRUSH (2) 2.78

60# CONCRETE MIX (2) 9.58

2 PK LINE MARKING COVERS (2) 7.98

SEPT 2014 DISCOUNT (34.00)

343.28

10/09/2014 39639 GOV'T FINANCE OFFICERS ASSOC. GFOA TRAINING 12/4/14 AGUILAR 135.00

10/09/2014 39640 HOPE PAIVARINTA UB REFUND FOR 5197 DAVAL 259.61

10/09/2014 39641 HYDRO DESIGNS WATER CROSS CONNECTION CONTROL AND COMPL 285.00

10/09/2014 39642 INTEGRITY BUSINESS SOLUTIONS FOLDERS, INK CARTRIDGE/TAPE 95.36

10/09/2014 39643 JOSE A MIRELES MOW & TRIM CITY PROPERTIES 780.00

10/09/2014 39644 LANDMARK APPRAISAL CO OCT 2014 ASSESSOR SERVICES OCT 1 2014‐JU 2,370.48

10/09/2014 39645 MCLAREN MEDICAL MANAGEMENT INC PHYSICAL EXAM/S. MCKENZIE 146.00

10/09/2014 39646 PRINTING SYSTEMS BALLOT INST/VOTER ID CARDS/MASTER CARDS 106.90

WINDOW AV APP ENVELOPES (500) 48.96

155.86

10/09/2014 39647 SELF SERVE LUMBER CO. (FAX) SHELF (12)/ADHESIVE 65.67

(FAX) RETURN 1 X 8 X 10 SHELF (2) (14.18)

51.49

10/09/2014 39648 SUBURBAN AUTO SUPPLY HACKSAW BLADE (2)/4 HD BX CLMP 11.57

10/09/2014 39649 SUPER FLITE OIL CO INC 9/1‐9/30/14 FUEL USAGE ‐ DPW 1,052.43

10/09/2014 39650 SUPER FLITE OIL CO INC 9/1‐9/30/14 FUEL USAGE ‐ POLICE 2,320.88

10/09/2014 39651 SWARTZ CREEK AREA SENIOR CITZ. SEPT 2014 EXP OF 2013 GRANT 350.00

10/09/2014 39652 SWARTZ CREEK AREA SENIOR CITZ. AUG 2014 EXP OF 2013 GRANT 362.00

10/09/2014 39653 TAYLOR CORPORATION EMPLOYEE RECORD ORGANIZER FOLDERS 398.01

10/09/2014 39654 VERIZON WIRELESS SEPT 2014 MONTHLY INCOME 447.60

10/16/2014 39655 AMERICAN MESSAGING OCT 2014 8108332563 8108331159 24.88

10/16/2014 39656 ARROW UNIFORM RENTAL UNIFORMS, MATS, SUPPLIES, ENV. 84.72

MATS, SUPPLIES 32.93

117.65

10/16/2014 39657 BROWNELLS INC GUN CLEANING SOLUTION 84.94

10/16/2014 39658 CAPITAL TIRE (2) EAGLE 160R18 RSA TIRES 261.98

10/16/2014 39659 CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK REIMB PETTY CASH 179.19

City Council Packet 87 November 10, 2014



10/16/2014 39660 CREEK AUTO SERVICES LLC A/C RELAY 12‐144 107.95

LOF MONTH MNT, MT & BAL 2 FRONT TIRES 12 66.95

LOF MONTHLY MAINT 13‐384 34.95

2 LOWER CONTROL ARMS 12‐144 468.00

DRIVE SHAFT COUPLING 10‐161 252.00

NEW ALTERNATOR 12‐144 742.95

1,672.80

10/16/2014 39661 DEANNA KORTH ADVANCE ELECTION SUPPLIES NOV 4 GENERAL  150.00

10/16/2014 39662 DELTA DENTAL PLAN NOV 2014 DENTAL‐RETIREES (5)/C BUECHE 405.09

10/16/2014 39663 JOSE A MIRELES MOW & TRIM CITY PROPERTIES 780.00

10/16/2014 39664 MICHIGAN POLICE EQUIPMENT COMPANY PRACTICE AMMO FIREARMS TRAINING 86.00

10/16/2014 39665 MLIVE MEDIA GROUP PUBLIC HEARING ZBA 9/2/14 255.32

10/16/2014 39666 PREMIUM TITLE SERVICES UB REFUND FOR 5363 DON SHENK 9.87

10/16/2014 39667 SIMEN FIGURA & PARKER PLC SEPT 2014 GEN'L/TRAFFIC/ORDIN 3,922.50

10/16/2014 39668 SUBURBAN AUTO SUPPLY ISO HEET (2)/FUEL TREATMENT 13.37

10/16/2014 39669 THOMAS SVRCEK DRIP KIT TOILET LEAK DETECTING TABLETS 65.09

10/16/2014 39670 TOM V BRANOFF TRUST PARCEL 58‐35‐576‐032  TO CITY 1.00

10/16/2014 39671 TUCKER CHRYSLER JEEP DODGE RECHARGE A/C 12‐144 104.58

10/16/2014 39672 UNITED METHODIST CHURCH ‐SW CK NOVEMBER 4 2014 GENERAL ELECTION 750.00

10/16/2014 39673 UNUM LIFE INSURANCE NOV 2014 RETIREE LIFE INS/SHANNON 10.35

10/23/2014 39674 ALDERMANS INC CUB CADET SNOWBLOWER 1,900.00

10/23/2014 39675 AMERICAN PLANNING ASSOCIATION APA DUES/MICH CHAPTER/AICP DUES/APA JOUR 558.00

10/23/2014 39676 ARROW UNIFORM RENTAL MATS, SUPPLIES 32.93

UNIFORMS, MATS, SUPPLIES, ENV. 84.72

117.65

10/23/2014 39677 BLUE CARE NETWORK‐EAST MI NOV 2014 RETIREE MED INS KELLY 706.62

NOV 2014 RETIREE MED INS O'BRIEN 1,239.83

NOV 2014 RETIREE MED INS PETRUCHA 1,479.62

NOV 2014 RETIREE MED INS SHANNON 748.01

NOV 2014 MEDICAL INS C. BUECHE 695.07

4,869.15

10/23/2014 39678 COMCAST BUSINESS 10/26‐11/25/14 CITY HALL 281.75

10/23/2014 39679 CRAIG CULINSKI MILEAGE, FERRY PARKING, ROOM TAX/PC TRAI 470.69

10/23/2014 39680 GENESEE CTY DRAIN COMMISSIONER SEWER 7/1‐9/30/2014 165,688.58

10/23/2014 39681 GENESEE CTY DRAIN COMMISSIONER 8/28‐9/29/14 COMM/READY TO SERVE 108,205.10

10/23/2014 39682 JOSE A MIRELES MOW & TRIM CITY PROPERTIES 780.00

10/23/2014 39683 MICHIGAN METER TECHNOLOGY GRP. INC BLUE FLAGS (100) 24.37

10/23/2014 39684 MY‐CAN LLC PORTAJON RENTAL 9/16‐10/23/14 ELMS PARK 215.00

10/23/2014 39685 SWARTZ CREEK AREA FIRE DEPT. SEPT 2014 MONTHLY RUNS 1,553.83

10/30/2014 39686 AGROSCAPING INC. SPRINKLER WINTERIZATION 60.00

10/30/2014 39687 ARROW UNIFORM RENTAL MATS, SUPPLIES 32.93

UNIFORMS, MATS, SUPPLIES, ENV. 84.72

117.65

10/30/2014 39688 BETTY SHANNON REIMB FOR MEDICAL SERV PRIOR JAN 2014 110.97

10/30/2014 39689 C & H CONSTRUCTION CO INC WATERMAIN REPAIR 6383 BRISTOL 1,345.00

10/30/2014 39690 CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MUNDY JOINT INSPECTION & PERMIT SERV 7/1‐9/30/ 11,244.90

10/30/2014 39691 COMCAST BUSINESS 11/1‐11/30/14 PUBLIC SAFETY BLDG 147.80

10/30/2014 39692 COOKS DIESEL RV & TRUCK REPAIR REPLACED FRONT BRAKE PADS AND ROTORS 325.88

REPLACE BRAKE SHOES&DRUMS/EXHAUST CLAMP/ 3,822.69

4,148.57

City Council Packet 88 November 10, 2014



10/30/2014 39693 DONALD KORTH 2TB SATA DRIVES (2)/2TB USB PORTABLE HAR 81.60

RESOLVE EVIDENCE ROOM ISSUE/INSTALL PRIN 75.00

INSTALL 2TB HARD DRIVES/UPGRADE MAIL SER 2,250.00

2,406.60

10/30/2014 39694 HEATHER BURGESS UB REFUND FOR 9265 CEDAR CREEK 265.88

UB REFUND FOR 9265 CEDAR CREEK PENALTY A 5.16

271.04

10/30/2014 39695 INTEGRITY BUSINESS SOLUTIONS OFFICE SUPPLIES 94.24

KITCHEN ROLL TOWELS 126.97

OFFICE SUPPLIES/TONER 189.49

STAMP PAD REPLACEMENT 7.06

FACIAL TISSUE/TOWELS 126.07

CREDIT FOR INVOICE PD WITH TAX (133.63)

410.20

10/30/2014 39696 JMZ PROPERTIES, LLC UB REFUND FOR 5200 WINSHALL 86.37

10/30/2014 39697 JOSE A MIRELES MOW & TRIM CITY PROPERTIES 780.00

10/30/2014 39698 O'REILLEY AUTO PARTS UB REFUND FOR 4301 ELMS 886.30

10/30/2014 39699 OHM ADVISORS PROG BILL #7 MILLER TALMADGE CT TO S DYE 11,769.79

10/30/2014 39700 OHM ADVISORS PROG BILL #7 MILLER RD MORRISH TO ELMS 2,648.25

10/30/2014 39701 PREMIUM TITLE AGENCY UB REFUND FOR 5342 DON SHENK 83.09

10/30/2014 39702 PURCHASE POWER SEPT 26 2014 POSTAGE/TRANS FEE 1,020.99

10/30/2014 39703 RWS OF MID MICHIGAN OCT 2014 FY15 GARBAGE/RECYCLING/YARD WAS 21,803.84

10/30/2014 39704 U. S. POST OFFICE FIRST CLASS PRESORT/FEE FOR RENEWAL 220.00

10/30/2014 39705 WOODSIDE BUILDERS INC DEMO 2 RESIDENTIAL BLDGS 17,803.00

GEN TOTALS:

Total of 126 Disbursements: 480,527.84

City Council Packet 89 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 90 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 91 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 92 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 93 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 94 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 95 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 96 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 97 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 98 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 99 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 100 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 101 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 102 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 103 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 104 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 105 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 106 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 107 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 108 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 109 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 110 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 111 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 112 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 113 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 114 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 115 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 116 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 117 November 10, 2014



11/7/2014

1

ASSET MANAGEMENT PRESENTATION – CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK

AGENDA

 I. Asset Management Overview

 II. Street Inventory

 III. Capital Plan Strategy

 IV. Example Project

City Council Packet 118 November 10, 2014



11/7/2014

2

WHAT IS ASSET MANAGEMENT?

 Planning for cost effective preservation of a 
physical asset

STREET LIFE CYCLE

City Council Packet 119 November 10, 2014



11/7/2014

3

KEY ELEMENTS

 1. Existing Conditions

 2. Level of Service

 3. Planned Actions

 4. Financing Strategy

STREET INVENTORY

 1. Evaluate Existing 
Conditions

 2. Establish Method of 
Treatment

 3. Develop Budget for 
Improvements

City Council Packet 120 November 10, 2014



11/7/2014

4

CITY STREET NETWORK

 22 Miles of Major/Local Streets

STREET INVENTORY

 Existing Conditions
 Paser Rating

9                                           4                                       1

GOOD: 6-10 FAIR:  4-5 POOR:  1-3

City Council Packet 121 November 10, 2014



11/7/2014

5

OVERALL RATINGS

51%
48%

1%

Poor

Fair

Good

MAJOR STREET RATINGS

47%

53%

Poor

Fair

Good

City Council Packet 122 November 10, 2014



11/7/2014

6

2014 LOCAL STREET RATINGS

71%

28%

1%

Poor

Fair

Good

TREATMENT METHODS

 Selecting the right application at the right time

City Council Packet 123 November 10, 2014



11/7/2014

7

EXAMPLE PROJECT 

STREET LIFE CYCLE IMPROVEMENTS

City Council Packet 124 November 10, 2014



11/7/2014

8

CAPITAL PLAN STRATEGY

 NEXT STEPS
 -Establish goals for level of service/define annual 

community investment (more $$ = more rehab, 
replacement, & maintenance)

 -Establish prioritization strategy (which streets, when)

 -Outline a schedule of future improvements
 Bonded improvements (front loading repairs)

On-going improvements (more maintenance focused)

EXISTING CONDITIONS

71%

28%

1%

Poor

Fair

Good

EXISTING CONDITIONS - 2014 DO NOTHING - 2034

99%

1%

Poor

Fair

City Council Packet 125 November 10, 2014



11/7/2014

9

INVESTMENT STRATEGIES

$0.5MIL ANNUALLY - 2034
$1.0MIL ANNUALLY - 2034

40%

32%

28%
Poor

Fair

Good

CITY STREET FUNDS

 $281,000 gas tax state revenues
 $180,000 operating expenses
 $~100,000 annually for projects
 Construction federal match is 4 to 1

 Example: $100,000 local funds can 
repair $500,000 of roads

 2015 Miller Road project is ~$2M, 
with $400k contribution

 Current Status: Fund is solvent with 
sufficient capital improvement 
dollars for a fair level of service

 $97,500 gas tax & other state 
revenues

 $125,000 operating expenses
 -$27,500 annually for projects
 No reliable construction match
 Current Impact: Fund is 

subsidized by general fund for 
operations to make up for the 
operating short fall, no capital 
improvement funds are 
available

Major Streets Local Streets

Findings: The $100k ($500k after federal leverage) annual capital improvement 
budget is adequate for major streets. Similar results are expected from a 
matching investment into local streets.

City Council Packet 126 November 10, 2014



11/7/2014

10

Revenues Sources

 Direct cost to property owners 
with street frontage

 Paid over 5-10 years with 
taxes

 Benefits: cost is that of actual 
improvement, process is quick, 
and improvements are 
guaranteed

 Downsides: No cost 
distribution to businesses or 
other users (think roads with 
schools)

 Cost to all taxpayers based upon 
taxable value

 Usually approved for 10-20 years
 Benefits: payments are lower than 

assessments, improvements span 
entire city, program is sustainable

 Downsides: Improvements can vary, 
while payments stay the same 
(home A had their street rebuilt, 
while home B’s had their street 
resurfaced); improvements are less 
certain (think year 19 of the plan)

Assessment Levy

LEVEL OF SERVICE AND COSTS

Assessments could range from $100/year to over $1,000/year
 $800,000 over ~80 lots is $10,000 assessment/lot for Worchester 

reconstruction

Assessment

Levy

Levy Impacts on Homes 1 mil ($135/yr) 3.7 mil ($500k/yr) 7.4 mil ($1M/yr)

Month Year Month Year Month Year

Home Value $70,000 ($35,000 taxable) $2.92 $35.00 $10.79 $129.50 $21.58 $259.00

Home Value $100,000 ($50,000 taxable) $4.17 $50.00 $15.42 $185.00 $30.83 $370.00

Home Value $150,000 ($75,000 taxable) $6.25 $75.00 $23.13 $277.50 $46.25 $555.00

City Council Packet 127 November 10, 2014



11/7/2014

11

WHAT NOW?

 New revenues? 
 If so, assessment or 

levy?

 Established 20 year 
plan or year-by-year?

 Bond or no bond?

 Bid projects for 
construction in summer 
of 2015

 Develop street review 
committee?

 Hold ballot initiative in 
May 2015 OR seek 
assessments

Community Vision Governmental Process

City Council Packet 128 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 129 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 130 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 131 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 132 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 133 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 134 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 135 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 136 November 10, 2014



City Council Packet 137 November 10, 2014



   
 
 
 

 State of Michigan 
 
 
 
 

National Pollutant Discharge  
Elimination System 

 
Permit Application for Discharge of 

Storm Water to Surface Waters of the State from a 
Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY 
WATER RESOURCES DIVISION 
PERMITS SECTION 
P.O. BOX 30458 
LANSING, MICHIGAN 48909-7958 
TELEPHONE:  517-284-5568 
FAX:  517-241-9003 

City Council Packet 138 November 10, 2014



Michigan Department of Environmental Quality – Water Resources Division 

STORM WATER DISCHARGE PERMIT APPLICATION  
 

  ii 

Do Not Return This Page with the Completed Application 
PURPOSE AND AUTHORITY   
The National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Program protects the surface waters of the state by assuring that 
discharges of wastewater comply with state and federal regulations. Anyone discharging or proposing to discharge wastewater to the 
surface waters of the state are required to make application for and obtain a valid NPDES permit prior to wastewater discharge.   
 
NPDES permits are required under Section 402 of the Federal Clean Water Act (the “Federal Act”), as amended (33 U.S.C. 1251 et 
seq., P.L. 92-500, 95-217), and under Part 31, Water Resources Protection, of Michigan’s “Natural Resources and Environmental 
Protection Act”, 1994 PA 451, as amended (NREPA).  Part 31 of the NREPA also provides authority for the State to issue NPDES 
permits.  The Michigan Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) administers the NPDES permit program for the State of Michigan. 
 
This Application should be used to apply for a storm water discharge from a regulated Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) 
to the surface waters of the state.    

ELIGIBLE PERMITTEES   
Except as excluded below, any public body that owns or operates a regulated MS4 may be eligible for permit coverage including, but 
not limited to, the United States, the State of Michigan, a city, village, township, county, public school district, public college or 
university, a single purpose governmental agency, or any other governing body which is created by federal or state statute or law. 
 
The DEQ will determine eligibility for permit coverage.   
 
Nongovernmental entities, such as individuals, private schools, private colleges, and private universities, or industrial and commercial 
entities, are not eligible for permit coverage.   

PENALTIES   
The information in this Application is required by the Part 21 Rules of the NREPA.  A municipality, business, or industry that violates the 
Part 21 Rules may be enjoined by action commenced by the Attorney General in a court of competent jurisdiction.   
 
Federal and State laws provide penalties for submitting false application information.  The laws imposing those penalties are cited 
below.   
 
The Federal Act, Section 309(c)(4):  “Any person who knowingly makes any false material statement, representation, or certification in 
any application, record, report, plan, or other document filed or required to be maintained under this chapter or who knowingly falsifies, 
tampers with, or renders inaccurate any monitoring device or method required to be maintained under this chapter, shall upon 
conviction, be punished by a fine of not more than $10,000, or by imprisonment for not more than 2 years, or by both.  If a conviction of 
a person is for a violation committed after a first conviction of such person under this paragraph, punishment shall be a fine of not more 
than $20,000 per day of violation, or by imprisonment of not more than 4 years, or by both.”   
 
The NREPA, Section 3115(2):  “A person who at the time of the violation knew or should have known that he or she discharged a 
substance contrary to this part, or contrary to a permit or order issued or rule promulgated under this part, or who intentionally makes a 
false statement, representation, or certification in an application form pertaining to a permit or in a notice or report required by the terms 
and conditions of an issued permit, or who intentionally renders inaccurate a monitoring device or record required to be maintained by 
the department, is guilty of a felony and shall be fined not less than $2,500.00 or more than $25,000.00 for each violation.  The court 
may impose an additional fine of not more than $25,000.00 for each day during which the unlawful discharge occurred.  If the conviction 
is for a violation committed after a first conviction of the person under this subsection, the court shall impose a fine of not less than 
$25,000.00 per day and not more than $50,000.00 per day of violation.  Upon conviction, in addition to a fine, the court, in its discretion 
may sentence the defendant to imprisonment for not more than 2 years or impose probation upon a person for a violation of this part.  
With the exception of the issuance of criminal complaints, issuance of warrants, and the holding of an arraignment, the circuit court for 
the county in which the violation occurred has exclusive jurisdiction.  However, the person shall not be subject to the penalties of this 
subsection if the discharge of the effluent is in conformance with and obedient to a rule, order, or permit of the department.  In addition 
to a fine, the attorney general may file a civil suit in a court of competent jurisdiction to recover the full value of the injuries done to the 
natural resources of the state and the costs of surveillance and enforcement by the state resulting from the violation.” 
 
The Michigan Department of Environmental Quality will not discriminate against any individual or group on the basis of race, sex, 
religion, age, national origin, color, marital status, disability, or political beliefs.  Questions or concerns should be directed to the 
Office of Personnel Services, P.O. Box 30473, Lansing, MI 48909. 

City Council Packet 139 November 10, 2014



Michigan Department of Environmental Quality – Water Resources Division 

STORM WATER DISCHARGE PERMIT APPLICATION  
 

  1                        EQP5993 (Rev. 10/2014) 

PLEASE TYPE OR PRINT 
 
Applicants for either new permit coverage or reissuance of a permit shall include all of the following requested information 
for Sections I-VIII.  

SECTION I.  APPLICANT NAME AND MAILING ADDRESS 
 
      

Current Permit/COC Number (if applicable) 
 
      

Additional Applicant Name Information 
 
      
Street Address or P.O. Box 
 
      

e-mail 
 
      

City or Village 
 
      

State 
 
      

ZIP Code 
 
      

Telephone  (with area code) 
 
      

FAX Number  (with area code) 
 
      

SE
C

TI
O

N
 II

. C
O

N
TA

C
TS

 

 Application Contact 
 Storm Water Program           
Manager 

 Storm Water Billing 

First Name  
      

Last Name 
      

Title 
      

Business 
      

Address 1 
      

Address 2  
      

City 
      

State 
      

ZIP Code 
      

Telephone (with area code) 
      

FAX (with area code) 
      

e-mail 
      

 Application Contact 
 Storm Water Program 
Manager 

 Storm Water Billing 

First Name  
      

Last Name 
      

Title 
      

Business 
      

Address 1 
      

Address 2  
      

City 
      

State 
      

ZIP Code 
      

Telephone (with area code) 
      

FAX (with area code) 
      

e-mail 
      

 Application Contact 
 Storm Water Program 
Manager 

 Storm Water Billing 

First Name  
      

Last Name 
      

Title 
      

Business 
      

Address 1 
      

Address 2  
      

City 
      

State 
      

Zip Code 
      

Telephone (with area code) 
      

FAX (with area code) 
      

e-mail 
      

SECTION III. 
PERMIT ACTION REQUESTED:   

  New Authorization                 

  Reissuance of Previous Authorization  

  Modification of Current Permit 

SECTION IV.  REGULATED AREA 
Provide a map identifying the urbanized area within the applicant’s jurisdictional boundary as defined by the 2010 Census.  The 
regulated municipal separate storm sewer system (MS4) means an MS4 owned or operated by a city, village, township, county, 
district, association, or other public body created by or pursuant to state law and the nested MS4 identified in Section VI. that is 
located in an urbanized area and discharges storm water into surface waters of the state.  The 2010 Census maps are located 
at http://www.michigan.gov/documents/deq/wrd-stormwater-urbanizedareas_374344_7.pdf 

City Council Packet 140 November 10, 2014

http://www.michigan.gov/documents/deq/wrd-stormwater-urbanizedareas_374344_7.pdf


Michigan Department of Environmental Quality – Water Resources Division 

STORM WATER DISCHARGE PERMIT APPLICATION  
 

  2                        EQP5993 (Rev. 10/2014) 

SECTION V.  OUTFALLS AND POINTS OF DISCHARGE  
Identify and provide the surface water of the state that receives the discharge from each of the applicant’s outfalls and points of discharge 
in Table 1 or an alternative format.   Please note that an MS4 is not a surface water of the state.  For example, an open county drain that 
is a surface water of the state is not an MS4.   
SECTION VI.  NESTED JURISDICTIONS 
Submit the name and general description of each nested MS4 for which a cooperative agreement has been reached to carry out the 
terms and conditions of the permit for the nested jurisdiction.  The applicant shall be responsible for assuring compliance with the permit 
for those nested jurisdictions with which they have entered into an agreement and listed as part of the Application.  If the primary 
jurisdiction and the nested jurisdiction agree to cooperate so that the terms and conditions of the permit are met for the nested MS4, the 
nested jurisdiction does not need to apply for a separate permit.   A city, village, or township shall not be a nested jurisdiction.   
 
NESTED JURISDICTION NAME AND GENERAL DESCRIPTION:   
      

SECTION VII.  STORM WATER MANAGEMENT PROGRAM 
This Application requires a description of the Best Management Practices (BMPs) the applicant will implement for each minimum control 
measure and the applicable water quality requirements during this permit cycle.  The applicant shall incorporate the BMPs to develop a 
Storm Water Management Program (SWMP) as part of the Application.  The SWMP shall be developed, implemented, and enforced to 
reduce the discharge of pollutants from the MS4 to the Maximum Extent Practicable and protect water quality in accordance with the 
appropriate water quality requirements of the NREPA 451, Public Acts of 1994, Part 31, and the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as 
amended, (33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq.).  The Maximum Extent Practicable may be met by implementing the BMPs identified in the SWMP 
and demonstrating the effectiveness of the BMPs.  The applicant shall attach any appropriate and necessary documentation to 
demonstrate compliance with the six minimum control measures and applicable water quality requirements as part of the Application. 
 
The applicant shall complete this Application to the best of its knowledge and ensure that it is true, accurate, and meets the minimum 
requirements for a SWMP to the Maximum Extent Practicable. 
 
When answering the questions in this section of the Application, the applicant’s MS4 encompasses what the applicant identified in 
Sections IV, V, and VI, above.  The applicant shall include a measurable goal for each BMP.  Each measurable goal shall include, as 
appropriate, a schedule for BMP implementation (months and years), including interim milestones and the frequency of the action.  Each 
measurable goal shall have a measure of assessment to measure progress towards achieving the measurable goal.  A United States 
Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) guidance document on measurable goals is available 
at http://www.epa.gov/npdes/pubs/measurablegoals.pdf. 
 
Several minimum control measures include a statement requesting the applicant to indicate in the response if you are, or will be, working 
collaboratively with watershed or regional partners on any or all activities to meet the minimum control measure requirements.  If the 
applicant chooses to work collaboratively with watershed or regional partners to implement parts of the SWMP, each applicant will be 
responsible for complying with the minimum permit requirements. 
  
For purposes of this Application a procedure means a written process, policy or other mechanism describing how the applicant 
will implement minimum requirements.  It may be helpful to read all questions in each section first.   
 
Enforcement Response Procedure (ERP) 
The applicant shall describe the current and proposed enforcement responses to address violations of the applicant’s ordinances and 
regulatory mechanisms identified in the SWMP.  The following question represents the minimum requirement for the ERP.  Please 
complete the question below.   

 
1. Provide the ERP.  The ERP shall include the applicant’s expected response to violations to compel compliance with an ordinance or 

regulatory mechanism implemented by the applicant in the SWMP (e.g., written notices, citations, and fines).  The ERP shall contain 
a method for tracking instances of non-compliance, including, as appropriate, the name of the person responsible for violating the 
applicant’s ordinance or regulatory mechanism, the date and location of the violation, a description of the violation, a description of 
the enforcement response used, a schedule for returning to compliance, and the date the violation was resolved.  The applicant may 
keep an electronic file or hard copy file of the enforcement tracking. 
 
ERP Reference (page and paragraph of attachments): e.g., Attachment A, Page 3, Section b.          

 
Public Participation/Involvement Program (PPP) 
The applicant shall describe the current and proposed BMPs to meet the minimum control measure requirements for the PPP to the 
maximum extent practicable, which shall be incorporated into the SWMP.  Please indicate in your response if you are, or will be, working 
collaboratively with watershed or regional partners on any or all activities in the PPP during the permit cycle (i.e., identify collaborative 
efforts in the procedures).  The following questions represent the minimum control measure requirements for the PPP.  Please complete 
all the questions below.   A measurable goal with a measure of assessment shall be included for each BMP, and, as appropriate, a 
schedule for implementation (months and years), including interim milestones and the frequency of the BMP. 
 
 
 

City Council Packet 141 November 10, 2014

http://www.epa.gov/npdes/pubs/measurablegoals.pdf


Michigan Department of Environmental Quality – Water Resources Division 

STORM WATER DISCHARGE PERMIT APPLICATION  
 

   3 EQP5993 (Rev. 10/2014) 

 
2. Provide the procedure for making the SWMP available for public inspection and comment.  The procedure shall include a process for 

notifying the public when and where the SWMP is available and of opportunities to provide comment.  The procedure shall also 
include a process for complying with local public notice requirements, as appropriate. 

 
 Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments): e.g., Attachment A, Page 3, Section b.        

 
3. Provide the procedure for inviting public involvement and participation in the implementation and periodic review of the SWMP. 
 

Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
 
Public Education Program (PEP) 
The applicant shall describe the current and proposed BMPs to meet the minimum control measure requirements for the PEP to the 
maximum extent practicable, which shall be incorporated into the SWMP.  Please indicate in your response if you are, or will be, working 
collaboratively with watershed or regional partners on any or all activities in the PEP during the permit cycle. The following questions 
represent the minimum requirements for the PEP.  Please complete all the questions below.  A measurable goal with a measure of 
assessment shall be included for each BMP, and, as appropriate, a schedule for implementation (months and years), including interim 
milestones and the frequency of the BMP.  The responses shall reflect the nested MS4s identified in Section VI.   
 
4. Provide the procedure with the assessment of high priority, community-wide issues and targeted issues to reduce pollutants in storm 

water runoff as part of the PEP.  The assessment shall include a list of the priority issues.   
 Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments): e.g., Attachment A, Page 3, Section b       
 Not applicable – PEP topics will not be prioritized.  

 
5. The applicant shall identify applicable PEP topics below and, if prioritizing topics, prioritize based on the assessment in Question 4.  

The PEP topics may be prioritized as high, medium, and low or in order from 1-11 based on the assigned priority level (e.g., 1 being 
the highest priority topic and 11 being the lowest priority topic).  For each applicable topic, identify the target audience; key message; 
delivery mechanism; year and frequency the BMP will be implemented; and the responsible party.   
 
For each topic below, complete one or more of the following 
• Fill out Table 2 for each applicable PEP topic. 
• Reference the page number in your existing PEP document. 
• Explain why the PEP activity is not applicable or a priority issue. 

 
A. Promote public responsibility and stewardship in the applicant’s watershed(s). 
 Priority Ranking        
   See Table 2  

   Attach existing approved PEP (page and paragraph of attachments):       
   Not applicable.  Provide explanation below. 
      

 
B. Inform and educate the public about the connection of the MS4 to area waterbodies and the potential impacts discharges could 

have on surface waters of the state. 
 Priority Ranking       
   See Table 2  

   Attach existing approved PEP (page and paragraph of attachments):       
   Not applicable.  Provide explanation below. 
      

 
C. Educate the public on illicit discharges and promote public reporting of illicit discharges and improper disposal of materials into 

the MS4. 
Priority Ranking        

   See Table 2  
   Attach existing approved PEP (page and paragraph of attachments):       

   Not applicable.  Provide explanation below. 
      

 
 
 
 
 

City Council Packet 142 November 10, 2014



Michigan Department of Environmental Quality – Water Resources Division 

STORM WATER DISCHARGE PERMIT APPLICATION  
 

   4 EQP5993 (Rev. 10/2014) 

 
D. Promote preferred cleaning materials and procedures for car, pavement, and power washing. 
 Priority Ranking       
   See Table 2  

   Attach existing approved PEP (page and paragraph of attachments):       
   Not applicable.  Provide explanation below. 
      

 
E. Inform and educate the public on proper application and disposal of pesticides, herbicides, and fertilizers. 
 Priority Ranking        
   See Table 2  

   Attach existing approved PEP (page and paragraph of attachments):       
   Not applicable.  Provide explanation below. 
      

 
F. Promote proper disposal practices for grass clippings, leaf litter, and animal wastes that may enter into the MS4. 
 Priority Ranking       
   See Table 2  

   Attach existing approved PEP (page and paragraph of attachments):       
   Not applicable.  Provide explanation below. 
      

 
G. Identify and promote the availability, location, and requirements of facilities for collection or disposal of household hazardous 

wastes, travel trailer sanitary wastes, chemicals, and motor vehicle fluids. 
 Priority Ranking        
   See Table 2  

   Attach existing approved PEP (page and paragraph of attachments):       
   Not applicable.  Provide explanation below. 
      

 
H. Inform and educate the public on proper septic system care and maintenance, and how to recognize system failure. 
 Priority Ranking       
   See Table 2  

   Attach existing approved PEP (page and paragraph of attachments):       
   Not applicable.  Provide explanation below. 
      

 
I. Educate the public on, and promote the benefits of, green infrastructure and Low Impact Development.  
 Priority Ranking       
   See Table 2  

    Attach existing approved PEP (page and paragraph of attachments):       
   Not applicable.  Provide explanation below. 
      

 
J. Promote methods for managing riparian lands to protect water quality.  
 Priority Ranking       
   See Table 2  

   Attach existing approved PEP (page and paragraph of attachments):       
   Not applicable.  Provide explanation on the next page. 
      

 
 
 
 

City Council Packet 143 November 10, 2014



Michigan Department of Environmental Quality – Water Resources Division 

STORM WATER DISCHARGE PERMIT APPLICATION  
 

   5 EQP5993 (Rev. 10/2014) 

 
K. Identify and educate commercial, industrial, and institutional entities likely to contribute pollutants to storm water runoff.  

  Priority Ranking       
   See Table 2  

   Attach existing approved PEP (page and paragraph of attachments):       
   Not applicable.  Provide explanation below. 
      

 
6. Provide the procedure for evaluating and determining the effectiveness of the overall PEP.  The procedure shall include a method for 

assessing changes in public awareness and behavior resulting from the implementation of the PEP and the process for modifying 
the PEP to address ineffective implementation.   
 
Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       

 
Illicit Discharge Elimination Program (IDEP) 
The applicant shall describe the current and proposed BMPs to meet the minimum control measure requirements for the IDEP to the 
Maximum Extent Practicable, which shall be incorporated into the SWMP.  Please indicate in your response if you are or will be working 
collaboratively with watershed or regional partners on any or all BMPs in the IDEP during the permit cycle (e.g., identify collaborative 
efforts in the procedures).  The following questions represent the minimum control measure requirements for the IDEP.  Please complete 
all the questions below.  A measurable goal with a measure of assessment shall be included for each BMP, and, as appropriate, a 
schedule for implementation (months and years), including interim milestones and the frequency of the BMP.  The responses shall reflect 
the nested MS4s identified in Section VI.   
 
The following definitions apply to the terms used below: 
• Illicit Discharge:  Any discharge to, or seepage into, an MS4 that is not composed entirely of storm water or uncontaminated 

groundwater except discharges pursuant to an NPDES permit.  A discharge that originates from the applicant’s property and meets 
the illicit discharge definition is considered an illicit discharge.   

• Illicit Connection:  A physical connection to an MS4 that primarily conveys non-storm water discharges other than uncontaminated 
groundwater into the MS4; or a physical connection not authorized or permitted by the local authority, where a local authority 
requires authorization or a permit for physical connections.  

 
The Center for Watershed Protection has a guide on developing and implementing an IDEP available 
at http://www.epa.gov/npdes/pubs/idde_manualwithappendices.pdf.  This guide is a useful tool to assist with completing the Application.   
 
Storm Sewer System Map 
 
7. Provide the location where an up-to-date storm sewer system map(s) is available.  The map(s) shall identify the following: the storm 

sewer system, the location of all outfalls and points of discharge, and the names and location of the surface waters of the state that 
receive discharges from the permittee’s MS4 (for both outfalls and points of discharge).  A separate storm sewer system includes:  
roads, catch basins, curbs, gutters, parking lots, ditches, conduits, pumping devices, and man-made channels.  A storm sewer 
system map(s) may include available diagrams, such as certification maps, road maps showing rights-of-way, as-built drawings, or 
other hard copy or digital representation of the storm sewer system.   

 
The map (or maps) is available at the following location:  e.g., The Department of Public Works front office       

 
Illicit Discharge Identification and Investigation 
 
8. Provide the procedure for prioritizing the applicant’s MS4 for detecting non-storm water discharges.  The goal of the prioritization 

process is to target areas with high illicit discharge potential.  The procedure shall document the process for selecting each priority 
area using the list below.   

• Areas with older infrastructure 
• Industrial, commercial, or mixed use areas 
• Areas with a history of past illicit discharges 
• Areas with a history of illegal dumping 
• Areas with septic systems 
• Areas with older sewer lines or with a history of sewer overflows or cross-connections 
• Areas with sewer conversions or historic combined sewer systems 
• Areas with poor dry-weather water quality 
• Areas with water quality impacts, including waterbodies identified in a Total Maximum Daily Load 
• Priority areas applicable to the applicant not identified above 
 
 
 

City Council Packet 144 November 10, 2014

http://www.epa.gov/npdes/pubs/idde_manualwithappendices.pdf


Michigan Department of Environmental Quality – Water Resources Division 

STORM WATER DISCHARGE PERMIT APPLICATION  
 

   6 EQP5993 (Rev. 10/2014) 

  
 Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments): e.g., Attachment A, Page 3, Section b       
 Not applicable – The applicant will perform illicit discharge identification and investigation throughout the entire MS4.  Skip to 
Question 10.  

 
9. Provide the geographical location of each prioritized area using either a narrative description or map and identify the prioritized areas 

that will be targeted during the permit cycle.  
 
IDEP Prioritized Areas (page and paragraph of attachments):       
 

10. Provide the procedure for performing field observations at all outfalls and points of discharge in the priority areas as identified in the 
procedure above or for the entire MS4 during dry-weather at least once during the permit cycle. The procedure shall include a 
schedule for completing the field observations during the permit cycle or more expeditiously if the applicant becomes aware of a non-
storm water discharge.  As part of the procedure, the applicant may submit an interagency agreement with the owner or operator of 
the downstream MS4 identifying responsibilities for ensuring an illicit discharge is eliminated if originating from the applicant’s 
point(s) of discharge. The interagency agreement would eliminate the requirement for performing a field observation at that point(s) 
of discharge.    
 
The focus of the field observation shall be to observe the following: 
• Presence/absence of flow • Water clarity  
• Deposits/stains on the discharge structure or bank  • Color 
• Vegetation condition • Odor  
• Structural condition  • Floatable materials  
• Biology, such as bacterial sheens, algae, and slimes    

 
Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
 

11. Provide the procedure for performing field screening if flow is observed at an outfall or point of discharge and the source of an illicit 
discharge is not identified during the field observation.  Field screening shall include analyzing the discharge for indicator parameters 
(e.g., ammonia, fluoride, detergents, and pH).  The procedure shall include a schedule for performing field screening.   
 
Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
 

12. Provide the procedure for performing a source investigation if the source of an illicit discharge is not identified by field screening.   
The procedure shall include a schedule for performing a source investigation.   

 
Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
 

13. Provide the procedure for responding to illegal dumping/spills.  The procedure shall include a schedule for responding to complaints, 
performing field observations, and follow-up field screening and source investigations as appropriate.   

 
Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
 

14. Provide the procedure for responding to illicit discharges upon becoming aware of such a discharge outside of the priority areas.  
The procedure shall include a schedule for performing field observations, and follow-up field screening and source investigations as 
appropriate.   

 Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
 Not applicable – Field observations will be conducted at all outfalls and points of discharge 

 
15. Provide the procedure that includes a requirement to immediately report any release of any polluting materials from the MS4 to the 

surface waters or groundwaters of the state, unless a determination is made that the release is not in excess of the threshold 
reporting quantities in the Part 5 Rules, by calling the appropriate MDEQ District Office, or if the notice is provided after regular 
working hours call the MDEQ’s 24-Hour Pollution Emergency Alerting System telephone number:  800-292-4706. 

 
Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
 

16. If the procedures requested in Questions 8 through 14 do not accurately reflect the applicant’s procedure(s), describe the alternative 
approach to meet the minimum requirements.   
      

  Not applicable 
 
17. Provide the procedure for responding to illicit discharges once the source is identified.  The procedure shall include a schedule to 

eliminate the illicit discharge and pursue enforcement actions.  The procedure shall also address illegal spills/dumping.   
 

Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
City Council Packet 145 November 10, 2014

http://www.michigan.gov/deq/0,1607,7-135-3313_23420---,00.html
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/deq/wrd-muni-sw_344963_7.pdf


Michigan Department of Environmental Quality – Water Resources Division 

STORM WATER DISCHARGE PERMIT APPLICATION  
 

   7 EQP5993 (Rev. 10/2014) 

 
IDEP Training and Evaluation 
 
18. Provide the program to train staff employed by the applicant on the following topics.  The program shall include a training schedule 

for this permit cycle.  It is recommended that staff be trained more than once per permit cycle. 
• Techniques for identifying an illicit discharge or connection, including field observation, field screening, and source 

investigation. 
• Procedures for reporting, responding to, and eliminating an illicit discharge or connection and the proper enforcement 

response.   
• The schedule and requirement for training at least once during the term of this permit cycle for existing staff and within the 

first year of hire for new staff.   
 

Program Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
 

19. Provide the procedure for evaluating and determining the overall effectiveness of the IDEP.  The procedure shall include a schedule 
for implementation.  Examples of evaluating overall effectiveness include, but are not limited to, the following:  evaluate the 
prioritization process to determine if efforts are being maximized in areas with high illicit discharge potential; evaluate the 
effectiveness of using different detection methods; evaluate the number of discharges and/or quantity of discharges eliminated using 
different enforcement methods; and evaluate program efficiency and staff training frequency.   
 
Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       

 
Illicit Discharge Ordinance 
 
20. Provide the ordinance or regulatory mechanism in effect that prohibits non-storm water discharges into the applicant’s MS4 (except 

the non-storm water discharges addressed in Questions 21 and 22).   
 
Ordinance number(s) or regulatory mechanism title(s) (attach a copy):       

 
21. Does the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism exclude prohibiting the discharges or flows from firefighting activities to the 

applicant’s MS4 and require that these discharges or flows only be addressed if they are identified as significant sources of 
pollutants to waters of the State?  The ordinance shall not authorize illicit discharges; however, the applicant may choose to exclude 
prohibiting the discharges and flows from firefighting activities if they are identified as not being significant sources of pollutants to 
waters of the state.   

  Yes, ordinance or regulatory mechanism reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
  Not applicable – All non-storm water discharges into the applicant’s MS4 will be prohibited.  

 
22. Does the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism prohibit the following categories of non-storm water discharges or flows if 

identified as significant contributors to violations of Water Quality Standards?  The ordinance shall not authorize illicit discharges; 
however, the applicant may choose to exclude prohibiting the following discharges or flows if they are identified as not being a 
significant contributor to violations of Water Quality Standards.   

a. Water line flushing and discharges from potable water sources 
b. Landscape irrigation runoff, lawn watering runoff, and irrigation waters 
c. Diverted stream flows and flows from riparian habitats and wetlands 
d. Rising groundwaters and springs 
e. Uncontaminated groundwater infiltration and seepage 
f. Uncontaminated pumped groundwater, except for groundwater cleanups specifically authorized by NPDES permits 
g. Foundation drains, water from crawl space pumps, footing drains, and basement sump pumps 
h. Air conditioning condensation 
i. Waters from noncommercial car washing 
j. Street wash water 
k. Dechlorinated swimming pool water from single, two, or three family residences.  (A swimming pool operated by the 

permittee shall not be discharged to a separate storm sewer or to surface waters of the state without NPDES permit 
authorization from the MDEQ.) 

 
  Yes, ordinance or regulatory mechanism reference (page and paragraph of attachments):        
  Not applicable – All non-storm water discharges into the applicant’s MS4 will be prohibited.  

 
23. Provide the ordinance or regulatory mechanism that regulates the contribution of pollutants to the applicant’s MS4. 

 
Ordinance or regulatory mechanism reference (page and paragraph of attachments):        

 
24. Provide the ordinance or regulatory mechanism that prohibits illicit discharges, including illicit connections and the direct dumping or 

disposal of materials into the applicant’s MS4. 
 
Ordinance or regulatory mechanism reference (page and paragraph of attachments):        

City Council Packet 146 November 10, 2014



Michigan Department of Environmental Quality – Water Resources Division 

STORM WATER DISCHARGE PERMIT APPLICATION  
 

   8 EQP5993 (Rev. 10/2014) 

 
25. Provide the ordinance or regulatory mechanism with the authority established to inspect, investigate, and monitor suspected illicit 

discharges into the applicant’s MS4. 
 
Ordinance or regulatory mechanism reference (page and paragraph of attachments):        

 
26. Provide the ordinance or regulatory mechanism that requires and enforces elimination of illicit discharges into the applicant’s MS4, 

including providing the applicant the authority to eliminate the illicit discharge. 
 
Ordinance or regulatory mechanism reference (page and paragraph of attachments):        
 

Construction Storm Water Runoff Control Program 
The applicant shall describe the current and proposed BMPs to meet the minimum control measure requirements for the construction 
storm water runoff control program to the maximum extent practicable, which shall be incorporated into the SWMP.  Please indicate in 
your response if you are or will be working collaboratively with watershed or regional partners on any or all requirements of this program 
during the permit cycle.  The following questions represent the minimum control measure requirements for the construction storm water 
runoff control program.  Please complete all the questions below.  A measurable goal with a measure of assessment shall be included for 
each BMP, and, as appropriate, a schedule for implementation (months and years), including interim milestones and the frequency of the 
BMP.  The responses shall reflect the nested MS4s identified in Section VI.   
 
Qualifying Local Soil Erosion and Sedimentation Control Programs 
 
27. Is the applicant a Part 91 Agency?  A list of Part 91 agencies is available at  http://www.michigan.gov/deq/0,4561,7-135-3311_4113-

8870--,00.html. 
Yes.  Choose type:    County Enforcing Agency     Municipal Enforcing Agency      Authorized Public Agency 

  No, the applicant relies on the following Qualifying Local Soil Erosion and Sedimentation Control Program (Part 91 Agency)  
      

 
Construction Storm Water Runoff Control 
 
28. Provide the procedure with the process for notifying the Part 91 Agency or appropriate staff when soil or sediment is discharged to 

the applicant’s MS4 from a construction activity.  The procedure shall allow for the receipt and consideration of complaints or other 
information submitted by the public or identified internally as it relates to construction storm water runoff control.  For non-Part 91 
agencies, consideration of complaints may include referring the complaint to the qualifying local Soil Erosion and Sedimentation 
Control Program as appropriate.  Construction activity is defined pursuant to Part 21, Wastewater Discharge Permits, Rule 323.2102 
(K). The applicant may consider as part of their procedure when and under what circumstances the Part 91 Agency or appropriate 
staff will be contacted. 
 

Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments): e.g., Attachment A, Page 3, Section b       
 

29. Provide the procedure for when to notify the MDEQ when soil, sediment, or other pollutants are discharged to the applicant’s MS4 
from a construction activity.  Other pollutants include pesticides, petroleum derivatives, construction chemicals, and solid wastes that 
may become mobilized when land surfaces are disturbed.  The applicant may consider as part of their procedure when and under 
what circumstances the MDEQ will be contacted. 

 
Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       

 
30. Provide the procedure for ensuring that construction activity one acre or greater in total earth disturbance with the potential to 

discharge to the applicant’s MS4 obtains a Part 91 permit, or is conducted by an approved Authorized Public Agency as appropriate.  
Note:  For applicants that conduct site plan review, the procedure must be triggered at the site plan review stage. 

 
Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       

 
31. Provide the procedure to advise the landowner or recorded easement holder of the property where the construction activity will occur 

of the State of Michigan Permit by Rule (Rule 323.2190). 
 

Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
 
Post-Construction Storm Water Runoff Program 
Post-construction storm water runoff controls are necessary to maintain or restore stable hydrology in receiving waters by limiting surface 
runoff rates and volumes and reducing pollutant loadings from sites that undergo development or significant redevelopment.   
The applicant shall describe the current and proposed BMPs to meet the minimum control measure requirements for the post-
construction storm water runoff program to the maximum extent practicable, which shall be incorporated into the SWMP.  Please 
complete the questions below as appropriate.  If the “No” response is selected but a date is requested for the minimum requirement to  
 

City Council Packet 147 November 10, 2014

http://www.michigan.gov/deq/0,4561,7-135-3311_4113-8870--,00.html
http://www.michigan.gov/deq/0,4561,7-135-3311_4113-8870--,00.html


Michigan Department of Environmental Quality – Water Resources Division 

STORM WATER DISCHARGE PERMIT APPLICATION  
 

   9 EQP5993 (Rev. 10/2014) 

 
be available, please provide a date to meet the minimum requirement.  All dates provided by the applicant in this Application should be 
on or before October 1, 2015.  Some questions are set up to allow for additional responses to meet the minimum requirements.  If space 
is not available for an additional response, then the minimum requirement must be met in accordance with the question.  A measurable 
goal with a measure of assessment shall be included for each BMP, and, as appropriate, a schedule for implementation (months and 
years), including interim milestones and the frequency of the BMP.  The responses shall reflect the nested MS4s identified in Section VI.   
 
An applicant may reference in its ordinance or regulatory mechanism other technical documents used to implement the post-construction 
storm water runoff program.  For example, an applicant may answer a question with a reference to a performance or technical standards 
document in the ordinance and the reference in the technical document.  When referencing the ordinance, regulatory mechanism, or 
other technical documents, attach the document and provide the page and paragraph reference.   
 
The MDEQ has the following resources available to assist with development of a Post-Construction Storm Water Runoff Program. 

• A Post-Construction Storm Water Runoff Program Compliance Assistance Document available 
at www.michigan.gov/documents/deq/wrd-storm-MS4-ComplianceAssistance_470350_7.pdf  

• A manual titled Low Impact Development Manual for Michigan available 
at http://www.semcog.org/LowImpactDevelopment.aspx.  Chapter 9 of the manual provides a methodology for addressing post-
construction storm water runoff. 

 
Ordinance or Other Regulatory Mechanism 
 
32. Is an ordinance or other regulatory mechanism in effect to address post-construction storm water runoff from new development and 

redevelopment projects, including preventing or minimizing water quality impacts? The ordinance or other regulatory mechanism 
shall apply to private, commercial, and public projects, including projects where the applicant is the developer.  This requirement may 
be met using a single ordinance or regulatory mechanism or a combination of ordinances and regulatory mechanisms.   

  Yes, ordinance or regulatory mechanism reference (page and paragraph of attachments): e.g., Attachment A, Pages 1-15       
  No, the ordinance or regulatory mechanism will be available on       

 
33. Does the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism apply to projects that disturb at least one or more acres, including projects less 

than an acre that are part of a larger common plan of development or sale and discharge into the applicant’s MS4? 
  Yes, ordinance or regulatory mechanism reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
  No, the ordinance or regulatory mechanism will be available on       

 
Federal Facilities 
  
Federal facilities are subject to the Energy Independence and Security Act of 2007.  Section 438 of this legislation establishes post-
construction storm water runoff requirements for federal development and redevelopment projects. 
 
34. Is the applicant the owner or operator of a federal facility with a storm water discharge?   

  Yes 
  No, skip to Question 36 

 
35. Is the applicant implementing the post-construction storm water runoff control requirements in Section 438 of the Energy 

Independence and Security Act? A guidance document is available 
at http://www.epa.gov/greeningepa/documents/epa_swm_guidance.pdf  

  Yes, regulatory mechanism reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
  No, the regulatory mechanism will be available on       

 
Water Quality Treatment Performance Standard 
 
36. Does the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism include one or more of the following water quality treatment standards?   

  Treat the first one inch of runoff from the entire project site. Ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference (page and 
paragraph of attachments)        Skip to Question 38. 

  Treat the runoff generated from 90 percent of all runoff-producing storms for the project site.  Ordinance or other regulatory 
mechanism reference (page and paragraph of attachments)       

  No, the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on       
  The ordinance or other regulatory mechanism is/will be available on       and includes the following water quality treatment 

standard.  Provide an explanation as to how the water quality treatment standard will prevent or minimize water quality impacts.   
      

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

City Council Packet 148 November 10, 2014

http://www.michigan.gov/documents/deq/wrd-storm-MS4-ComplianceAssistance_470350_7.pdf
http://www.semcog.org/LowImpactDevelopment.aspx
http://www.epa.gov/greeningepa/documents/epa_swm_guidance.pdf


Michigan Department of Environmental Quality – Water Resources Division 

STORM WATER DISCHARGE PERMIT APPLICATION  
 

   10 EQP5993 (Rev. 10/2014) 

 
37. What is the source of the rainfall data if the applicant has chosen the water quality treatment standard of requiring the treatment of 

the runoff generated from 90 percent of all runoff-producing storms? 
 The MDEQ’s memo dated March 24, 2006 providing the 90 percent annual non-exceedance storm statistics.  The memo is 

available at http://www.michigan.gov/documents/deq/lwm-hsu-nps-ninety-percent_198401_7.pdf. 
  An analysis of at least ten years of local published rain gauge data following the method in the March 25, 2006, MDEQ memo 

titled 90 Percent Annual Non-Exceedance Storms cited above.  
  Other rainfall data source (page and paragraph of attachments)       

 
38. Does the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism require that BMPs be designed on a site-specific basis to reduce post-

development total suspended solids loadings by 80 percent or achieve a discharge concentration of total suspended solids not to 
exceed 80 milligram per liter? 

  Yes, ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
  No, the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on       
  The ordinance or other regulatory mechanism defines treatment as follows:   

      

 
Channel Protection Performance Standard 
 
39. Does the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism require that the post-construction runoff rate and volume of discharges not 

exceed the pre-development rate and volume for all storms up to the two-year, 24-hour storm at the project site?  At a minimum, pre-
development is the last land use prior to the planned new development or redevelopment.  A spreadsheet to assist with these 
calculations is available at www.michigan.gov/documents/deq/wb-storm-MS4-RunoffVolume_331235_7.xls 

  Yes, ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
  No, the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on       
  The ordinance or other regulatory mechanism is/will be available on      and includes the following channel protection 

standard.  Provide an explanation as to how the channel protection standard will prevent or minimize water quality impacts. 
      

 
40. Does the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism exclude any waterbodies from the channel protection performance standard?  

The channel protection performance standard is not required for the following waterbodies:  the Great Lakes or connecting channels 
of the Great Lakes; Rouge River downstream of the Turning Basin; Saginaw River; Mona Lake and Muskegon Lake (Muskegon 
County); and Lake Macatawa and Spring Lake (Ottawa County).   

  Yes, ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
  No, the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on       
  Not applicable  

 
Site-Specific Requirements  
 
41. Provide the procedure for reviewing the use of infiltration BMPs to meet the water quality treatment and channel protection standards 

for new development or redevelopment projects in areas of soil or groundwater contamination in a manner that does not exacerbate 
existing conditions.  The procedure shall include the process for coordinating with MDEQ staff as appropriate.   
 
Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
 

42. Does the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism require BMPs to address the associated pollutants in potential hot spots as part 
of meeting the water quality treatment and channel protection standards for new development or redevelopment projects?  Hot spots 
include areas with the potential for significant pollutant loading such as gas stations, commercial vehicle maintenance and repair, 
auto recyclers, recycling centers, and scrap yards.  Hot spots also include areas with the potential for contaminating public water 
supply intakes.     

  Yes, ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
  No, the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on       

 
Off-Site Mitigation and Payment in Lieu Programs 
 
43. Does the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism allow for the approval of off-site mitigation for redevelopment projects that cannot 

meet 100 percent of the performance standards on-site after maximizing storm water retention?  Off-site mitigation refers to BMPs 
implemented at another location within the same jurisdiction and watershed/sewershed as the original project.  A watershed is the 
geographic area included in a10-digit Hydrologic Unit Code and a sewershed is the area where storm water is conveyed by the 
applicant’s MS4 to a common outfall or point of discharge.   

  Yes, ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
  No, the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on       
  Not pursuing this option 

City Council Packet 149 November 10, 2014

http://www.michigan.gov/documents/deq/lwm-hsu-nps-ninety-percent_198401_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/deq/wb-storm-MS4-RunoffVolume_331235_7.xls


Michigan Department of Environmental Quality – Water Resources Division 

STORM WATER DISCHARGE PERMIT APPLICATION  
 

   11 EQP5993 (Rev. 10/2014) 

 
44. Does the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism allow for the approval of payment in lieu for projects that cannot meet 100 

percent of the performance standards on-site after maximizing storm water retention?  A payment in lieu program refers to a 
developer paying a fee to the applicant that is applied to a public storm water management project within the same jurisdiction and 
watershed/sewershed as the original project in lieu of installing the required BMPs onsite.  The storm water management project 
may be either a new BMP or a retrofit to an existing BMP and shall be developed in accordance with the applicant’s performance 
standards.  A watershed is the geographic area included in a 10-digit Hydrologic Unit Code and a sewershed is the area where storm 
water is conveyed by the applicant’s MS4 to a common outfall or point of discharge. 

  Yes, ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
  No, the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on       
  Not pursuing this option.  If “not pursuing this option” was selected for both Questions 43 and 44, skip to Question 52. 

 
45. Does the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism establish criteria for determining the conditions under which off-site mitigation 

and/or payment in lieu are available and require technical justification as to the infeasibility of on-site management?  The 
determination that performance standards cannot be met on-site shall not be based solely on the difficulty or cost of implementing, 
but shall be based on multiple criteria related to the physical constraints of the project site, such as:  too small of a lot outside of the 
building footprint to create the necessary infiltrative capacity even with amended soils; soil instability as documented by a thorough 
geotechnical analysis; a site use that is inconsistent with the capture and reuse of storm water; too much shade or other physical 
conditions that preclude adequate use of plants.  The criteria shall also include consideration of the stream order and location within 
the watershed/sewershed as it relates to the water quality impacts from the original project site (e.g., the water quality impact from a 
project site with a discharge to a small-sized stream would be greater than a project site on a large river and an offset downstream of 
the project site may provide less water quality benefit.)  The highest preference for off-site mitigation and in lieu projects shall be 
given to locations that yield benefits to the same receiving water that received runoff from the original project site.   

  Yes, ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
  No, the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on       

 
46. Does the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism establish a minimum amount of storm water to be managed on-site as a first tier 

for off-site mitigation or payment in lieu? A higher offset ratio is required if off-site mitigation or payment in lieu is requested for the 
amount of storm water identified as the first tier.  For example, a minimum of 0.4 inches of storm water runoff shall be managed on-
site as a first tier.  

  Yes, ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
  No, the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on       
  The ordinance or other regulatory mechanism requires the following: 

      

 
47. Does the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism require an offset ratio of 1:1.5 for the amount of storm water above the first tier 

(identified in Question 46) not managed on-site to the amount of storm water required to be mitigated at another site or for which in-
lieu payments shall be made? 

  Yes, ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
  No, the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on       
  The ordinance or other regulatory mechanism requires the following: 

      

 
48. Does the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism require that if demonstrated by the developer to the applicant that it is completely 

infeasible to manage the first tier of storm water identified in Question 47 on-site, the offset ratio for the unmanaged portion is 1:2? 
  Yes, ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
  No, the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on       
  The ordinance or other regulatory mechanism requires the following: 

      

 
49. Does the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism require a schedule for completing off-site mitigation and in-lieu projects?  Off-site 

mitigation and in-lieu projects should be completed within 24 months after the start of the original project site construction.   
  Yes, ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
  No, the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on       
  The ordinance or other regulatory mechanism requires the following: 

      

 
 
 

City Council Packet 150 November 10, 2014



Michigan Department of Environmental Quality – Water Resources Division 

STORM WATER DISCHARGE PERMIT APPLICATION  
 

   12 EQP5993 (Rev. 10/2014) 

 
50. Does the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism require that offsets and in-lieu projects be preserved and maintained in 

perpetuity, such as deed restrictions and long-term operation and maintenance? 
  Yes, ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
  No, the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on       
  The ordinance or other regulatory mechanism requires the following: 

      

 
51. Describe the tracking system implemented, or to be implemented, to track off-site mitigation and/or in-lieu projects. 

      

 
52. Are there any other exceptions to the performance standards, other than off-site mitigation and payment in lieu, being implemented 

or to be implemented during the permit cycle?  The applicant shall demonstrate how the exception provides an equivalent or greater 
level of protection as the performance standards.   

 Yes, demonstration reference (page and paragraph of attachments):        No 
 
Site Plan Review  
 
53. Does the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism include a requirement to submit a site plan for review and approval of post-

construction storm water runoff BMPs?  
  Yes, ordinance or regulatory mechanism reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
  No, the ordinance or regulatory mechanism will be available on       

 
54. Provide the procedure for site plan review and approval.   

 
 Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       

 
55. Provide the reference in the site plan review and approval procedure to the process for determining how the developer meets the 

performance standards and ensures long-term operation and maintenance of BMPs.   
 

Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
 
Long-Term Operation and Maintenance of BMPs 
 
56. Does the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism require the long-term operation and maintenance of all structural and vegetative 

BMPs installed and implemented to meet the performance standards in perpetuity? 
  Yes, ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
  No, the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on       

 
57. Does the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism require a maintenance agreement between the applicant and owners or 

operators responsible for the long-term operation and maintenance of structural and vegetative BMPs installed and implemented to 
meet the performance standards? 

  Yes, ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
  No, the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on       
  The ordinance or other regulatory mechanism requires the following: 

      

 
58. Does the maintenance agreement or other legal mechanism allow the applicant to complete the following?  (Check if yes) 

  Inspect the structural or vegetative BMP 
  Perform the necessary maintenance or corrective actions neglected by the BMP owner or operator 
  Track the transfer of operation and maintenance responsibility of the BMP (e.g., deed restrictions) 

 
If any of the boxes above were not checked, provide a response explaining how the maintenance agreement or other legal 
mechanism allows the applicant to verify and ensure maintenance of the BMP. 
      

 
 
 
 

City Council Packet 151 November 10, 2014



Michigan Department of Environmental Quality – Water Resources Division 

STORM WATER DISCHARGE PERMIT APPLICATION  
 

   13 EQP5993 (Rev. 10/2014) 

 
59. Provide the procedure for tracking compliance with a maintenance agreement or other legal mechanism to ensure the performance 

standards are met in perpetuity. 
 
Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       

 
Pollution Prevention and Good Housekeeping Program 
The applicant shall describe the current and proposed BMPs to meet the minimum control measure requirements for the Pollution 
Prevention and Good Housekeeping Program to the maximum extent practicable, which shall be incorporated into the SWMP.  The 
applicant shall develop and implement a Pollution Prevention and Good Housekeeping Program to prevent or reduce the discharge of 
pollutants from municipal facilities and operations.  
 
The following definitions apply to the terms used below: 
• Fleet:  A group of vehicles owned or operated as a unit.   

 
• Maintenance (includes, but not limited to):  adding/changing vehicle fluids, fueling, lubrication, painting, mechanical repairs, parts 

degreasing, and vehicle/equipment washing.   
 

• Storage Yard (includes, but not limited to):  areas where vehicles are stored longer than overnight/weekend; areas where road 
maintenance materials are stored; areas where vehicle maintenance materials are stored; areas where chemicals in bulk are stored; 
areas where catch basin cleaning wastes are stored; and areas where maintenance equipment such as mowers, tractors, vactor 
trucks, and sweepers is stored.   

 
Please complete the questions below as appropriate.  A “Not Applicable” response is appropriate in cases where the applicant does not 
own or operate a municipal facility or storm water structural control or does not perform the operation in the question.  A measurable goal 
with a measure of assessment shall be included for each BMP, and, as appropriate, a schedule for implementation (months and years), 
including interim milestones and the frequency of the BMP.  The responses shall reflect the nested MS4s identified in Section VI.   
 
Municipal Facility and Structural Storm Water Control Inventory 
 
60. Provide an up-to-date inventory of applicant-owned or operated facilities and storm water structural controls with a discharge of 

storm water to surface waters of the state.  The inventory shall include the location of each facility.  Provide an estimate of the 
number of structural storm water controls throughout the entire MS4 for each applicable category below (e.g., 100 catch 
basins and 7 detention basins).  

 
Inventory Reference (Page and Paragraph of Attachments): e.g., Attachment A, Page 3, Section b       

 
Check all applicant-owned or operated facilities with a discharge of storm water to surface waters of the state: 

  Administration buildings   Animal Control Building 
  Airports   Bus Stations and Garages 
  Cemeteries   Composting facilities 
  Equipment storage and maintenance facilities   Fire Stations 
  Fuel Farms    Hazardous waste disposal facilities 
  Hazardous waste handling and transfer facilities   Landfills  
  Landscape maintenance facilities   Libraries   
  Materials storage yards    Mosquito Control Facility 
  Parks   Pesticide storage facilities  
  Police stations   Public golf courses   
  Public parking lots     Public schools  
  Public works yards   Recycling facilities    
  Salt storage facilities   Solid waste handling and transfer facilities  
  Vacant land and open space   Vehicle storage and maintenance yards  
  Outdoor wash areas                                                         Other facilities – Provide a description below:  

      

 
Check all applicant-owned or operated structural storm water controls with a discharge of storm water to surface waters of the state: 

   Catch basins          Constructed wetlands         
   Detention basins          Infiltration basins and trenches        
   Oil/water separators          Porous pavement        
   Pump Stations         Rain gardens         
   Secondary containment          Underground storage vaults or tanks         
   Vegetated swales         
   Other structural storm water controls – Provide a description below: 

      

City Council Packet 152 November 10, 2014



Michigan Department of Environmental Quality – Water Resources Division 

STORM WATER DISCHARGE PERMIT APPLICATION  
 

   14 EQP5993 (Rev. 10/2014) 

 
61. Provide the location where an up-to-date map (or maps) is available with the location of the facilities and structural storm water 

controls identified in Question 60.  The location of the facilities and structural storm water controls may be included on the storm 
sewer system map maintained for the IDEP.   

 
The map (or maps) is available at the following location:        

 
62. Provide the procedure for updating and revising the inventory in Question 60 and map (or maps) identified in Question 61 as facilities 

and structural storm water controls are added, removed, or no longer owned or operated by the applicant.  A suggested timeframe 
for updating/revising the inventory and map(s) is 30 days following adding/removing a facility or structural storm water control. 

 
Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       

 
Facility-Specific Storm Water Management  
 
63. Provide the procedure for assessing each facility identified in Question 60 for the potential to discharge pollutants to surface waters 

of the state. The procedure shall include a process for updating and revising the assessment.  A recommended timeframe for 
updating/revising the assessment is 30 days prior to discharging storm water from a new facility and within 30 days of determining a 
need to update/revise the facility assessment. 
 
The applicant should consider the following factors when assessing each facility: 
• Amount of urban pollutants stored at the site (e.g., sediment, nutrients, metals, hydrocarbons, pesticides, fertilizers, herbicides, 

chlorides, trash, bacteria, or other site-specific pollutants)   
• Identification of improperly stored materials 
• The potential for polluting activities to be conducted outside (e.g., vehicle washing) 
• Proximity to waterbodies 
• Poor housekeeping practices 
• Discharge of pollutants of concern to impaired waters 

 
  Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
  Not Applicable – The applicant does not own a facility that discharges storm water to surface waters of the state.  Skip to 

Question 71.  
 
64. Provide the list of prioritized facilities using the assessment in Question 63.   Each facility shall be prioritized based on having the 

high, medium, or low potential to discharge pollutants to surface waters of the state.  Facilities with the high potential for pollutant 
runoff shall include, but are not limited to, the applicant’s fleet maintenance and storage yards.  The applicant may submit a 
demonstration with a description of how the applicant’s fleet maintenance and storage yard has the low potential to discharge 
pollutants to surface waters of the state.   

 
  Prioritized Facility List (page and paragraph of attachments):       
  Fleet Maintenance and Storage Yard Demonstrations (page and paragraph of attachments):       

 
65. Is a site-specific standard operating procedure (SOP) available identifying the structural and non-structural storm water controls 

implemented and maintained to prevent or reduce pollutant runoff at each facility with the high potential for pollutant runoff?  The 
SOP shall be available at each facility with the high potential for pollutant runoff and upon request from the MDEQ.  The SOP shall 
identify the person responsible for oversight of the facility.  The MDEQ may request the submission of the SOP during the application 
review process. 

 
  Yes, a site-specific SOP is available at each facility with the high potential for pollutant runoff 
  Not Applicable – The applicant does not own or operate any facilities with the high potential for pollutant runoff.  Skip to Question 

70. 
 
66. Provide the reference in the SOP, for each facility with the high potential for pollutant runoff, to the following:  the list of significant 

materials stored on-site that could pollute storm water; the description of the handling and storage requirements for each significant 
material; and the potential to discharge the significant material.  
 
SOP Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       

 
This space is available to reference multiple site-specific SOPs 
      

 
 
 
 
 

City Council Packet 153 November 10, 2014



Michigan Department of Environmental Quality – Water Resources Division 

STORM WATER DISCHARGE PERMIT APPLICATION  
 

   15 EQP5993 (Rev. 10/2014) 

 
67. Provide the reference in the SOP, for each facility with the high potential for pollutant runoff, identifying the good housekeeping 

practices implemented at the site.  Good housekeeping practices include keeping the facility neat and orderly, properly storing and 
covering materials, and minimizing pollutant sources to prevent or reduce pollutant runoff. 

 
SOP Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
 
This space is available to reference multiple site-specific SOPs 
      

 
68. Provide the reference in the SOP, for each facility with the high potential for pollutant runoff, to the description and schedule for 

conducting routine maintenance and inspections of storm water management and control devices to ensure materials and equipment 
are clean and orderly and to prevent or reduce pollutant runoff.  A biweekly schedule is recommended for routine inspections.   

 
SOP Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       

 
This space is available to reference multiple site-specific SOPs 
      

 
69. Provide the reference in the SOP, for each facility with the high potential for pollutant runoff, to the description and schedule for 

conducting a comprehensive site inspection at least once every six months.  The comprehensive inspection shall include an 
inspection of all structural storm water controls and a review of non-structural storm water controls to prevent or reduce pollutant 
runoff.      

 
SOP Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
 
This space is available to reference multiple site-specific SOPs 
      

 
70. Provide the procedure identifying the BMPs currently implemented or to be implemented during the permit cycle to prevent or reduce 

pollutant runoff at each facility with the medium and lower potential for the discharge of pollutants to surface waters of the state 
using the assessment and prioritized list in Questions 63 and 64. 

 
Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):        

 
Structural Storm Water Control Operation and Maintenance Activities  
 
71. Provide the procedure for prioritizing each catch basin for routine inspection, maintenance, and cleaning based on preventing or 

reducing pollutant runoff.  The procedure shall include assigning a priority level for each catch basin and the associated inspection, 
maintenance and cleaning schedule based on preventing or reducing pollutant runoff.  The procedure shall include a process for 
updating/revising the priority level for a catch basin giving consideration to inspection findings and citizen complaints. A 
recommended timeframe for updating/revising the procedure is 30 days following the construction of a catch basin or a change in 
priority level. 

 
  Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
  Not Applicable – The applicant does not own or operate catch basins.  Skip to Question 75. 

 
72. Provide the geographic location of the catch basins in each priority level using either a narrative description or map.   
 

Catch Basin Priority Location (page and paragraph of attachments):          
 
73. Provide the procedure for inspecting, cleaning, and maintaining catch basins to ensure proper performance.  Proper cleaning 

methods include ensuring accumulated pollutants are not discharged during cleaning and are removed prior to discharging to 
surface waters of the state.  A compliance assistance document titled Catch Basin Cleaning Activities Guidance Document is 
available at http://www.michigan.gov/documents/deq/wb-stormwater-CatchBasinGuidance_216198_7.pdf.  

 
Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       

 
74. Provide the procedure for dewatering, storage, and disposal of materials extracted from catch basins.  A compliance assistance 

document titled Catch Basin Cleaning Activities Guidance Document is available at  
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/deq/wb-stormwater-CatchBasinGuidance_216198_7.pdf.  

 
Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       

 
City Council Packet 154 November 10, 2014

http://www.michigan.gov/documents/deq/wb-stormwater-CatchBasinGuidance_216198_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/deq/wb-stormwater-CatchBasinGuidance_216198_7.pdf


Michigan Department of Environmental Quality – Water Resources Division 

STORM WATER DISCHARGE PERMIT APPLICATION  
 

   16 EQP5993 (Rev. 10/2014) 

 
75. Provide the procedure for inspecting and maintaining the structural storm water controls identified in Question 60, excluding the 

structural storm water controls included in an SOP as part of Question 65 and catch basins.  The procedure shall include a 
description and schedule for inspecting and maintaining each structural storm water control and the process for disposing of 
maintenance waste materials.  The procedure shall require that controls be maintained to reduce to the maximum extent practicable 
the contribution of pollutants to storm water. The procedure shall include a process for updating/revising the procedure to ensure a 
maintenance and inspection program for each structural storm water control.  A recommended timeframe for updating/revising the 
procedure is 30 days following the implementation of a new structural storm water control.   

 
  Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
  Not Applicable – Applicant does not own or operate any structural storm water controls 

 
76. Provide the procedure requiring new applicant-owned or operated facilities or new structural storm water controls for water quantity 

be designed and implemented in accordance with the post-construction storm water runoff control performance standards and long-
term operation and maintenance requirements. 

 
Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       

 
Municipal Operations and Maintenance Activities 
 
77. Provide the procedure with the assessment of the applicant’s operation and maintenance activities for the potential to discharge 

pollutants to surface waters of the state.  The assessment shall identify all pollutants that could be discharged from each applicable 
operation and maintenance activity and the BMPs being implemented or to be implemented to prevent or reduce pollutant runoff. 
The procedure shall include a process for updating and revising the assessment.  A suggested timeframe for updating/revising the 
assessment is 30 days following adding/removing BMPs to address new and existing operation and maintenance activities. 

 
At a minimum, the procedure shall include assessing the following municipal operation and maintenance activities if applicable 
(check all that apply): 

  Road, parking lot, and sidewalk maintenance (e.g., pothole, sidewalk, and curb and gutter repair)   
  Bridge maintenance  
  Right-of-way maintenance 
  Unpaved road maintenance  
  Cold weather operations (e.g., plowing, sanding, application of deicing agents, and snow pile disposal) 
  Vehicle washing and maintenance of applicant-owned vehicles (e.g., police, fire, school bus, public works) 

 
  Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
  Not Applicable – Provide an explanation below.   

      

 
78. Provide the procedure for prioritizing applicant-owned or operated streets, parking lots, and other impervious infrastructure for street 

sweeping based on the potential to discharge pollutants to surface waters of the state.  The procedure shall include assigning a 
priority level for each parking lot and street and the associated cleaning schedule (i.e., sweeping frequency and timing) based on 
preventing or reducing pollutant runoff.  The procedure shall include a process for updating/revising the priority level giving 
consideration to street sweeping findings and citizen complaints. A recommended timeframe for updating/revising the prioritization is 
30 days following the construction of a new street, parking lot, or other applicant-owned or operated impervious surface or within 30 
days of identifying a need to revise a priority level. 

   Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
   Not Applicable – The applicant does not own or operate any streets, parking lots, or other impervious infrastructure.  Skip to 
Question 82. 

 
79. Provide the geographic location of the streets, parking lots, and other impervious surfaces in each priority level using either a 

narrative description or map.   
 

Street Sweeping Priority Location (page and paragraph of attachments):       
 

80. Provide the procedure identifying the sweeping methods based on the applicant’s sweeping equipment and use of additional 
resources in sweeping seasonal leaves or pick-up of other materials.  Proper sweeping methods include operating sweeping 
equipment according to the manufacturers’ operating instructions and to protect water quality.   

 
Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       

 
 
 
 
 

City Council Packet 155 November 10, 2014



Michigan Department of Environmental Quality – Water Resources Division 

STORM WATER DISCHARGE PERMIT APPLICATION  
 

   17 EQP5993 (Rev. 10/2014) 

 
81. Provide the procedure for dewatering, storage, and disposal of street sweeper waste material.  A compliance assistance document 

titled Catch Basin Cleaning Activities Guidance Document is available at  
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/deq/wb-stormwater-CatchBasinGuidance_216198_7.pdf, 
 
Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       

 
Managing Vegetated Properties 
 
82. Provide the procedure requiring the applicant’s pesticide applicator to be certified by the State of Michigan as an applicator in the 

applicable category, to prevent or reduce pollutant runoff from vegetated land.  A description of the categories is located 
at http://www.michigan.gov/mdard/0,4610,7-125-1569_16988_35289-11992--,00.html 

 
  Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments):       
  Not Applicable – Provide an explanation below (e.g., the applicant’s pesticide applicator only uses ready-to-use products from the 

original container). 
      

 
Contractor Requirements and Oversight 

 
83. Provide the procedure requiring contractors hired by the applicant to perform municipal operation and maintenance activities comply 

with all pollution prevention and good housekeeping BMPs as appropriate.  The procedure shall include the process implemented for 
providing oversight of contractor activities to ensure compliance.   

 
Procedure Reference (Page and Paragraph of Attachments):       

 
Employee Training  
 
84. Provide the employee training program to train employees involved in implementing or overseeing the pollution prevention and good 

housekeeping program.  The program shall include the training schedule.  At a minimum, existing staff shall be trained once during 
the permit cycle and within the first year of hire for new staff.   

 
Program Reference (Page and Paragraph of Attachments):       

 
Total Maximum Daily Load (TMDL) Implementation Plan 
The following questions address discharges to impaired waters with a USEPA approved TMDL that includes a pollutant load allocation 
assigned to the permittee’s MS4.  BMPs shall be implemented to reduce the discharge of the TMDL pollutant from the MS4 to make 
progress in meeting Water Quality Standards.  Applicable TMDLs are TMDLs approved prior to the applicant being notified of the need to 
apply for permit reissuance.  Applicable TMDLs for the applicant were provided in the application notice letter.   
 
The applicant shall describe the current and proposed BMPs to meet the minimum requirements for the TMDL Implementation Plan, 
which shall be incorporated into the SWMP.  Please indicate in your response, if you are or will be working collaboratively with watershed 
or regional partners on any or all activities in the TMDL Implementation Plan during the permit cycle.  The following questions represent 
the minimum requirements for a TMDL Implementation Plan.  Please complete the following questions as appropriate.  A measurable 
goal with a measure of assessment shall be included for each BMP, and, as appropriate, a schedule for implementation (months and 
years), including interim milestones and the frequency of the BMP.  The responses shall reflect the nested MS4s identified in Section VI.   
 
The USEPA has a document to assist with developing a TMDL Implementation Plan available 
at http://water.epa.gov/lawsregs/lawsguidance/cwa/tmdl/upload/region3_factsheet_tmdl.pdf. 
 
85. Was a TMDL included in the applicant’s application notice? 

  Yes, the following approved USEPA TMDL(s) was included in my application notice letter: 
      

         No, Skip to Section VIII. 
 

86. Provide the procedure for identifying and prioritizing BMPs currently being implemented or to be implemented during the permit cycle 
to make progress toward achieving the pollutant load reduction requirement in each TMDL identified in Question 85.  The procedure 
shall include a process for reviewing, updating, and revising BMPs implemented or to be implemented to ensure progress in 
achieving the TMDL pollutant load reduction.   

 
 Procedure Reference (page and paragraph of attachments): e.g., Attachment A, Page 3, Section b       

 
 

City Council Packet 156 November 10, 2014

http://www.michigan.gov/documents/deq/wb-stormwater-CatchBasinGuidance_216198_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/mdard/0,4610,7-125-1569_16988_35289-11992--,00.html
http://water.epa.gov/lawsregs/lawsguidance/cwa/tmdl/upload/region3_factsheet_tmdl.pdf


Michigan Department of Environmental Quality – Water Resources Division 

STORM WATER DISCHARGE PERMIT APPLICATION  
 

   18 EQP5993 (Rev. 10/2014) 

 
87. Provide the list of prioritized BMPs currently being implemented or to be implemented during the permit cycle to make progress 

toward achieving the pollutant load reduction requirement in each TMDL identified in Question 85.  Each BMP shall include a 
reference to the targeted TMDL pollutant.   

 
TMDL BMP Priority List (page and paragraph of attachments):       

  
88. Provide the monitoring plan for assessing the effectiveness of the BMPs currently being implemented, or to be implemented, in 

making progress toward achieving the TMDL pollutant load reduction requirement, including a schedule for completing the 
monitoring.  Monitoring shall be specifically for the pollutant identified in the TMDL.  Monitoring may include, but is not limited to, 
outfall monitoring, in-stream monitoring, or modeling.  At a minimum, monitoring shall be conducted two times during the permit cycle 
or at a frequency sufficient to determine if the BMPs are adequate in making progress toward achieving the TMDL pollutant load 
reduction.  Existing monitoring data may be submitted for review as part of the plan to meet part of the monitoring requirement. 

 
TMDL Monitoring Plan (page and paragraph of attachments):       
 

SECTION VIII.  CERTIFICATION 
Rule 323.2114(1-4), promulgated under the NREPA, requires that this Application be signed by either a principal executive officer or 
ranking elected official (e.g., mayor, village president, city or village manager, or clerk).  Note:  If the signatory is not a principal executive 
officer or ranking elected official, but is authorized to sign the Application, please provide documentation of the authorization.    

 
“I certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments were prepared under my direction or supervision In accordance 
with a system designed to assure that qualified personnel properly gather and evaluate the information submitted.  Based on my inquiry 
of the person or persons who manage the system, or those persons directly responsible for gathering the information, the information 
submitted is, to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, accurate, and complete.  I am aware that there are significant penalties for 
submitting false information, including the possibility of fine and imprisonment for having knowledge of violations.”   

 
I understand that my signature constitutes a legal agreement to comply with the requirements of the NPDES Permit.  I certify under penalty 
of law that I possess full authority on behalf of the legal owner/permittee to sign and submit this Application.  I certify to the best of my 
knowledge that it is true, accurate and meets the minimum permit requirements for a SWMP to the MEP. 
 
Print Name:        
 
Title:        
 
Representing:        
 
 
Signature: 

 
 
Date:        

 
Please submit this completed Application and attachments to: 
 
MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY 
WATER RESOURCES DIVISION 
PERMITS SECTION 
P.O. BOX 30458 
LANSING, MICHIGAN 48909-7958 

City Council Packet 157 November 10, 2014



Michigan Department of Environmental Quality – Water Resources Division 

STORM WATER DISCHARGE PERMIT APPLICATION  
 

EQP5993 (Rev. 10/2014) 
 

Table 1 – Outfall and Point of Discharge Information 
 

An identification number shall be provided for each outfall and point of discharge.  Please note that the latitude and longitude is not 
required as part of the application.  When entering a point of discharge, the receiving water is the point where the storm water enters a 
surface water of the state.  The following definitions apply to these terms: 

• Outfall means a discharge point from an MS4 directly to surface waters of the state 
• Point of Discharge means a discharge from an MS4 to an MS4 owned or operated by another public body 

 
 A.  Outfall/ Point of 

Discharge No.: 
  Outfall 
  Point of Discharge 

Outfall/Point of Discharge Identification No.:         

 
B.  Receiving Water:   

Receiving Water :        

C.  Latitude/Longitude 
(Optional) 

Latitude:        Longitude:         

 
 

A.  Outfall/ Point of 
Discharge No.:   

  Outfall 
  Point of Discharge 

Outfall/Point of Discharge Identification No.:         

 
B.  Receiving Water:   

Receiving Water :         

C   Latitude/Longitude 
(Optional) 

Latitude:        Longitude:         

 
 

A.  Outfall/ Point of 
Discharge No.: 

  Outfall 
  Point of Discharge 

Outfall/Point of Discharge Identification No.:         

 
B.  Receiving Water:   

Receiving Water :         

C.  Latitude/Longitude 
(Optional) 

Latitude:        Longitude:          

 
 

A.  Outfall/ Point of 
Discharge No.:  

  Outfall 
  Point of Discharge  

Outfall/Point of Discharge Identification No.:         

 
B.  Receiving Water:   

Receiving Water:          

C.  Latitude/Longitude 
(Optional) 

Latitude:        Longitude:         

 
 

A.  Outfall/ Point of 
Discharge No.: 

  Outfall 
  Point of Discharge  

Outfall/Point of Discharge Identification No.:         

 
B.  Receiving Water:   

Receiving Water :         

C.  Latitude/Longitude 
(Optional) 

Latitude:         Longitude:         

 
 

A.  Outfall/ Point of 
Discharge No.: 

  Outfall 
  Point of Discharge  

Outfall/Point of Discharge Identification No.:         

 
B.  Receiving Water:   

Receiving Water :         

C.  Latitude/Longitude 
(Optional) 

Latitude:        Longitude:         
 

 
 

A.  Outfall/ Point of 
Discharge No.: 

  Outfall 
  Point of Discharge  

Outfall/Point of Discharge Identification No.:         

 
B.  Receiving Water:   

Receiving Water :         

C.  Latitude/Longitude 
(Optional) 

Latitude:        Longitude:         

 

City Council Packet 158 November 10, 2014



 Michigan Department of Environmental Quality – Water Resources Division 

STORM WATER DISCHARGE PERMIT APPLICATION  

 

 

EQP5993 (Rev. 10/2014) 
 

  
Table 2:  Public Education Program Best Management Practices (BMPs) 

PEP 
Topic 

BMP 
Identifier 

BMP 
Descriptor 

Partner 
Collaboration 

Target 
Audience 

Key 
Messages 

Delivery 
Mechanism 

Year Frequency Responsible 
Party 

Measurable 
Goal 

                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                                  
 

City Council Packet 159 November 10, 2014



 Michigan Department of Environmental Quality – Water Resources Division 

STORM WATER DISCHARGE PERMIT APPLICATION  

 

 

EQP5993 (Rev. 10/2014) 
 

APPENDIX A 

LOCAL DISTRICT OFFICE ADDRESSES AND COUNTY JURISDICTIONS 

DEQ DISTRICT OFFICES TELEPHONE #  COUNTY JURISDICTIONS 

     
CADILLAC DISTRICT OFFICE 
120 WEST CHAPIN STREET 
CADILLAC MI  49601-2158 
 
 

(231) 775-3960 ALPENA  
ALCONA  
ANTRIM  
BENZIE  
CHARLEVOIX  
CHEBOYGAN 
CRAWFORD  
EMMET 
 

GRAND 
     TRAVERSE  
KALKASKA 
LAKE  
LEELANAU 
MANISTEE   
MASON  
MISSAUKEE 
 

MONTMORENCY 
OSCEOLA  
OSCODA  
OTSEGO 
PRESQUE ISLE  
ROSCOMMON  
WEXFORD 

     
SOUTHEAST MICHIGAN DISTRICT OFFICE 
27700 DONALD COURT  
WARREN, MI  48092 
 
 
 

(586) 753-3700 MACOMB 
OAKLAND  
 

ST. CLAIR  
 

WAYNE 

     
GRAND RAPIDS DISTRICT OFFICE 
STATE OFFICE BUILDING, FIFTH FLOOR 
350 OTTAWA NW, UNIT 10 
GRAND RAPIDS, MI 49503-2341 
 
 

(616) 356-0500 BARRY  
IONIA  
KENT  
 

MECOSTA  
MONTCALM  
MUSKEGON 
 

NEWAYGO  
OCEANA  
OTTAWA 

     
JACKSON DISTRICT OFFICE 
301 EAST LOUIS GLICK HIGHWAY  
JACKSON, MI  49201-1556 
 
 

(517) 780-7690 HILLSDALE  
JACKSON  
 

LENAWEE  
MONROE  
 

WASHTENAW 

     
UPPER PENINSULA DISTRICT OFFICE 
1504 WASHINGTON STREET 
MARQUETTE, MI 49855 

(906) 228-4853 ALGER  
BARAGA  
CHIPPEWA  
DELTA  
DICKINSON  
 
 

GOGEBIC  
HOUGHTON  
IRON  
KEWEENAW  
LUCE 
 
 

MARQUETTE  
MACKINAC  
MENOMINEE  
ONTONAGON  
SCHOOLCRAFT 

     
KALAMAZOO DISTRICT OFFICE 
7953 ADOBE ROAD 
KALAMAZOO MI  49009-5026 
 
 

(269) 567-3500 ALLEGAN  
BERRIEN  
BRANCH  
 

CALHOUN  
CASS 
KALAMAZOO  
 

ST. JOSEPH  
VAN BUREN 

     
SAGINAW BAY DISTRICT OFFICE 
401 KETCHUM STREET, SUITE B 
BAY CITY, MI 48708-5430 
 
 

(989) 894-6200 ARENAC  
BAY  
CLARE  
GLADWIN  
 
 

HURON  
IOSCO 
ISABELLA 
MIDLAND  
 

OGEMAW  
SAGINAW  
SANILAC 
TUSCOLA 

     
LANSING DISTRICT OFFICE 
CONSTITUTION HALL 1st FLOOR SOUTH 
525 WEST ALLEGAN 
PO BOX 30242 
LANSING, MI 48909-7742 
 

(517)  284-6651 CLINTON  
EATON  
GENESEE 
 
 
 

GRATIOT 
INGHAM 
LAPEER 
 

LIVINGSTON  
SHIAWASSEE 

 
 
 

City Council Packet 160 November 10, 2014


	2014-11-10, Council Mtg Template
	TO:  Honorable Mayor, Mayor Pro-Tem & Council Members
	OLD / ROUTINE BUSINESS – REVISITED ISSUES / PROJECTS
	Article I.  Storm Water
	Article I.
	Article II.
	Article III.
	Article IV.
	Article V.
	Article VI.
	Article VII.
	Article VIII.
	Article IX.
	Article X.
	Article XI.
	Article XII.
	Article XIII.
	Article XIV.
	Article XV.
	Article XVI.
	Article XVII.
	Article XVIII.
	Article XIX.
	Article XX.
	Section 20.01
	Section 20.02
	Section 20.03
	Section 20.04
	Section 20.05
	Section 20.06
	Section 20.07
	Section 20.08
	Section 20.09
	Section 20.10
	Section 20.11
	Section 20.12
	Section 20.13
	Section 20.14
	Section 20.15
	Section 20.16
	Section 20.17
	Section 20.18
	Section 20.19
	Section 20.20
	Section 20.21
	Section 20.22
	Section 20.23
	Section 20.24
	Section 20.25
	Section 20.26
	Section 20.27
	Section 20.28
	Section 20.29
	Section 20.30
	Section 20.31
	Section 20.32
	Section 20.33
	Section 20.34
	Section 20.35
	Section 20.36
	Section 20.37
	Section 20.38
	Section 20.39
	Section 20.40
	Section 20.41
	Section 20.42
	Section 20.43
	Section 20.44
	Section 20.45
	Section 20.46
	Section 20.47
	Section 20.48
	Section 20.49
	Section 20.50
	Section 20.51
	Section 20.52
	Section 20.53
	Section 20.54
	Section 20.55
	Section 20.56
	Section 20.57
	Section 20.58
	Section 20.59
	Section 20.60
	Section 20.61
	Section 20.62
	Section 20.63
	Section 20.64
	Section 20.65
	Section 20.66
	Section 20.67
	Section 20.68
	Section 20.69
	Section 20.70
	Section 20.71
	Section 20.72
	Section 20.73
	Section 20.74
	Section 20.75
	Section 20.76
	Section 20.77
	Section 20.78
	Section 20.79
	Section 20.80
	Section 20.81
	Section 20.82
	Section 20.83
	Section 20.84
	Section 20.85
	Section 20.86
	Section 20.87
	Section 20.88
	Section 20.89
	Section 20.90
	Section 20.91
	Section 20.92
	Section 20.93
	Section 20.94
	Section 20.95
	Section 20.96
	Section 20.97
	Section 20.98
	Section 20.99
	Section 20.100
	Section 21.101  Findings
	Section 21.102  Purpose
	Section 21.203  Applicability, Exemptions and General Provisions
	Section 21.104  Definitions

	Article II. Storm Water Permits
	Article XXI.
	Article XXII.
	Article XXIII.
	Article XXIV.
	Article XXV.
	Article XXVI.
	Article XXVII.
	Article XXVIII.
	Article XXIX.
	Article XXX.
	Article XXXI.
	Article XXXII.
	Article XXXIII.
	Article XXXIV.
	Article XXXV.
	Article XXXVI.
	Article XXXVII.
	Article XXXVIII.
	Article XXXIX.
	Section 39.01
	Section 39.02
	Section 39.03
	Section 39.04
	Section 39.05
	Section 39.06
	Section 39.07
	Section 39.08
	Section 39.09
	Section 39.10
	Section 39.11
	Section 39.12
	Section 39.13
	Section 39.14
	Section 39.15
	Section 39.16
	Section 39.17
	Section 39.18
	Section 39.19
	Section 39.20
	Section 39.21
	Section 39.22
	Section 39.23
	Section 39.24
	Section 39.25
	Section 39.26
	Section 39.27
	Section 39.28
	Section 39.29
	Section 39.30
	Section 39.31
	Section 39.32
	Section 39.33
	Section 39.34
	Section 39.35
	Section 39.36
	Section 39.37
	Section 39.38
	Section 39.39
	Section 39.40
	Section 39.41
	Section 39.42
	Section 39.43
	Section 39.44
	Section 39.45
	Section 39.46
	Section 39.47
	Section 39.48
	Section 39.49
	Section 39.50
	Section 39.51
	Section 39.52
	Section 39.53
	Section 39.54
	Section 39.55
	Section 39.56
	Section 39.57
	Section 39.58
	Section 39.59
	Section 39.60
	Section 39.61
	Section 39.62
	Section 39.63
	Section 39.64
	Section 39.65
	Section 39.66
	Section 39.67
	Section 39.68
	Section 39.69
	Section 39.70
	Section 39.71
	Section 39.72
	Section 39.73
	Section 39.74
	Section 39.75
	Section 39.76
	Section 39.77
	Section 39.78
	Section 39.79
	Section 39.80
	Section 39.81
	Section 39.82
	Section 39.83
	Section 39.84
	Section 39.85
	Section 39.86
	Section 39.87
	Section 39.88
	Section 39.89
	Section 39.90
	Section 39.91
	Section 39.92
	Section 39.93
	Section 39.94
	Section 39.95
	Section 39.96
	Section 39.97
	Section 39.98
	Section 39.99
	Section 39.100
	Section 39.101
	Section 39.102
	Section 39.103
	Section 39.104
	Section 39.105
	Section 39.106
	Section 39.107
	Section 39.108
	Section 39.109
	Section 39.110
	Section 39.111
	Section 39.112
	Section 39.113
	Section 39.114
	Section 39.115
	Section 39.116
	Section 39.117
	Section 39.118
	Section 39.119
	Section 39.120
	Section 39.121
	Section 39.122
	Section 39.123
	Section 39.124
	Section 39.125
	Section 39.126
	Section 39.127
	Section 39.128
	Section 39.129
	Section 39.130
	Section 39.131
	Section 39.132
	Section 39.133
	Section 39.134
	Section 39.135
	Section 39.136
	Section 39.137
	Section 39.138
	Section 39.139
	Section 39.140
	Section 39.141
	Section 39.142
	Section 39.143
	Section 39.144
	Section 39.145
	Section 39.146
	Section 39.147
	Section 39.148
	Section 39.149
	Section 39.150
	Section 39.151
	Section 39.152
	Section 39.153
	Section 39.154
	Section 39.155
	Section 39.156
	Section 39.157
	Section 39.158
	Section 39.159
	Section 39.160
	Section 39.161
	Section 39.162
	Section 39.163
	Section 39.164
	Section 39.165
	Section 39.166
	Section 39.167
	Section 39.168
	Section 39.169
	Section 39.170
	Section 39.171
	Section 39.172
	Section 39.173
	Section 39.174
	Section 39.175
	Section 39.176
	Section 39.177
	Section 39.178
	Section 39.179
	Section 39.180
	Section 39.181
	Section 39.182
	Section 39.183
	Section 39.184
	Section 39.185
	Section 39.186
	Section 39.187
	Section 39.188
	Section 39.189
	Section 39.190
	Section 39.191
	Section 39.192
	Section 39.193
	Section 39.194
	Section 39.195
	Section 39.196
	Section 39.197
	Section 39.198
	Section 39.199
	Section 39.200
	Section 21.201  Storm Water Standards
	Section 21.202  Storm Water Permit Review Procedures
	Section 21.203  Storm Water Plan
	Section 21.204  Storm Water Permit Review Fees
	Section 21.205  Financial Guarantee
	Section 21.206  Certificate of Occupancy
	Section 21.207  No Change in Approved Facilities
	Section 21.208  Terms and Conditions of Permits

	Article III. Storm Water System, Floodplain and Other Standards, Soil Erosion Control
	Article XL.
	Article XLI.
	Article XLII.
	Article XLIII.
	Article XLIV.
	Article XLV.
	Article XLVI.
	Article XLVII.
	Article XLVIII.
	Article XLIX.
	Article L.
	Article LI.
	Article LII.
	Article LIII.
	Article LIV.
	Article LV.
	Article LVI.
	Article LVII.
	Section 57.01
	Section 57.02
	Section 57.03
	Section 57.04
	Section 57.05
	Section 57.06
	Section 57.07
	Section 57.08
	Section 57.09
	Section 57.10
	Section 57.11
	Section 57.12
	Section 57.13
	Section 57.14
	Section 57.15
	Section 57.16
	Section 57.17
	Section 57.18
	Section 57.19
	Section 57.20
	Section 57.21
	Section 57.22
	Section 57.23
	Section 57.24
	Section 57.25
	Section 57.26
	Section 57.27
	Section 57.28
	Section 57.29
	Section 57.30
	Section 57.31
	Section 57.32
	Section 57.33
	Section 57.34
	Section 57.35
	Section 57.36
	Section 57.37
	Section 57.38
	Section 57.39
	Section 57.40
	Section 57.41
	Section 57.42
	Section 57.43
	Section 57.44
	Section 57.45
	Section 57.46
	Section 57.47
	Section 57.48
	Section 57.49
	Section 57.50
	Section 57.51
	Section 57.52
	Section 57.53
	Section 57.54
	Section 57.55
	Section 57.56
	Section 57.57
	Section 57.58
	Section 57.59
	Section 57.60
	Section 57.61
	Section 57.62
	Section 57.63
	Section 57.64
	Section 57.65
	Section 57.66
	Section 57.67
	Section 57.68
	Section 57.69
	Section 57.70
	Section 57.71
	Section 57.72
	Section 57.73
	Section 57.74
	Section 57.75
	Section 57.76
	Section 57.77
	Section 57.78
	Section 57.79
	Section 57.80
	Section 57.81
	Section 57.82
	Section 57.83
	Section 57.84
	Section 57.85
	Section 57.86
	Section 57.87
	Section 57.88
	Section 57.89
	Section 57.90
	Section 57.91
	Section 57.92
	Section 57.93
	Section 57.94
	Section 57.95
	Section 57.96
	Section 57.97
	Section 57.98
	Section 57.99
	Section 57.100
	Section 57.101
	Section 57.102
	Section 57.103
	Section 57.104
	Section 57.105
	Section 57.106
	Section 57.107
	Section 57.108
	Section 57.109
	Section 57.110
	Section 57.111
	Section 57.112
	Section 57.113
	Section 57.114
	Section 57.115
	Section 57.116
	Section 57.117
	Section 57.118
	Section 57.119
	Section 57.120
	Section 57.121
	Section 57.122
	Section 57.123
	Section 57.124
	Section 57.125
	Section 57.126
	Section 57.127
	Section 57.128
	Section 57.129
	Section 57.130
	Section 57.131
	Section 57.132
	Section 57.133
	Section 57.134
	Section 57.135
	Section 57.136
	Section 57.137
	Section 57.138
	Section 57.139
	Section 57.140
	Section 57.141
	Section 57.142
	Section 57.143
	Section 57.144
	Section 57.145
	Section 57.146
	Section 57.147
	Section 57.148
	Section 57.149
	Section 57.150
	Section 57.151
	Section 57.152
	Section 57.153
	Section 57.154
	Section 57.155
	Section 57.156
	Section 57.157
	Section 57.158
	Section 57.159
	Section 57.160
	Section 57.161
	Section 57.162
	Section 57.163
	Section 57.164
	Section 57.165
	Section 57.166
	Section 57.167
	Section 57.168
	Section 57.169
	Section 57.170
	Section 57.171
	Section 57.172
	Section 57.173
	Section 57.174
	Section 57.175
	Section 57.176
	Section 57.177
	Section 57.178
	Section 57.179
	Section 57.180
	Section 57.181
	Section 57.182
	Section 57.183
	Section 57.184
	Section 57.185
	Section 57.186
	Section 57.187
	Section 57.188
	Section 57.189
	Section 57.190
	Section 57.191
	Section 57.192
	Section 57.193
	Section 57.194
	Section 57.195
	Section 57.196
	Section 57.197
	Section 57.198
	Section 57.199
	Section 57.200
	Section 57.201
	Section 57.202
	Section 57.203
	Section 57.204
	Section 57.205
	Section 57.206
	Section 57.207
	Section 57.208
	Section 57.209
	Section 57.210
	Section 57.211
	Section 57.212
	Section 57.213
	Section 57.214
	Section 57.215
	Section 57.216
	Section 57.217
	Section 57.218
	Section 57.219
	Section 57.220
	Section 57.221
	Section 57.222
	Section 57.223
	Section 57.224
	Section 57.225
	Section 57.226
	Section 57.227
	Section 57.228
	Section 57.229
	Section 57.230
	Section 57.231
	Section 57.232
	Section 57.233
	Section 57.234
	Section 57.235
	Section 57.236
	Section 57.237
	Section 57.238
	Section 57.239
	Section 57.240
	Section 57.241
	Section 57.242
	Section 57.243
	Section 57.244
	Section 57.245
	Section 57.246
	Section 57.247
	Section 57.248
	Section 57.249
	Section 57.250
	Section 57.251
	Section 57.252
	Section 57.253
	Section 57.254
	Section 57.255
	Section 57.256
	Section 57.257
	Section 57.258
	Section 57.259
	Section 57.260
	Section 57.261
	Section 57.262
	Section 57.263
	Section 57.264
	Section 57.265
	Section 57.266
	Section 57.267
	Section 57.268
	Section 57.269
	Section 57.270
	Section 57.271
	Section 57.272
	Section 57.273
	Section 57.274
	Section 57.275
	Section 57.276
	Section 57.277
	Section 57.278
	Section 57.279
	Section 57.280
	Section 57.281
	Section 57.282
	Section 57.283
	Section 57.284
	Section 57.285
	Section 57.286
	Section 57.287
	Section 57.288
	Section 57.289
	Section 57.290
	Section 57.291
	Section 57.292
	Section 57.293
	Section 57.294
	Section 57.295
	Section 57.296
	Section 57.297
	Section 57.298
	Section 57.299
	Section 57.300
	Section 21.301  Management of and Responsibility for Storm Water System
	Section 21.302  Storm Water System
	Section 21.303  Floodplain and Sensitive Areas Standards
	Section 21.304  Building Openings
	Section 21.305  Sump Pump Discharge
	Section 21.306 Public Health, Safety or Welfare

	Article IV. Prohibitions and Exemptions
	Article LVIII.
	Article LIX.
	Article LX.
	Article LXI.
	Article LXII.
	Article LXIII.
	Article LXIV.
	Article LXV.
	Article LXVI.
	Article LXVII.
	Article LXVIII.
	Article LXIX.
	Article LXX.
	Article LXXI.
	Article LXXII.
	Article LXXIII.
	Article LXXIV.
	Section 74.01
	Section 74.02
	Section 74.03
	Section 74.04
	Section 74.05
	Section 74.06
	Section 74.07
	Section 74.08
	Section 74.09
	Section 74.10
	Section 74.11
	Section 74.12
	Section 74.13
	Section 74.14
	Section 74.15
	Section 74.16
	Section 74.17
	Section 74.18
	Section 74.19
	Section 74.20
	Section 74.21
	Section 74.22
	Section 74.23
	Section 74.24
	Section 74.25
	Section 74.26
	Section 74.27
	Section 74.28
	Section 74.29
	Section 74.30
	Section 74.31
	Section 74.32
	Section 74.33
	Section 74.34
	Section 74.35
	Section 74.36
	Section 74.37
	Section 74.38
	Section 74.39
	Section 74.40
	Section 74.41
	Section 74.42
	Section 74.43
	Section 74.44
	Section 74.45
	Section 74.46
	Section 74.47
	Section 74.48
	Section 74.49
	Section 74.50
	Section 74.51
	Section 74.52
	Section 74.53
	Section 74.54
	Section 74.55
	Section 74.56
	Section 74.57
	Section 74.58
	Section 74.59
	Section 74.60
	Section 74.61
	Section 74.62
	Section 74.63
	Section 74.64
	Section 74.65
	Section 74.66
	Section 74.67
	Section 74.68
	Section 74.69
	Section 74.70
	Section 74.71
	Section 74.72
	Section 74.73
	Section 74.74
	Section 74.75
	Section 74.76
	Section 74.77
	Section 74.78
	Section 74.79
	Section 74.80
	Section 74.81
	Section 74.82
	Section 74.83
	Section 74.84
	Section 74.85
	Section 74.86
	Section 74.87
	Section 74.88
	Section 74.89
	Section 74.90
	Section 74.91
	Section 74.92
	Section 74.93
	Section 74.94
	Section 74.95
	Section 74.96
	Section 74.97
	Section 74.98
	Section 74.99
	Section 74.100
	Section 74.101
	Section 74.102
	Section 74.103
	Section 74.104
	Section 74.105
	Section 74.106
	Section 74.107
	Section 74.108
	Section 74.109
	Section 74.110
	Section 74.111
	Section 74.112
	Section 74.113
	Section 74.114
	Section 74.115
	Section 74.116
	Section 74.117
	Section 74.118
	Section 74.119
	Section 74.120
	Section 74.121
	Section 74.122
	Section 74.123
	Section 74.124
	Section 74.125
	Section 74.126
	Section 74.127
	Section 74.128
	Section 74.129
	Section 74.130
	Section 74.131
	Section 74.132
	Section 74.133
	Section 74.134
	Section 74.135
	Section 74.136
	Section 74.137
	Section 74.138
	Section 74.139
	Section 74.140
	Section 74.141
	Section 74.142
	Section 74.143
	Section 74.144
	Section 74.145
	Section 74.146
	Section 74.147
	Section 74.148
	Section 74.149
	Section 74.150
	Section 74.151
	Section 74.152
	Section 74.153
	Section 74.154
	Section 74.155
	Section 74.156
	Section 74.157
	Section 74.158
	Section 74.159
	Section 74.160
	Section 74.161
	Section 74.162
	Section 74.163
	Section 74.164
	Section 74.165
	Section 74.166
	Section 74.167
	Section 74.168
	Section 74.169
	Section 74.170
	Section 74.171
	Section 74.172
	Section 74.173
	Section 74.174
	Section 74.175
	Section 74.176
	Section 74.177
	Section 74.178
	Section 74.179
	Section 74.180
	Section 74.181
	Section 74.182
	Section 74.183
	Section 74.184
	Section 74.185
	Section 74.186
	Section 74.187
	Section 74.188
	Section 74.189
	Section 74.190
	Section 74.191
	Section 74.192
	Section 74.193
	Section 74.194
	Section 74.195
	Section 74.196
	Section 74.197
	Section 74.198
	Section 74.199
	Section 74.200
	Section 74.201
	Section 74.202
	Section 74.203
	Section 74.204
	Section 74.205
	Section 74.206
	Section 74.207
	Section 74.208
	Section 74.209
	Section 74.210
	Section 74.211
	Section 74.212
	Section 74.213
	Section 74.214
	Section 74.215
	Section 74.216
	Section 74.217
	Section 74.218
	Section 74.219
	Section 74.220
	Section 74.221
	Section 74.222
	Section 74.223
	Section 74.224
	Section 74.225
	Section 74.226
	Section 74.227
	Section 74.228
	Section 74.229
	Section 74.230
	Section 74.231
	Section 74.232
	Section 74.233
	Section 74.234
	Section 74.235
	Section 74.236
	Section 74.237
	Section 74.238
	Section 74.239
	Section 74.240
	Section 74.241
	Section 74.242
	Section 74.243
	Section 74.244
	Section 74.245
	Section 74.246
	Section 74.247
	Section 74.248
	Section 74.249
	Section 74.250
	Section 74.251
	Section 74.252
	Section 74.253
	Section 74.254
	Section 74.255
	Section 74.256
	Section 74.257
	Section 74.258
	Section 74.259
	Section 74.260
	Section 74.261
	Section 74.262
	Section 74.263
	Section 74.264
	Section 74.265
	Section 74.266
	Section 74.267
	Section 74.268
	Section 74.269
	Section 74.270
	Section 74.271
	Section 74.272
	Section 74.273
	Section 74.274
	Section 74.275
	Section 74.276
	Section 74.277
	Section 74.278
	Section 74.279
	Section 74.280
	Section 74.281
	Section 74.282
	Section 74.283
	Section 74.284
	Section 74.285
	Section 74.286
	Section 74.287
	Section 74.288
	Section 74.289
	Section 74.290
	Section 74.291
	Section 74.292
	Section 74.293
	Section 74.294
	Section 74.295
	Section 74.296
	Section 74.297
	Section 74.298
	Section 74.299
	Section 74.300
	Section 74.301
	Section 74.302
	Section 74.303
	Section 74.304
	Section 74.305
	Section 74.306
	Section 74.307
	Section 74.308
	Section 74.309
	Section 74.310
	Section 74.311
	Section 74.312
	Section 74.313
	Section 74.314
	Section 74.315
	Section 74.316
	Section 74.317
	Section 74.318
	Section 74.319
	Section 74.320
	Section 74.321
	Section 74.322
	Section 74.323
	Section 74.324
	Section 74.325
	Section 74.326
	Section 74.327
	Section 74.328
	Section 74.329
	Section 74.330
	Section 74.331
	Section 74.332
	Section 74.333
	Section 74.334
	Section 74.335
	Section 74.336
	Section 74.337
	Section 74.338
	Section 74.339
	Section 74.340
	Section 74.341
	Section 74.342
	Section 74.343
	Section 74.344
	Section 74.345
	Section 74.346
	Section 74.347
	Section 74.348
	Section 74.349
	Section 74.350
	Section 74.351
	Section 74.352
	Section 74.353
	Section 74.354
	Section 74.355
	Section 74.356
	Section 74.357
	Section 74.358
	Section 74.359
	Section 74.360
	Section 74.361
	Section 74.362
	Section 74.363
	Section 74.364
	Section 74.365
	Section 74.366
	Section 74.367
	Section 74.368
	Section 74.369
	Section 74.370
	Section 74.371
	Section 74.372
	Section 74.373
	Section 74.374
	Section 74.375
	Section 74.376
	Section 74.377
	Section 74.378
	Section 74.379
	Section 74.380
	Section 74.381
	Section 74.382
	Section 74.383
	Section 74.384
	Section 74.385
	Section 74.386
	Section 74.387
	Section 74.388
	Section 74.389
	Section 74.390
	Section 74.391
	Section 74.392
	Section 74.393
	Section 74.394
	Section 74.395
	Section 74.396
	Section 74.397
	Section 74.398
	Section 74.399
	Section 74.400
	Section 21.401  Illicit Discharges
	Section 21.402  Exempted Discharges
	Section 21.403  Interference with Natural or Artificial Drainageway
	Section 21.404  Storage of Hazardous or Toxic Materials in Drainageway

	Article V. Inspection, Monitoring, Reporting, and Recordkeeping
	Article LXXV.
	Article LXXVI.
	Article LXXVII.
	Article LXXVIII.
	Article LXXIX.
	Article LXXX.
	Article LXXXI.
	Article LXXXII.
	Article LXXXIII.
	Article LXXXIV.
	Article LXXXV.
	Article LXXXVI.
	Article LXXXVII.
	Article LXXXVIII.
	Article LXXXIX.
	Article XC.
	Section 90.01
	Section 90.02
	Section 90.03
	Section 90.04
	Section 90.05
	Section 90.06
	Section 90.07
	Section 90.08
	Section 90.09
	Section 90.10
	Section 90.11
	Section 90.12
	Section 90.13
	Section 90.14
	Section 90.15
	Section 90.16
	Section 90.17
	Section 90.18
	Section 90.19
	Section 90.20
	Section 90.21
	Section 90.22
	Section 90.23
	Section 90.24
	Section 90.25
	Section 90.26
	Section 90.27
	Section 90.28
	Section 90.29
	Section 90.30
	Section 90.31
	Section 90.32
	Section 90.33
	Section 90.34
	Section 90.35
	Section 90.36
	Section 90.37
	Section 90.38
	Section 90.39
	Section 90.40
	Section 90.41
	Section 90.42
	Section 90.43
	Section 90.44
	Section 90.45
	Section 90.46
	Section 90.47
	Section 90.48
	Section 90.49
	Section 90.50
	Section 90.51
	Section 90.52
	Section 90.53
	Section 90.54
	Section 90.55
	Section 90.56
	Section 90.57
	Section 90.58
	Section 90.59
	Section 90.60
	Section 90.61
	Section 90.62
	Section 90.63
	Section 90.64
	Section 90.65
	Section 90.66
	Section 90.67
	Section 90.68
	Section 90.69
	Section 90.70
	Section 90.71
	Section 90.72
	Section 90.73
	Section 90.74
	Section 90.75
	Section 90.76
	Section 90.77
	Section 90.78
	Section 90.79
	Section 90.80
	Section 90.81
	Section 90.82
	Section 90.83
	Section 90.84
	Section 90.85
	Section 90.86
	Section 90.87
	Section 90.88
	Section 90.89
	Section 90.90
	Section 90.91
	Section 90.92
	Section 90.93
	Section 90.94
	Section 90.95
	Section 90.96
	Section 90.97
	Section 90.98
	Section 90.99
	Section 90.100
	Section 90.101
	Section 90.102
	Section 90.103
	Section 90.104
	Section 90.105
	Section 90.106
	Section 90.107
	Section 90.108
	Section 90.109
	Section 90.110
	Section 90.111
	Section 90.112
	Section 90.113
	Section 90.114
	Section 90.115
	Section 90.116
	Section 90.117
	Section 90.118
	Section 90.119
	Section 90.120
	Section 90.121
	Section 90.122
	Section 90.123
	Section 90.124
	Section 90.125
	Section 90.126
	Section 90.127
	Section 90.128
	Section 90.129
	Section 90.130
	Section 90.131
	Section 90.132
	Section 90.133
	Section 90.134
	Section 90.135
	Section 90.136
	Section 90.137
	Section 90.138
	Section 90.139
	Section 90.140
	Section 90.141
	Section 90.142
	Section 90.143
	Section 90.144
	Section 90.145
	Section 90.146
	Section 90.147
	Section 90.148
	Section 90.149
	Section 90.150
	Section 90.151
	Section 90.152
	Section 90.153
	Section 90.154
	Section 90.155
	Section 90.156
	Section 90.157
	Section 90.158
	Section 90.159
	Section 90.160
	Section 90.161
	Section 90.162
	Section 90.163
	Section 90.164
	Section 90.165
	Section 90.166
	Section 90.167
	Section 90.168
	Section 90.169
	Section 90.170
	Section 90.171
	Section 90.172
	Section 90.173
	Section 90.174
	Section 90.175
	Section 90.176
	Section 90.177
	Section 90.178
	Section 90.179
	Section 90.180
	Section 90.181
	Section 90.182
	Section 90.183
	Section 90.184
	Section 90.185
	Section 90.186
	Section 90.187
	Section 90.188
	Section 90.189
	Section 90.190
	Section 90.191
	Section 90.192
	Section 90.193
	Section 90.194
	Section 90.195
	Section 90.196
	Section 90.197
	Section 90.198
	Section 90.199
	Section 90.200
	Section 90.201
	Section 90.202
	Section 90.203
	Section 90.204
	Section 90.205
	Section 90.206
	Section 90.207
	Section 90.208
	Section 90.209
	Section 90.210
	Section 90.211
	Section 90.212
	Section 90.213
	Section 90.214
	Section 90.215
	Section 90.216
	Section 90.217
	Section 90.218
	Section 90.219
	Section 90.220
	Section 90.221
	Section 90.222
	Section 90.223
	Section 90.224
	Section 90.225
	Section 90.226
	Section 90.227
	Section 90.228
	Section 90.229
	Section 90.230
	Section 90.231
	Section 90.232
	Section 90.233
	Section 90.234
	Section 90.235
	Section 90.236
	Section 90.237
	Section 90.238
	Section 90.239
	Section 90.240
	Section 90.241
	Section 90.242
	Section 90.243
	Section 90.244
	Section 90.245
	Section 90.246
	Section 90.247
	Section 90.248
	Section 90.249
	Section 90.250
	Section 90.251
	Section 90.252
	Section 90.253
	Section 90.254
	Section 90.255
	Section 90.256
	Section 90.257
	Section 90.258
	Section 90.259
	Section 90.260
	Section 90.261
	Section 90.262
	Section 90.263
	Section 90.264
	Section 90.265
	Section 90.266
	Section 90.267
	Section 90.268
	Section 90.269
	Section 90.270
	Section 90.271
	Section 90.272
	Section 90.273
	Section 90.274
	Section 90.275
	Section 90.276
	Section 90.277
	Section 90.278
	Section 90.279
	Section 90.280
	Section 90.281
	Section 90.282
	Section 90.283
	Section 90.284
	Section 90.285
	Section 90.286
	Section 90.287
	Section 90.288
	Section 90.289
	Section 90.290
	Section 90.291
	Section 90.292
	Section 90.293
	Section 90.294
	Section 90.295
	Section 90.296
	Section 90.297
	Section 90.298
	Section 90.299
	Section 90.300
	Section 90.301
	Section 90.302
	Section 90.303
	Section 90.304
	Section 90.305
	Section 90.306
	Section 90.307
	Section 90.308
	Section 90.309
	Section 90.310
	Section 90.311
	Section 90.312
	Section 90.313
	Section 90.314
	Section 90.315
	Section 90.316
	Section 90.317
	Section 90.318
	Section 90.319
	Section 90.320
	Section 90.321
	Section 90.322
	Section 90.323
	Section 90.324
	Section 90.325
	Section 90.326
	Section 90.327
	Section 90.328
	Section 90.329
	Section 90.330
	Section 90.331
	Section 90.332
	Section 90.333
	Section 90.334
	Section 90.335
	Section 90.336
	Section 90.337
	Section 90.338
	Section 90.339
	Section 90.340
	Section 90.341
	Section 90.342
	Section 90.343
	Section 90.344
	Section 90.345
	Section 90.346
	Section 90.347
	Section 90.348
	Section 90.349
	Section 90.350
	Section 90.351
	Section 90.352
	Section 90.353
	Section 90.354
	Section 90.355
	Section 90.356
	Section 90.357
	Section 90.358
	Section 90.359
	Section 90.360
	Section 90.361
	Section 90.362
	Section 90.363
	Section 90.364
	Section 90.365
	Section 90.366
	Section 90.367
	Section 90.368
	Section 90.369
	Section 90.370
	Section 90.371
	Section 90.372
	Section 90.373
	Section 90.374
	Section 90.375
	Section 90.376
	Section 90.377
	Section 90.378
	Section 90.379
	Section 90.380
	Section 90.381
	Section 90.382
	Section 90.383
	Section 90.384
	Section 90.385
	Section 90.386
	Section 90.387
	Section 90.388
	Section 90.389
	Section 90.390
	Section 90.391
	Section 90.392
	Section 90.393
	Section 90.394
	Section 90.395
	Section 90.396
	Section 90.397
	Section 90.398
	Section 90.399
	Section 90.400
	Section 90.401
	Section 90.402
	Section 90.403
	Section 90.404
	Section 90.405
	Section 90.406
	Section 90.407
	Section 90.408
	Section 90.409
	Section 90.410
	Section 90.411
	Section 90.412
	Section 90.413
	Section 90.414
	Section 90.415
	Section 90.416
	Section 90.417
	Section 90.418
	Section 90.419
	Section 90.420
	Section 90.421
	Section 90.422
	Section 90.423
	Section 90.424
	Section 90.425
	Section 90.426
	Section 90.427
	Section 90.428
	Section 90.429
	Section 90.430
	Section 90.431
	Section 90.432
	Section 90.433
	Section 90.434
	Section 90.435
	Section 90.436
	Section 90.437
	Section 90.438
	Section 90.439
	Section 90.440
	Section 90.441
	Section 90.442
	Section 90.443
	Section 90.444
	Section 90.445
	Section 90.446
	Section 90.447
	Section 90.448
	Section 90.449
	Section 90.450
	Section 90.451
	Section 90.452
	Section 90.453
	Section 90.454
	Section 90.455
	Section 90.456
	Section 90.457
	Section 90.458
	Section 90.459
	Section 90.460
	Section 90.461
	Section 90.462
	Section 90.463
	Section 90.464
	Section 90.465
	Section 90.466
	Section 90.467
	Section 90.468
	Section 90.469
	Section 90.470
	Section 90.471
	Section 90.472
	Section 90.473
	Section 90.474
	Section 90.475
	Section 90.476
	Section 90.477
	Section 90.478
	Section 90.479
	Section 90.480
	Section 90.481
	Section 90.482
	Section 90.483
	Section 90.484
	Section 90.485
	Section 90.486
	Section 90.487
	Section 90.488
	Section 90.489
	Section 90.490
	Section 90.491
	Section 90.492
	Section 90.493
	Section 90.494
	Section 90.495
	Section 90.496
	Section 90.497
	Section 90.498
	Section 90.499
	Section 90.500
	Section 21.501  Investigate, Inspect, and Monitor suspected illicit discharges
	Section 21.502  Storm Water Monitoring Facilities
	Section 21.503  Accidental Discharges
	Section 21.504  Record Keeping Requirement

	Article VI. Enforcement
	Article XCI.
	Article XCII.
	Article XCIII.
	Article XCIV.
	Article XCV.
	Article XCVI.
	Article XCVII.
	Article XCVIII.
	Article XCIX.
	Article C.
	Article CI.
	Article CII.
	Article CIII.
	Article CIV.
	Article CV.
	Section 105.01
	Section 105.02
	Section 105.03
	Section 105.04
	Section 105.05
	Section 105.06
	Section 105.07
	Section 105.08
	Section 105.09
	Section 105.10
	Section 105.11
	Section 105.12
	Section 105.13
	Section 105.14
	Section 105.15
	Section 105.16
	Section 105.17
	Section 105.18
	Section 105.19
	Section 105.20
	Section 105.21
	Section 105.22
	Section 105.23
	Section 105.24
	Section 105.25
	Section 105.26
	Section 105.27
	Section 105.28
	Section 105.29
	Section 105.30
	Section 105.31
	Section 105.32
	Section 105.33
	Section 105.34
	Section 105.35
	Section 105.36
	Section 105.37
	Section 105.38
	Section 105.39
	Section 105.40
	Section 105.41
	Section 105.42
	Section 105.43
	Section 105.44
	Section 105.45
	Section 105.46
	Section 105.47
	Section 105.48
	Section 105.49
	Section 105.50
	Section 105.51
	Section 105.52
	Section 105.53
	Section 105.54
	Section 105.55
	Section 105.56
	Section 105.57
	Section 105.58
	Section 105.59
	Section 105.60
	Section 105.61
	Section 105.62
	Section 105.63
	Section 105.64
	Section 105.65
	Section 105.66
	Section 105.67
	Section 105.68
	Section 105.69
	Section 105.70
	Section 105.71
	Section 105.72
	Section 105.73
	Section 105.74
	Section 105.75
	Section 105.76
	Section 105.77
	Section 105.78
	Section 105.79
	Section 105.80
	Section 105.81
	Section 105.82
	Section 105.83
	Section 105.84
	Section 105.85
	Section 105.86
	Section 105.87
	Section 105.88
	Section 105.89
	Section 105.90
	Section 105.91
	Section 105.92
	Section 105.93
	Section 105.94
	Section 105.95
	Section 105.96
	Section 105.97
	Section 105.98
	Section 105.99
	Section 105.100
	Section 105.101
	Section 105.102
	Section 105.103
	Section 105.104
	Section 105.105
	Section 105.106
	Section 105.107
	Section 105.108
	Section 105.109
	Section 105.110
	Section 105.111
	Section 105.112
	Section 105.113
	Section 105.114
	Section 105.115
	Section 105.116
	Section 105.117
	Section 105.118
	Section 105.119
	Section 105.120
	Section 105.121
	Section 105.122
	Section 105.123
	Section 105.124
	Section 105.125
	Section 105.126
	Section 105.127
	Section 105.128
	Section 105.129
	Section 105.130
	Section 105.131
	Section 105.132
	Section 105.133
	Section 105.134
	Section 105.135
	Section 105.136
	Section 105.137
	Section 105.138
	Section 105.139
	Section 105.140
	Section 105.141
	Section 105.142
	Section 105.143
	Section 105.144
	Section 105.145
	Section 105.146
	Section 105.147
	Section 105.148
	Section 105.149
	Section 105.150
	Section 105.151
	Section 105.152
	Section 105.153
	Section 105.154
	Section 105.155
	Section 105.156
	Section 105.157
	Section 105.158
	Section 105.159
	Section 105.160
	Section 105.161
	Section 105.162
	Section 105.163
	Section 105.164
	Section 105.165
	Section 105.166
	Section 105.167
	Section 105.168
	Section 105.169
	Section 105.170
	Section 105.171
	Section 105.172
	Section 105.173
	Section 105.174
	Section 105.175
	Section 105.176
	Section 105.177
	Section 105.178
	Section 105.179
	Section 105.180
	Section 105.181
	Section 105.182
	Section 105.183
	Section 105.184
	Section 105.185
	Section 105.186
	Section 105.187
	Section 105.188
	Section 105.189
	Section 105.190
	Section 105.191
	Section 105.192
	Section 105.193
	Section 105.194
	Section 105.195
	Section 105.196
	Section 105.197
	Section 105.198
	Section 105.199
	Section 105.200
	Section 105.201
	Section 105.202
	Section 105.203
	Section 105.204
	Section 105.205
	Section 105.206
	Section 105.207
	Section 105.208
	Section 105.209
	Section 105.210
	Section 105.211
	Section 105.212
	Section 105.213
	Section 105.214
	Section 105.215
	Section 105.216
	Section 105.217
	Section 105.218
	Section 105.219
	Section 105.220
	Section 105.221
	Section 105.222
	Section 105.223
	Section 105.224
	Section 105.225
	Section 105.226
	Section 105.227
	Section 105.228
	Section 105.229
	Section 105.230
	Section 105.231
	Section 105.232
	Section 105.233
	Section 105.234
	Section 105.235
	Section 105.236
	Section 105.237
	Section 105.238
	Section 105.239
	Section 105.240
	Section 105.241
	Section 105.242
	Section 105.243
	Section 105.244
	Section 105.245
	Section 105.246
	Section 105.247
	Section 105.248
	Section 105.249
	Section 105.250
	Section 105.251
	Section 105.252
	Section 105.253
	Section 105.254
	Section 105.255
	Section 105.256
	Section 105.257
	Section 105.258
	Section 105.259
	Section 105.260
	Section 105.261
	Section 105.262
	Section 105.263
	Section 105.264
	Section 105.265
	Section 105.266
	Section 105.267
	Section 105.268
	Section 105.269
	Section 105.270
	Section 105.271
	Section 105.272
	Section 105.273
	Section 105.274
	Section 105.275
	Section 105.276
	Section 105.277
	Section 105.278
	Section 105.279
	Section 105.280
	Section 105.281
	Section 105.282
	Section 105.283
	Section 105.284
	Section 105.285
	Section 105.286
	Section 105.287
	Section 105.288
	Section 105.289
	Section 105.290
	Section 105.291
	Section 105.292
	Section 105.293
	Section 105.294
	Section 105.295
	Section 105.296
	Section 105.297
	Section 105.298
	Section 105.299
	Section 105.300
	Section 105.301
	Section 105.302
	Section 105.303
	Section 105.304
	Section 105.305
	Section 105.306
	Section 105.307
	Section 105.308
	Section 105.309
	Section 105.310
	Section 105.311
	Section 105.312
	Section 105.313
	Section 105.314
	Section 105.315
	Section 105.316
	Section 105.317
	Section 105.318
	Section 105.319
	Section 105.320
	Section 105.321
	Section 105.322
	Section 105.323
	Section 105.324
	Section 105.325
	Section 105.326
	Section 105.327
	Section 105.328
	Section 105.329
	Section 105.330
	Section 105.331
	Section 105.332
	Section 105.333
	Section 105.334
	Section 105.335
	Section 105.336
	Section 105.337
	Section 105.338
	Section 105.339
	Section 105.340
	Section 105.341
	Section 105.342
	Section 105.343
	Section 105.344
	Section 105.345
	Section 105.346
	Section 105.347
	Section 105.348
	Section 105.349
	Section 105.350
	Section 105.351
	Section 105.352
	Section 105.353
	Section 105.354
	Section 105.355
	Section 105.356
	Section 105.357
	Section 105.358
	Section 105.359
	Section 105.360
	Section 105.361
	Section 105.362
	Section 105.363
	Section 105.364
	Section 105.365
	Section 105.366
	Section 105.367
	Section 105.368
	Section 105.369
	Section 105.370
	Section 105.371
	Section 105.372
	Section 105.373
	Section 105.374
	Section 105.375
	Section 105.376
	Section 105.377
	Section 105.378
	Section 105.379
	Section 105.380
	Section 105.381
	Section 105.382
	Section 105.383
	Section 105.384
	Section 105.385
	Section 105.386
	Section 105.387
	Section 105.388
	Section 105.389
	Section 105.390
	Section 105.391
	Section 105.392
	Section 105.393
	Section 105.394
	Section 105.395
	Section 105.396
	Section 105.397
	Section 105.398
	Section 105.399
	Section 105.400
	Section 105.401
	Section 105.402
	Section 105.403
	Section 105.404
	Section 105.405
	Section 105.406
	Section 105.407
	Section 105.408
	Section 105.409
	Section 105.410
	Section 105.411
	Section 105.412
	Section 105.413
	Section 105.414
	Section 105.415
	Section 105.416
	Section 105.417
	Section 105.418
	Section 105.419
	Section 105.420
	Section 105.421
	Section 105.422
	Section 105.423
	Section 105.424
	Section 105.425
	Section 105.426
	Section 105.427
	Section 105.428
	Section 105.429
	Section 105.430
	Section 105.431
	Section 105.432
	Section 105.433
	Section 105.434
	Section 105.435
	Section 105.436
	Section 105.437
	Section 105.438
	Section 105.439
	Section 105.440
	Section 105.441
	Section 105.442
	Section 105.443
	Section 105.444
	Section 105.445
	Section 105.446
	Section 105.447
	Section 105.448
	Section 105.449
	Section 105.450
	Section 105.451
	Section 105.452
	Section 105.453
	Section 105.454
	Section 105.455
	Section 105.456
	Section 105.457
	Section 105.458
	Section 105.459
	Section 105.460
	Section 105.461
	Section 105.462
	Section 105.463
	Section 105.464
	Section 105.465
	Section 105.466
	Section 105.467
	Section 105.468
	Section 105.469
	Section 105.470
	Section 105.471
	Section 105.472
	Section 105.473
	Section 105.474
	Section 105.475
	Section 105.476
	Section 105.477
	Section 105.478
	Section 105.479
	Section 105.480
	Section 105.481
	Section 105.482
	Section 105.483
	Section 105.484
	Section 105.485
	Section 105.486
	Section 105.487
	Section 105.488
	Section 105.489
	Section 105.490
	Section 105.491
	Section 105.492
	Section 105.493
	Section 105.494
	Section 105.495
	Section 105.496
	Section 105.497
	Section 105.498
	Section 105.499
	Section 105.500
	Section 105.501
	Section 105.502
	Section 105.503
	Section 105.504
	Section 105.505
	Section 105.506
	Section 105.507
	Section 105.508
	Section 105.509
	Section 105.510
	Section 105.511
	Section 105.512
	Section 105.513
	Section 105.514
	Section 105.515
	Section 105.516
	Section 105.517
	Section 105.518
	Section 105.519
	Section 105.520
	Section 105.521
	Section 105.522
	Section 105.523
	Section 105.524
	Section 105.525
	Section 105.526
	Section 105.527
	Section 105.528
	Section 105.529
	Section 105.530
	Section 105.531
	Section 105.532
	Section 105.533
	Section 105.534
	Section 105.535
	Section 105.536
	Section 105.537
	Section 105.538
	Section 105.539
	Section 105.540
	Section 105.541
	Section 105.542
	Section 105.543
	Section 105.544
	Section 105.545
	Section 105.546
	Section 105.547
	Section 105.548
	Section 105.549
	Section 105.550
	Section 105.551
	Section 105.552
	Section 105.553
	Section 105.554
	Section 105.555
	Section 105.556
	Section 105.557
	Section 105.558
	Section 105.559
	Section 105.560
	Section 105.561
	Section 105.562
	Section 105.563
	Section 105.564
	Section 105.565
	Section 105.566
	Section 105.567
	Section 105.568
	Section 105.569
	Section 105.570
	Section 105.571
	Section 105.572
	Section 105.573
	Section 105.574
	Section 105.575
	Section 105.576
	Section 105.577
	Section 105.578
	Section 105.579
	Section 105.580
	Section 105.581
	Section 105.582
	Section 105.583
	Section 105.584
	Section 105.585
	Section 105.586
	Section 105.587
	Section 105.588
	Section 105.589
	Section 105.590
	Section 105.591
	Section 105.592
	Section 105.593
	Section 105.594
	Section 105.595
	Section 105.596
	Section 105.597
	Section 105.598
	Section 105.599
	Section 105.600
	Section 21.601  Sanctions for Violation
	Section 21.602  Stop Work Order
	Section 21.603  Failure to Comply; Completion
	Section 21.604  Emergency Measures
	Section 21.605  Cost Recovery for Damage to Storm Drain System
	Section 21.606  Collection of Costs; Lien
	Section 21.607  Appeals

	Article VII> Storm Water Easements and Maintenance Agreements
	Article CVI.
	Article CVII.
	Article CVIII.
	Article CIX.
	Article CX.
	Article CXI.
	Article CXII.
	Article CXIII.
	Article CXIV.
	Article CXV.
	Article CXVI.
	Article CXVII.
	Article CXVIII.
	Article CXIX.
	Section 119.01
	Section 119.02
	Section 119.03
	Section 119.04
	Section 119.05
	Section 119.06
	Section 119.07
	Section 119.08
	Section 119.09
	Section 119.10
	Section 119.11
	Section 119.12
	Section 119.13
	Section 119.14
	Section 119.15
	Section 119.16
	Section 119.17
	Section 119.18
	Section 119.19
	Section 119.20
	Section 119.21
	Section 119.22
	Section 119.23
	Section 119.24
	Section 119.25
	Section 119.26
	Section 119.27
	Section 119.28
	Section 119.29
	Section 119.30
	Section 119.31
	Section 119.32
	Section 119.33
	Section 119.34
	Section 119.35
	Section 119.36
	Section 119.37
	Section 119.38
	Section 119.39
	Section 119.40
	Section 119.41
	Section 119.42
	Section 119.43
	Section 119.44
	Section 119.45
	Section 119.46
	Section 119.47
	Section 119.48
	Section 119.49
	Section 119.50
	Section 119.51
	Section 119.52
	Section 119.53
	Section 119.54
	Section 119.55
	Section 119.56
	Section 119.57
	Section 119.58
	Section 119.59
	Section 119.60
	Section 119.61
	Section 119.62
	Section 119.63
	Section 119.64
	Section 119.65
	Section 119.66
	Section 119.67
	Section 119.68
	Section 119.69
	Section 119.70
	Section 119.71
	Section 119.72
	Section 119.73
	Section 119.74
	Section 119.75
	Section 119.76
	Section 119.77
	Section 119.78
	Section 119.79
	Section 119.80
	Section 119.81
	Section 119.82
	Section 119.83
	Section 119.84
	Section 119.85
	Section 119.86
	Section 119.87
	Section 119.88
	Section 119.89
	Section 119.90
	Section 119.91
	Section 119.92
	Section 119.93
	Section 119.94
	Section 119.95
	Section 119.96
	Section 119.97
	Section 119.98
	Section 119.99
	Section 119.100
	Section 119.101
	Section 119.102
	Section 119.103
	Section 119.104
	Section 119.105
	Section 119.106
	Section 119.107
	Section 119.108
	Section 119.109
	Section 119.110
	Section 119.111
	Section 119.112
	Section 119.113
	Section 119.114
	Section 119.115
	Section 119.116
	Section 119.117
	Section 119.118
	Section 119.119
	Section 119.120
	Section 119.121
	Section 119.122
	Section 119.123
	Section 119.124
	Section 119.125
	Section 119.126
	Section 119.127
	Section 119.128
	Section 119.129
	Section 119.130
	Section 119.131
	Section 119.132
	Section 119.133
	Section 119.134
	Section 119.135
	Section 119.136
	Section 119.137
	Section 119.138
	Section 119.139
	Section 119.140
	Section 119.141
	Section 119.142
	Section 119.143
	Section 119.144
	Section 119.145
	Section 119.146
	Section 119.147
	Section 119.148
	Section 119.149
	Section 119.150
	Section 119.151
	Section 119.152
	Section 119.153
	Section 119.154
	Section 119.155
	Section 119.156
	Section 119.157
	Section 119.158
	Section 119.159
	Section 119.160
	Section 119.161
	Section 119.162
	Section 119.163
	Section 119.164
	Section 119.165
	Section 119.166
	Section 119.167
	Section 119.168
	Section 119.169
	Section 119.170
	Section 119.171
	Section 119.172
	Section 119.173
	Section 119.174
	Section 119.175
	Section 119.176
	Section 119.177
	Section 119.178
	Section 119.179
	Section 119.180
	Section 119.181
	Section 119.182
	Section 119.183
	Section 119.184
	Section 119.185
	Section 119.186
	Section 119.187
	Section 119.188
	Section 119.189
	Section 119.190
	Section 119.191
	Section 119.192
	Section 119.193
	Section 119.194
	Section 119.195
	Section 119.196
	Section 119.197
	Section 119.198
	Section 119.199
	Section 119.200
	Section 119.201
	Section 119.202
	Section 119.203
	Section 119.204
	Section 119.205
	Section 119.206
	Section 119.207
	Section 119.208
	Section 119.209
	Section 119.210
	Section 119.211
	Section 119.212
	Section 119.213
	Section 119.214
	Section 119.215
	Section 119.216
	Section 119.217
	Section 119.218
	Section 119.219
	Section 119.220
	Section 119.221
	Section 119.222
	Section 119.223
	Section 119.224
	Section 119.225
	Section 119.226
	Section 119.227
	Section 119.228
	Section 119.229
	Section 119.230
	Section 119.231
	Section 119.232
	Section 119.233
	Section 119.234
	Section 119.235
	Section 119.236
	Section 119.237
	Section 119.238
	Section 119.239
	Section 119.240
	Section 119.241
	Section 119.242
	Section 119.243
	Section 119.244
	Section 119.245
	Section 119.246
	Section 119.247
	Section 119.248
	Section 119.249
	Section 119.250
	Section 119.251
	Section 119.252
	Section 119.253
	Section 119.254
	Section 119.255
	Section 119.256
	Section 119.257
	Section 119.258
	Section 119.259
	Section 119.260
	Section 119.261
	Section 119.262
	Section 119.263
	Section 119.264
	Section 119.265
	Section 119.266
	Section 119.267
	Section 119.268
	Section 119.269
	Section 119.270
	Section 119.271
	Section 119.272
	Section 119.273
	Section 119.274
	Section 119.275
	Section 119.276
	Section 119.277
	Section 119.278
	Section 119.279
	Section 119.280
	Section 119.281
	Section 119.282
	Section 119.283
	Section 119.284
	Section 119.285
	Section 119.286
	Section 119.287
	Section 119.288
	Section 119.289
	Section 119.290
	Section 119.291
	Section 119.292
	Section 119.293
	Section 119.294
	Section 119.295
	Section 119.296
	Section 119.297
	Section 119.298
	Section 119.299
	Section 119.300
	Section 119.301
	Section 119.302
	Section 119.303
	Section 119.304
	Section 119.305
	Section 119.306
	Section 119.307
	Section 119.308
	Section 119.309
	Section 119.310
	Section 119.311
	Section 119.312
	Section 119.313
	Section 119.314
	Section 119.315
	Section 119.316
	Section 119.317
	Section 119.318
	Section 119.319
	Section 119.320
	Section 119.321
	Section 119.322
	Section 119.323
	Section 119.324
	Section 119.325
	Section 119.326
	Section 119.327
	Section 119.328
	Section 119.329
	Section 119.330
	Section 119.331
	Section 119.332
	Section 119.333
	Section 119.334
	Section 119.335
	Section 119.336
	Section 119.337
	Section 119.338
	Section 119.339
	Section 119.340
	Section 119.341
	Section 119.342
	Section 119.343
	Section 119.344
	Section 119.345
	Section 119.346
	Section 119.347
	Section 119.348
	Section 119.349
	Section 119.350
	Section 119.351
	Section 119.352
	Section 119.353
	Section 119.354
	Section 119.355
	Section 119.356
	Section 119.357
	Section 119.358
	Section 119.359
	Section 119.360
	Section 119.361
	Section 119.362
	Section 119.363
	Section 119.364
	Section 119.365
	Section 119.366
	Section 119.367
	Section 119.368
	Section 119.369
	Section 119.370
	Section 119.371
	Section 119.372
	Section 119.373
	Section 119.374
	Section 119.375
	Section 119.376
	Section 119.377
	Section 119.378
	Section 119.379
	Section 119.380
	Section 119.381
	Section 119.382
	Section 119.383
	Section 119.384
	Section 119.385
	Section 119.386
	Section 119.387
	Section 119.388
	Section 119.389
	Section 119.390
	Section 119.391
	Section 119.392
	Section 119.393
	Section 119.394
	Section 119.395
	Section 119.396
	Section 119.397
	Section 119.398
	Section 119.399
	Section 119.400
	Section 119.401
	Section 119.402
	Section 119.403
	Section 119.404
	Section 119.405
	Section 119.406
	Section 119.407
	Section 119.408
	Section 119.409
	Section 119.410
	Section 119.411
	Section 119.412
	Section 119.413
	Section 119.414
	Section 119.415
	Section 119.416
	Section 119.417
	Section 119.418
	Section 119.419
	Section 119.420
	Section 119.421
	Section 119.422
	Section 119.423
	Section 119.424
	Section 119.425
	Section 119.426
	Section 119.427
	Section 119.428
	Section 119.429
	Section 119.430
	Section 119.431
	Section 119.432
	Section 119.433
	Section 119.434
	Section 119.435
	Section 119.436
	Section 119.437
	Section 119.438
	Section 119.439
	Section 119.440
	Section 119.441
	Section 119.442
	Section 119.443
	Section 119.444
	Section 119.445
	Section 119.446
	Section 119.447
	Section 119.448
	Section 119.449
	Section 119.450
	Section 119.451
	Section 119.452
	Section 119.453
	Section 119.454
	Section 119.455
	Section 119.456
	Section 119.457
	Section 119.458
	Section 119.459
	Section 119.460
	Section 119.461
	Section 119.462
	Section 119.463
	Section 119.464
	Section 119.465
	Section 119.466
	Section 119.467
	Section 119.468
	Section 119.469
	Section 119.470
	Section 119.471
	Section 119.472
	Section 119.473
	Section 119.474
	Section 119.475
	Section 119.476
	Section 119.477
	Section 119.478
	Section 119.479
	Section 119.480
	Section 119.481
	Section 119.482
	Section 119.483
	Section 119.484
	Section 119.485
	Section 119.486
	Section 119.487
	Section 119.488
	Section 119.489
	Section 119.490
	Section 119.491
	Section 119.492
	Section 119.493
	Section 119.494
	Section 119.495
	Section 119.496
	Section 119.497
	Section 119.498
	Section 119.499
	Section 119.500
	Section 119.501
	Section 119.502
	Section 119.503
	Section 119.504
	Section 119.505
	Section 119.506
	Section 119.507
	Section 119.508
	Section 119.509
	Section 119.510
	Section 119.511
	Section 119.512
	Section 119.513
	Section 119.514
	Section 119.515
	Section 119.516
	Section 119.517
	Section 119.518
	Section 119.519
	Section 119.520
	Section 119.521
	Section 119.522
	Section 119.523
	Section 119.524
	Section 119.525
	Section 119.526
	Section 119.527
	Section 119.528
	Section 119.529
	Section 119.530
	Section 119.531
	Section 119.532
	Section 119.533
	Section 119.534
	Section 119.535
	Section 119.536
	Section 119.537
	Section 119.538
	Section 119.539
	Section 119.540
	Section 119.541
	Section 119.542
	Section 119.543
	Section 119.544
	Section 119.545
	Section 119.546
	Section 119.547
	Section 119.548
	Section 119.549
	Section 119.550
	Section 119.551
	Section 119.552
	Section 119.553
	Section 119.554
	Section 119.555
	Section 119.556
	Section 119.557
	Section 119.558
	Section 119.559
	Section 119.560
	Section 119.561
	Section 119.562
	Section 119.563
	Section 119.564
	Section 119.565
	Section 119.566
	Section 119.567
	Section 119.568
	Section 119.569
	Section 119.570
	Section 119.571
	Section 119.572
	Section 119.573
	Section 119.574
	Section 119.575
	Section 119.576
	Section 119.577
	Section 119.578
	Section 119.579
	Section 119.580
	Section 119.581
	Section 119.582
	Section 119.583
	Section 119.584
	Section 119.585
	Section 119.586
	Section 119.587
	Section 119.588
	Section 119.589
	Section 119.590
	Section 119.591
	Section 119.592
	Section 119.593
	Section 119.594
	Section 119.595
	Section 119.596
	Section 119.597
	Section 119.598
	Section 119.599
	Section 119.600
	Section 119.601
	Section 119.602
	Section 119.603
	Section 119.604
	Section 119.605
	Section 119.606
	Section 119.607
	Section 119.608
	Section 119.609
	Section 119.610
	Section 119.611
	Section 119.612
	Section 119.613
	Section 119.614
	Section 119.615
	Section 119.616
	Section 119.617
	Section 119.618
	Section 119.619
	Section 119.620
	Section 119.621
	Section 119.622
	Section 119.623
	Section 119.624
	Section 119.625
	Section 119.626
	Section 119.627
	Section 119.628
	Section 119.629
	Section 119.630
	Section 119.631
	Section 119.632
	Section 119.633
	Section 119.634
	Section 119.635
	Section 119.636
	Section 119.637
	Section 119.638
	Section 119.639
	Section 119.640
	Section 119.641
	Section 119.642
	Section 119.643
	Section 119.644
	Section 119.645
	Section 119.646
	Section 119.647
	Section 119.648
	Section 119.649
	Section 119.650
	Section 119.651
	Section 119.652
	Section 119.653
	Section 119.654
	Section 119.655
	Section 119.656
	Section 119.657
	Section 119.658
	Section 119.659
	Section 119.660
	Section 119.661
	Section 119.662
	Section 119.663
	Section 119.664
	Section 119.665
	Section 119.666
	Section 119.667
	Section 119.668
	Section 119.669
	Section 119.670
	Section 119.671
	Section 119.672
	Section 119.673
	Section 119.674
	Section 119.675
	Section 119.676
	Section 119.677
	Section 119.678
	Section 119.679
	Section 119.680
	Section 119.681
	Section 119.682
	Section 119.683
	Section 119.684
	Section 119.685
	Section 119.686
	Section 119.687
	Section 119.688
	Section 119.689
	Section 119.690
	Section 119.691
	Section 119.692
	Section 119.693
	Section 119.694
	Section 119.695
	Section 119.696
	Section 119.697
	Section 119.698
	Section 119.699
	Section 119.700
	Section 21.701  Applicability of Requirements
	Section 21.702  Storm Water Management Easements
	Section 21.0703 Maintenance Agreements
	Section 21.704  Establishment of County Drains

	Article VIII. Performance and Design Standards
	Article CXX.
	Article CXXI.
	Article CXXII.
	Article CXXIII.
	Article CXXIV.
	Article CXXV.
	Article CXXVI.
	Article CXXVII.
	Article CXXVIII.
	Article CXXIX.
	Article CXXX.
	Article CXXXI.
	Article CXXXII.
	Section 132.01
	Section 132.02
	Section 132.03
	Section 132.04
	Section 132.05
	Section 132.06
	Section 132.07
	Section 132.08
	Section 132.09
	Section 132.10
	Section 132.11
	Section 132.12
	Section 132.13
	Section 132.14
	Section 132.15
	Section 132.16
	Section 132.17
	Section 132.18
	Section 132.19
	Section 132.20
	Section 132.21
	Section 132.22
	Section 132.23
	Section 132.24
	Section 132.25
	Section 132.26
	Section 132.27
	Section 132.28
	Section 132.29
	Section 132.30
	Section 132.31
	Section 132.32
	Section 132.33
	Section 132.34
	Section 132.35
	Section 132.36
	Section 132.37
	Section 132.38
	Section 132.39
	Section 132.40
	Section 132.41
	Section 132.42
	Section 132.43
	Section 132.44
	Section 132.45
	Section 132.46
	Section 132.47
	Section 132.48
	Section 132.49
	Section 132.50
	Section 132.51
	Section 132.52
	Section 132.53
	Section 132.54
	Section 132.55
	Section 132.56
	Section 132.57
	Section 132.58
	Section 132.59
	Section 132.60
	Section 132.61
	Section 132.62
	Section 132.63
	Section 132.64
	Section 132.65
	Section 132.66
	Section 132.67
	Section 132.68
	Section 132.69
	Section 132.70
	Section 132.71
	Section 132.72
	Section 132.73
	Section 132.74
	Section 132.75
	Section 132.76
	Section 132.77
	Section 132.78
	Section 132.79
	Section 132.80
	Section 132.81
	Section 132.82
	Section 132.83
	Section 132.84
	Section 132.85
	Section 132.86
	Section 132.87
	Section 132.88
	Section 132.89
	Section 132.90
	Section 132.91
	Section 132.92
	Section 132.93
	Section 132.94
	Section 132.95
	Section 132.96
	Section 132.97
	Section 132.98
	Section 132.99
	Section 132.100
	Section 132.101
	Section 132.102
	Section 132.103
	Section 132.104
	Section 132.105
	Section 132.106
	Section 132.107
	Section 132.108
	Section 132.109
	Section 132.110
	Section 132.111
	Section 132.112
	Section 132.113
	Section 132.114
	Section 132.115
	Section 132.116
	Section 132.117
	Section 132.118
	Section 132.119
	Section 132.120
	Section 132.121
	Section 132.122
	Section 132.123
	Section 132.124
	Section 132.125
	Section 132.126
	Section 132.127
	Section 132.128
	Section 132.129
	Section 132.130
	Section 132.131
	Section 132.132
	Section 132.133
	Section 132.134
	Section 132.135
	Section 132.136
	Section 132.137
	Section 132.138
	Section 132.139
	Section 132.140
	Section 132.141
	Section 132.142
	Section 132.143
	Section 132.144
	Section 132.145
	Section 132.146
	Section 132.147
	Section 132.148
	Section 132.149
	Section 132.150
	Section 132.151
	Section 132.152
	Section 132.153
	Section 132.154
	Section 132.155
	Section 132.156
	Section 132.157
	Section 132.158
	Section 132.159
	Section 132.160
	Section 132.161
	Section 132.162
	Section 132.163
	Section 132.164
	Section 132.165
	Section 132.166
	Section 132.167
	Section 132.168
	Section 132.169
	Section 132.170
	Section 132.171
	Section 132.172
	Section 132.173
	Section 132.174
	Section 132.175
	Section 132.176
	Section 132.177
	Section 132.178
	Section 132.179
	Section 132.180
	Section 132.181
	Section 132.182
	Section 132.183
	Section 132.184
	Section 132.185
	Section 132.186
	Section 132.187
	Section 132.188
	Section 132.189
	Section 132.190
	Section 132.191
	Section 132.192
	Section 132.193
	Section 132.194
	Section 132.195
	Section 132.196
	Section 132.197
	Section 132.198
	Section 132.199
	Section 132.200
	Section 132.201
	Section 132.202
	Section 132.203
	Section 132.204
	Section 132.205
	Section 132.206
	Section 132.207
	Section 132.208
	Section 132.209
	Section 132.210
	Section 132.211
	Section 132.212
	Section 132.213
	Section 132.214
	Section 132.215
	Section 132.216
	Section 132.217
	Section 132.218
	Section 132.219
	Section 132.220
	Section 132.221
	Section 132.222
	Section 132.223
	Section 132.224
	Section 132.225
	Section 132.226
	Section 132.227
	Section 132.228
	Section 132.229
	Section 132.230
	Section 132.231
	Section 132.232
	Section 132.233
	Section 132.234
	Section 132.235
	Section 132.236
	Section 132.237
	Section 132.238
	Section 132.239
	Section 132.240
	Section 132.241
	Section 132.242
	Section 132.243
	Section 132.244
	Section 132.245
	Section 132.246
	Section 132.247
	Section 132.248
	Section 132.249
	Section 132.250
	Section 132.251
	Section 132.252
	Section 132.253
	Section 132.254
	Section 132.255
	Section 132.256
	Section 132.257
	Section 132.258
	Section 132.259
	Section 132.260
	Section 132.261
	Section 132.262
	Section 132.263
	Section 132.264
	Section 132.265
	Section 132.266
	Section 132.267
	Section 132.268
	Section 132.269
	Section 132.270
	Section 132.271
	Section 132.272
	Section 132.273
	Section 132.274
	Section 132.275
	Section 132.276
	Section 132.277
	Section 132.278
	Section 132.279
	Section 132.280
	Section 132.281
	Section 132.282
	Section 132.283
	Section 132.284
	Section 132.285
	Section 132.286
	Section 132.287
	Section 132.288
	Section 132.289
	Section 132.290
	Section 132.291
	Section 132.292
	Section 132.293
	Section 132.294
	Section 132.295
	Section 132.296
	Section 132.297
	Section 132.298
	Section 132.299
	Section 132.300
	Section 132.301
	Section 132.302
	Section 132.303
	Section 132.304
	Section 132.305
	Section 132.306
	Section 132.307
	Section 132.308
	Section 132.309
	Section 132.310
	Section 132.311
	Section 132.312
	Section 132.313
	Section 132.314
	Section 132.315
	Section 132.316
	Section 132.317
	Section 132.318
	Section 132.319
	Section 132.320
	Section 132.321
	Section 132.322
	Section 132.323
	Section 132.324
	Section 132.325
	Section 132.326
	Section 132.327
	Section 132.328
	Section 132.329
	Section 132.330
	Section 132.331
	Section 132.332
	Section 132.333
	Section 132.334
	Section 132.335
	Section 132.336
	Section 132.337
	Section 132.338
	Section 132.339
	Section 132.340
	Section 132.341
	Section 132.342
	Section 132.343
	Section 132.344
	Section 132.345
	Section 132.346
	Section 132.347
	Section 132.348
	Section 132.349
	Section 132.350
	Section 132.351
	Section 132.352
	Section 132.353
	Section 132.354
	Section 132.355
	Section 132.356
	Section 132.357
	Section 132.358
	Section 132.359
	Section 132.360
	Section 132.361
	Section 132.362
	Section 132.363
	Section 132.364
	Section 132.365
	Section 132.366
	Section 132.367
	Section 132.368
	Section 132.369
	Section 132.370
	Section 132.371
	Section 132.372
	Section 132.373
	Section 132.374
	Section 132.375
	Section 132.376
	Section 132.377
	Section 132.378
	Section 132.379
	Section 132.380
	Section 132.381
	Section 132.382
	Section 132.383
	Section 132.384
	Section 132.385
	Section 132.386
	Section 132.387
	Section 132.388
	Section 132.389
	Section 132.390
	Section 132.391
	Section 132.392
	Section 132.393
	Section 132.394
	Section 132.395
	Section 132.396
	Section 132.397
	Section 132.398
	Section 132.399
	Section 132.400
	Section 132.401
	Section 132.402
	Section 132.403
	Section 132.404
	Section 132.405
	Section 132.406
	Section 132.407
	Section 132.408
	Section 132.409
	Section 132.410
	Section 132.411
	Section 132.412
	Section 132.413
	Section 132.414
	Section 132.415
	Section 132.416
	Section 132.417
	Section 132.418
	Section 132.419
	Section 132.420
	Section 132.421
	Section 132.422
	Section 132.423
	Section 132.424
	Section 132.425
	Section 132.426
	Section 132.427
	Section 132.428
	Section 132.429
	Section 132.430
	Section 132.431
	Section 132.432
	Section 132.433
	Section 132.434
	Section 132.435
	Section 132.436
	Section 132.437
	Section 132.438
	Section 132.439
	Section 132.440
	Section 132.441
	Section 132.442
	Section 132.443
	Section 132.444
	Section 132.445
	Section 132.446
	Section 132.447
	Section 132.448
	Section 132.449
	Section 132.450
	Section 132.451
	Section 132.452
	Section 132.453
	Section 132.454
	Section 132.455
	Section 132.456
	Section 132.457
	Section 132.458
	Section 132.459
	Section 132.460
	Section 132.461
	Section 132.462
	Section 132.463
	Section 132.464
	Section 132.465
	Section 132.466
	Section 132.467
	Section 132.468
	Section 132.469
	Section 132.470
	Section 132.471
	Section 132.472
	Section 132.473
	Section 132.474
	Section 132.475
	Section 132.476
	Section 132.477
	Section 132.478
	Section 132.479
	Section 132.480
	Section 132.481
	Section 132.482
	Section 132.483
	Section 132.484
	Section 132.485
	Section 132.486
	Section 132.487
	Section 132.488
	Section 132.489
	Section 132.490
	Section 132.491
	Section 132.492
	Section 132.493
	Section 132.494
	Section 132.495
	Section 132.496
	Section 132.497
	Section 132.498
	Section 132.499
	Section 132.500
	Section 132.501
	Section 132.502
	Section 132.503
	Section 132.504
	Section 132.505
	Section 132.506
	Section 132.507
	Section 132.508
	Section 132.509
	Section 132.510
	Section 132.511
	Section 132.512
	Section 132.513
	Section 132.514
	Section 132.515
	Section 132.516
	Section 132.517
	Section 132.518
	Section 132.519
	Section 132.520
	Section 132.521
	Section 132.522
	Section 132.523
	Section 132.524
	Section 132.525
	Section 132.526
	Section 132.527
	Section 132.528
	Section 132.529
	Section 132.530
	Section 132.531
	Section 132.532
	Section 132.533
	Section 132.534
	Section 132.535
	Section 132.536
	Section 132.537
	Section 132.538
	Section 132.539
	Section 132.540
	Section 132.541
	Section 132.542
	Section 132.543
	Section 132.544
	Section 132.545
	Section 132.546
	Section 132.547
	Section 132.548
	Section 132.549
	Section 132.550
	Section 132.551
	Section 132.552
	Section 132.553
	Section 132.554
	Section 132.555
	Section 132.556
	Section 132.557
	Section 132.558
	Section 132.559
	Section 132.560
	Section 132.561
	Section 132.562
	Section 132.563
	Section 132.564
	Section 132.565
	Section 132.566
	Section 132.567
	Section 132.568
	Section 132.569
	Section 132.570
	Section 132.571
	Section 132.572
	Section 132.573
	Section 132.574
	Section 132.575
	Section 132.576
	Section 132.577
	Section 132.578
	Section 132.579
	Section 132.580
	Section 132.581
	Section 132.582
	Section 132.583
	Section 132.584
	Section 132.585
	Section 132.586
	Section 132.587
	Section 132.588
	Section 132.589
	Section 132.590
	Section 132.591
	Section 132.592
	Section 132.593
	Section 132.594
	Section 132.595
	Section 132.596
	Section 132.597
	Section 132.598
	Section 132.599
	Section 132.600
	Section 132.601
	Section 132.602
	Section 132.603
	Section 132.604
	Section 132.605
	Section 132.606
	Section 132.607
	Section 132.608
	Section 132.609
	Section 132.610
	Section 132.611
	Section 132.612
	Section 132.613
	Section 132.614
	Section 132.615
	Section 132.616
	Section 132.617
	Section 132.618
	Section 132.619
	Section 132.620
	Section 132.621
	Section 132.622
	Section 132.623
	Section 132.624
	Section 132.625
	Section 132.626
	Section 132.627
	Section 132.628
	Section 132.629
	Section 132.630
	Section 132.631
	Section 132.632
	Section 132.633
	Section 132.634
	Section 132.635
	Section 132.636
	Section 132.637
	Section 132.638
	Section 132.639
	Section 132.640
	Section 132.641
	Section 132.642
	Section 132.643
	Section 132.644
	Section 132.645
	Section 132.646
	Section 132.647
	Section 132.648
	Section 132.649
	Section 132.650
	Section 132.651
	Section 132.652
	Section 132.653
	Section 132.654
	Section 132.655
	Section 132.656
	Section 132.657
	Section 132.658
	Section 132.659
	Section 132.660
	Section 132.661
	Section 132.662
	Section 132.663
	Section 132.664
	Section 132.665
	Section 132.666
	Section 132.667
	Section 132.668
	Section 132.669
	Section 132.670
	Section 132.671
	Section 132.672
	Section 132.673
	Section 132.674
	Section 132.675
	Section 132.676
	Section 132.677
	Section 132.678
	Section 132.679
	Section 132.680
	Section 132.681
	Section 132.682
	Section 132.683
	Section 132.684
	Section 132.685
	Section 132.686
	Section 132.687
	Section 132.688
	Section 132.689
	Section 132.690
	Section 132.691
	Section 132.692
	Section 132.693
	Section 132.694
	Section 132.695
	Section 132.696
	Section 132.697
	Section 132.698
	Section 132.699
	Section 132.700
	Section 132.701
	Section 132.702
	Section 132.703
	Section 132.704
	Section 132.705
	Section 132.706
	Section 132.707
	Section 132.708
	Section 132.709
	Section 132.710
	Section 132.711
	Section 132.712
	Section 132.713
	Section 132.714
	Section 132.715
	Section 132.716
	Section 132.717
	Section 132.718
	Section 132.719
	Section 132.720
	Section 132.721
	Section 132.722
	Section 132.723
	Section 132.724
	Section 132.725
	Section 132.726
	Section 132.727
	Section 132.728
	Section 132.729
	Section 132.730
	Section 132.731
	Section 132.732
	Section 132.733
	Section 132.734
	Section 132.735
	Section 132.736
	Section 132.737
	Section 132.738
	Section 132.739
	Section 132.740
	Section 132.741
	Section 132.742
	Section 132.743
	Section 132.744
	Section 132.745
	Section 132.746
	Section 132.747
	Section 132.748
	Section 132.749
	Section 132.750
	Section 132.751
	Section 132.752
	Section 132.753
	Section 132.754
	Section 132.755
	Section 132.756
	Section 132.757
	Section 132.758
	Section 132.759
	Section 132.760
	Section 132.761
	Section 132.762
	Section 132.763
	Section 132.764
	Section 132.765
	Section 132.766
	Section 132.767
	Section 132.768
	Section 132.769
	Section 132.770
	Section 132.771
	Section 132.772
	Section 132.773
	Section 132.774
	Section 132.775
	Section 132.776
	Section 132.777
	Section 132.778
	Section 132.779
	Section 132.780
	Section 132.781
	Section 132.782
	Section 132.783
	Section 132.784
	Section 132.785
	Section 132.786
	Section 132.787
	Section 132.788
	Section 132.789
	Section 132.790
	Section 132.791
	Section 132.792
	Section 132.793
	Section 132.794
	Section 132.795
	Section 132.796
	Section 132.797
	Section 132.798
	Section 132.799
	Section 132.800
	Section 21.801  Reference to Requirement Manual
	Section 21.802  Relationship of Genesee County Storm Water and Flood Control Design Standard Requirements (Requirements Manual) to Other Laws and Regulations
	If the specifications or guidelines of the Genesee County Storm Water and Flood Control Design Standard Requirements are more restrictive or apply a higher standard than other laws or regulations, that fact shall not prevent application of the specifi...
	Section 21.803  Changes to Standards and Specifications
	Section 21.804  Amendments to Requirement Manual
	Section 21.805  Conflict of Laws
	Section 21.806  Private Agreements
	Section 21.807  Violations Continue

	Article IX. Other Matters
	Article CXXXIII.
	Article CXXXIV.
	Article CXXXV.
	Article CXXXVI.
	Article CXXXVII.
	Article CXXXVIII.
	Article CXXXIX.
	Article CXL.
	Article CXLI.
	Article CXLII.
	Article CXLIII.
	Article CXLIV.
	Section 144.01
	Section 144.02
	Section 144.03
	Section 144.04
	Section 144.05
	Section 144.06
	Section 144.07
	Section 144.08
	Section 144.09
	Section 144.10
	Section 144.11
	Section 144.12
	Section 144.13
	Section 144.14
	Section 144.15
	Section 144.16
	Section 144.17
	Section 144.18
	Section 144.19
	Section 144.20
	Section 144.21
	Section 144.22
	Section 144.23
	Section 144.24
	Section 144.25
	Section 144.26
	Section 144.27
	Section 144.28
	Section 144.29
	Section 144.30
	Section 144.31
	Section 144.32
	Section 144.33
	Section 144.34
	Section 144.35
	Section 144.36
	Section 144.37
	Section 144.38
	Section 144.39
	Section 144.40
	Section 144.41
	Section 144.42
	Section 144.43
	Section 144.44
	Section 144.45
	Section 144.46
	Section 144.47
	Section 144.48
	Section 144.49
	Section 144.50
	Section 144.51
	Section 144.52
	Section 144.53
	Section 144.54
	Section 144.55
	Section 144.56
	Section 144.57
	Section 144.58
	Section 144.59
	Section 144.60
	Section 144.61
	Section 144.62
	Section 144.63
	Section 144.64
	Section 144.65
	Section 144.66
	Section 144.67
	Section 144.68
	Section 144.69
	Section 144.70
	Section 144.71
	Section 144.72
	Section 144.73
	Section 144.74
	Section 144.75
	Section 144.76
	Section 144.77
	Section 144.78
	Section 144.79
	Section 144.80
	Section 144.81
	Section 144.82
	Section 144.83
	Section 144.84
	Section 144.85
	Section 144.86
	Section 144.87
	Section 144.88
	Section 144.89
	Section 144.90
	Section 144.91
	Section 144.92
	Section 144.93
	Section 144.94
	Section 144.95
	Section 144.96
	Section 144.97
	Section 144.98
	Section 144.99
	Section 144.100
	Section 144.101
	Section 144.102
	Section 144.103
	Section 144.104
	Section 144.105
	Section 144.106
	Section 144.107
	Section 144.108
	Section 144.109
	Section 144.110
	Section 144.111
	Section 144.112
	Section 144.113
	Section 144.114
	Section 144.115
	Section 144.116
	Section 144.117
	Section 144.118
	Section 144.119
	Section 144.120
	Section 144.121
	Section 144.122
	Section 144.123
	Section 144.124
	Section 144.125
	Section 144.126
	Section 144.127
	Section 144.128
	Section 144.129
	Section 144.130
	Section 144.131
	Section 144.132
	Section 144.133
	Section 144.134
	Section 144.135
	Section 144.136
	Section 144.137
	Section 144.138
	Section 144.139
	Section 144.140
	Section 144.141
	Section 144.142
	Section 144.143
	Section 144.144
	Section 144.145
	Section 144.146
	Section 144.147
	Section 144.148
	Section 144.149
	Section 144.150
	Section 144.151
	Section 144.152
	Section 144.153
	Section 144.154
	Section 144.155
	Section 144.156
	Section 144.157
	Section 144.158
	Section 144.159
	Section 144.160
	Section 144.161
	Section 144.162
	Section 144.163
	Section 144.164
	Section 144.165
	Section 144.166
	Section 144.167
	Section 144.168
	Section 144.169
	Section 144.170
	Section 144.171
	Section 144.172
	Section 144.173
	Section 144.174
	Section 144.175
	Section 144.176
	Section 144.177
	Section 144.178
	Section 144.179
	Section 144.180
	Section 144.181
	Section 144.182
	Section 144.183
	Section 144.184
	Section 144.185
	Section 144.186
	Section 144.187
	Section 144.188
	Section 144.189
	Section 144.190
	Section 144.191
	Section 144.192
	Section 144.193
	Section 144.194
	Section 144.195
	Section 144.196
	Section 144.197
	Section 144.198
	Section 144.199
	Section 144.200
	Section 144.201
	Section 144.202
	Section 144.203
	Section 144.204
	Section 144.205
	Section 144.206
	Section 144.207
	Section 144.208
	Section 144.209
	Section 144.210
	Section 144.211
	Section 144.212
	Section 144.213
	Section 144.214
	Section 144.215
	Section 144.216
	Section 144.217
	Section 144.218
	Section 144.219
	Section 144.220
	Section 144.221
	Section 144.222
	Section 144.223
	Section 144.224
	Section 144.225
	Section 144.226
	Section 144.227
	Section 144.228
	Section 144.229
	Section 144.230
	Section 144.231
	Section 144.232
	Section 144.233
	Section 144.234
	Section 144.235
	Section 144.236
	Section 144.237
	Section 144.238
	Section 144.239
	Section 144.240
	Section 144.241
	Section 144.242
	Section 144.243
	Section 144.244
	Section 144.245
	Section 144.246
	Section 144.247
	Section 144.248
	Section 144.249
	Section 144.250
	Section 144.251
	Section 144.252
	Section 144.253
	Section 144.254
	Section 144.255
	Section 144.256
	Section 144.257
	Section 144.258
	Section 144.259
	Section 144.260
	Section 144.261
	Section 144.262
	Section 144.263
	Section 144.264
	Section 144.265
	Section 144.266
	Section 144.267
	Section 144.268
	Section 144.269
	Section 144.270
	Section 144.271
	Section 144.272
	Section 144.273
	Section 144.274
	Section 144.275
	Section 144.276
	Section 144.277
	Section 144.278
	Section 144.279
	Section 144.280
	Section 144.281
	Section 144.282
	Section 144.283
	Section 144.284
	Section 144.285
	Section 144.286
	Section 144.287
	Section 144.288
	Section 144.289
	Section 144.290
	Section 144.291
	Section 144.292
	Section 144.293
	Section 144.294
	Section 144.295
	Section 144.296
	Section 144.297
	Section 144.298
	Section 144.299
	Section 144.300
	Section 144.301
	Section 144.302
	Section 144.303
	Section 144.304
	Section 144.305
	Section 144.306
	Section 144.307
	Section 144.308
	Section 144.309
	Section 144.310
	Section 144.311
	Section 144.312
	Section 144.313
	Section 144.314
	Section 144.315
	Section 144.316
	Section 144.317
	Section 144.318
	Section 144.319
	Section 144.320
	Section 144.321
	Section 144.322
	Section 144.323
	Section 144.324
	Section 144.325
	Section 144.326
	Section 144.327
	Section 144.328
	Section 144.329
	Section 144.330
	Section 144.331
	Section 144.332
	Section 144.333
	Section 144.334
	Section 144.335
	Section 144.336
	Section 144.337
	Section 144.338
	Section 144.339
	Section 144.340
	Section 144.341
	Section 144.342
	Section 144.343
	Section 144.344
	Section 144.345
	Section 144.346
	Section 144.347
	Section 144.348
	Section 144.349
	Section 144.350
	Section 144.351
	Section 144.352
	Section 144.353
	Section 144.354
	Section 144.355
	Section 144.356
	Section 144.357
	Section 144.358
	Section 144.359
	Section 144.360
	Section 144.361
	Section 144.362
	Section 144.363
	Section 144.364
	Section 144.365
	Section 144.366
	Section 144.367
	Section 144.368
	Section 144.369
	Section 144.370
	Section 144.371
	Section 144.372
	Section 144.373
	Section 144.374
	Section 144.375
	Section 144.376
	Section 144.377
	Section 144.378
	Section 144.379
	Section 144.380
	Section 144.381
	Section 144.382
	Section 144.383
	Section 144.384
	Section 144.385
	Section 144.386
	Section 144.387
	Section 144.388
	Section 144.389
	Section 144.390
	Section 144.391
	Section 144.392
	Section 144.393
	Section 144.394
	Section 144.395
	Section 144.396
	Section 144.397
	Section 144.398
	Section 144.399
	Section 144.400
	Section 144.401
	Section 144.402
	Section 144.403
	Section 144.404
	Section 144.405
	Section 144.406
	Section 144.407
	Section 144.408
	Section 144.409
	Section 144.410
	Section 144.411
	Section 144.412
	Section 144.413
	Section 144.414
	Section 144.415
	Section 144.416
	Section 144.417
	Section 144.418
	Section 144.419
	Section 144.420
	Section 144.421
	Section 144.422
	Section 144.423
	Section 144.424
	Section 144.425
	Section 144.426
	Section 144.427
	Section 144.428
	Section 144.429
	Section 144.430
	Section 144.431
	Section 144.432
	Section 144.433
	Section 144.434
	Section 144.435
	Section 144.436
	Section 144.437
	Section 144.438
	Section 144.439
	Section 144.440
	Section 144.441
	Section 144.442
	Section 144.443
	Section 144.444
	Section 144.445
	Section 144.446
	Section 144.447
	Section 144.448
	Section 144.449
	Section 144.450
	Section 144.451
	Section 144.452
	Section 144.453
	Section 144.454
	Section 144.455
	Section 144.456
	Section 144.457
	Section 144.458
	Section 144.459
	Section 144.460
	Section 144.461
	Section 144.462
	Section 144.463
	Section 144.464
	Section 144.465
	Section 144.466
	Section 144.467
	Section 144.468
	Section 144.469
	Section 144.470
	Section 144.471
	Section 144.472
	Section 144.473
	Section 144.474
	Section 144.475
	Section 144.476
	Section 144.477
	Section 144.478
	Section 144.479
	Section 144.480
	Section 144.481
	Section 144.482
	Section 144.483
	Section 144.484
	Section 144.485
	Section 144.486
	Section 144.487
	Section 144.488
	Section 144.489
	Section 144.490
	Section 144.491
	Section 144.492
	Section 144.493
	Section 144.494
	Section 144.495
	Section 144.496
	Section 144.497
	Section 144.498
	Section 144.499
	Section 144.500
	Section 144.501
	Section 144.502
	Section 144.503
	Section 144.504
	Section 144.505
	Section 144.506
	Section 144.507
	Section 144.508
	Section 144.509
	Section 144.510
	Section 144.511
	Section 144.512
	Section 144.513
	Section 144.514
	Section 144.515
	Section 144.516
	Section 144.517
	Section 144.518
	Section 144.519
	Section 144.520
	Section 144.521
	Section 144.522
	Section 144.523
	Section 144.524
	Section 144.525
	Section 144.526
	Section 144.527
	Section 144.528
	Section 144.529
	Section 144.530
	Section 144.531
	Section 144.532
	Section 144.533
	Section 144.534
	Section 144.535
	Section 144.536
	Section 144.537
	Section 144.538
	Section 144.539
	Section 144.540
	Section 144.541
	Section 144.542
	Section 144.543
	Section 144.544
	Section 144.545
	Section 144.546
	Section 144.547
	Section 144.548
	Section 144.549
	Section 144.550
	Section 144.551
	Section 144.552
	Section 144.553
	Section 144.554
	Section 144.555
	Section 144.556
	Section 144.557
	Section 144.558
	Section 144.559
	Section 144.560
	Section 144.561
	Section 144.562
	Section 144.563
	Section 144.564
	Section 144.565
	Section 144.566
	Section 144.567
	Section 144.568
	Section 144.569
	Section 144.570
	Section 144.571
	Section 144.572
	Section 144.573
	Section 144.574
	Section 144.575
	Section 144.576
	Section 144.577
	Section 144.578
	Section 144.579
	Section 144.580
	Section 144.581
	Section 144.582
	Section 144.583
	Section 144.584
	Section 144.585
	Section 144.586
	Section 144.587
	Section 144.588
	Section 144.589
	Section 144.590
	Section 144.591
	Section 144.592
	Section 144.593
	Section 144.594
	Section 144.595
	Section 144.596
	Section 144.597
	Section 144.598
	Section 144.599
	Section 144.600
	Section 144.601
	Section 144.602
	Section 144.603
	Section 144.604
	Section 144.605
	Section 144.606
	Section 144.607
	Section 144.608
	Section 144.609
	Section 144.610
	Section 144.611
	Section 144.612
	Section 144.613
	Section 144.614
	Section 144.615
	Section 144.616
	Section 144.617
	Section 144.618
	Section 144.619
	Section 144.620
	Section 144.621
	Section 144.622
	Section 144.623
	Section 144.624
	Section 144.625
	Section 144.626
	Section 144.627
	Section 144.628
	Section 144.629
	Section 144.630
	Section 144.631
	Section 144.632
	Section 144.633
	Section 144.634
	Section 144.635
	Section 144.636
	Section 144.637
	Section 144.638
	Section 144.639
	Section 144.640
	Section 144.641
	Section 144.642
	Section 144.643
	Section 144.644
	Section 144.645
	Section 144.646
	Section 144.647
	Section 144.648
	Section 144.649
	Section 144.650
	Section 144.651
	Section 144.652
	Section 144.653
	Section 144.654
	Section 144.655
	Section 144.656
	Section 144.657
	Section 144.658
	Section 144.659
	Section 144.660
	Section 144.661
	Section 144.662
	Section 144.663
	Section 144.664
	Section 144.665
	Section 144.666
	Section 144.667
	Section 144.668
	Section 144.669
	Section 144.670
	Section 144.671
	Section 144.672
	Section 144.673
	Section 144.674
	Section 144.675
	Section 144.676
	Section 144.677
	Section 144.678
	Section 144.679
	Section 144.680
	Section 144.681
	Section 144.682
	Section 144.683
	Section 144.684
	Section 144.685
	Section 144.686
	Section 144.687
	Section 144.688
	Section 144.689
	Section 144.690
	Section 144.691
	Section 144.692
	Section 144.693
	Section 144.694
	Section 144.695
	Section 144.696
	Section 144.697
	Section 144.698
	Section 144.699
	Section 144.700
	Section 144.701
	Section 144.702
	Section 144.703
	Section 144.704
	Section 144.705
	Section 144.706
	Section 144.707
	Section 144.708
	Section 144.709
	Section 144.710
	Section 144.711
	Section 144.712
	Section 144.713
	Section 144.714
	Section 144.715
	Section 144.716
	Section 144.717
	Section 144.718
	Section 144.719
	Section 144.720
	Section 144.721
	Section 144.722
	Section 144.723
	Section 144.724
	Section 144.725
	Section 144.726
	Section 144.727
	Section 144.728
	Section 144.729
	Section 144.730
	Section 144.731
	Section 144.732
	Section 144.733
	Section 144.734
	Section 144.735
	Section 144.736
	Section 144.737
	Section 144.738
	Section 144.739
	Section 144.740
	Section 144.741
	Section 144.742
	Section 144.743
	Section 144.744
	Section 144.745
	Section 144.746
	Section 144.747
	Section 144.748
	Section 144.749
	Section 144.750
	Section 144.751
	Section 144.752
	Section 144.753
	Section 144.754
	Section 144.755
	Section 144.756
	Section 144.757
	Section 144.758
	Section 144.759
	Section 144.760
	Section 144.761
	Section 144.762
	Section 144.763
	Section 144.764
	Section 144.765
	Section 144.766
	Section 144.767
	Section 144.768
	Section 144.769
	Section 144.770
	Section 144.771
	Section 144.772
	Section 144.773
	Section 144.774
	Section 144.775
	Section 144.776
	Section 144.777
	Section 144.778
	Section 144.779
	Section 144.780
	Section 144.781
	Section 144.782
	Section 144.783
	Section 144.784
	Section 144.785
	Section 144.786
	Section 144.787
	Section 144.788
	Section 144.789
	Section 144.790
	Section 144.791
	Section 144.792
	Section 144.793
	Section 144.794
	Section 144.795
	Section 144.796
	Section 144.797
	Section 144.798
	Section 144.799
	Section 144.800
	Section 144.801
	Section 144.802
	Section 144.803
	Section 144.804
	Section 144.805
	Section 144.806
	Section 144.807
	Section 144.808
	Section 144.809
	Section 144.810
	Section 144.811
	Section 144.812
	Section 144.813
	Section 144.814
	Section 144.815
	Section 144.816
	Section 144.817
	Section 144.818
	Section 144.819
	Section 144.820
	Section 144.821
	Section 144.822
	Section 144.823
	Section 144.824
	Section 144.825
	Section 144.826
	Section 144.827
	Section 144.828
	Section 144.829
	Section 144.830
	Section 144.831
	Section 144.832
	Section 144.833
	Section 144.834
	Section 144.835
	Section 144.836
	Section 144.837
	Section 144.838
	Section 144.839
	Section 144.840
	Section 144.841
	Section 144.842
	Section 144.843
	Section 144.844
	Section 144.845
	Section 144.846
	Section 144.847
	Section 144.848
	Section 144.849
	Section 144.850
	Section 144.851
	Section 144.852
	Section 144.853
	Section 144.854
	Section 144.855
	Section 144.856
	Section 144.857
	Section 144.858
	Section 144.859
	Section 144.860
	Section 144.861
	Section 144.862
	Section 144.863
	Section 144.864
	Section 144.865
	Section 144.866
	Section 144.867
	Section 144.868
	Section 144.869
	Section 144.870
	Section 144.871
	Section 144.872
	Section 144.873
	Section 144.874
	Section 144.875
	Section 144.876
	Section 144.877
	Section 144.878
	Section 144.879
	Section 144.880
	Section 144.881
	Section 144.882
	Section 144.883
	Section 144.884
	Section 144.885
	Section 144.886
	Section 144.887
	Section 144.888
	Section 144.889
	Section 144.890
	Section 144.891
	Section 144.892
	Section 144.893
	Section 144.894
	Section 144.895
	Section 144.896
	Section 144.897
	Section 144.898
	Section 144.899
	Section 144.900
	Section 21.901   Interpretation
	Section 21.902  Catch-Line Headings
	Section 21.903  Severability
	Section 21.904  Other Ordinances
	Section 21.905  Repeal

	(a) The following discharges are exempt from discharge prohibitions established by this ordinance providing they are not identified as significant contributor to violations of Water Quality Standards: water line flushing or other potable water sources...
	(b) Dye testing done under the authorization of the MDEQ (general Rule 97) is an allowable discharge, but requires a complete Notice of Intent to the MDEQ prior to the time of the test.
	(c) The prohibition shall not apply to any non-storm water discharge permitted under an NPDES permit, waiver, or waste discharge order issued to the discharger and administered under the authority of the Federal Environmental Protection Agency, provid...
	(e) The construction, use, maintenance or continued existence of illicit connections to the storm drain system is prohibited.
	(f) This prohibition expressly includes, without limitation, illicit connections made in the past, regardless of whether the connection was permissible under law or practices applicable or prevailing at the time of connection.
	(g)  A person is considered to be in violation of this ordinance if the person connects a line conveying sewage to the MS4, or allows such a connection to continue.
	A. Applicability.
	B. Access to Facilities.
	(a) The City of Swartz Creek shall be permitted to enter and inspect facilities subject to regulation under this ordinance as often as may be necessary to determine compliance with this ordinance.  If a discharger has security measures in force which ...
	(b) Facility operators shall allow the City of Swartz Creek ready access to all parts of the premises for the purposes of inspection, sampling, examination and copying of records that must be kept under the conditions of an NPDES permit to discharge s...
	(c) The City of Swartz Creek shall have the right to set up on any permitted facility such devices as are necessary in the opinion of the authorized enforcement agency to conduct monitoring and/or sampling of the facility's storm water discharge.
	(d) The City of Swartz Creek has the right to require the discharger to install monitoring equipment as necessary. The facility's sampling and monitoring equipment shall be maintained at all times in a safe and proper operating condition by the discha...
	(e) Any temporary or permanent obstruction to safe and easy access to the facility to be inspected and/or sampled shall be promptly removed by the operator at the written or oral request of the City of Swartz Creek and shall not be replaced.  The cost...
	(f) Unreasonable delays in allowing the City of Swartz Creek access to a permitted facility is a violation of a storm water discharge permit and of this ordinance. A person who is the operator of a facility with a NPDES permit to discharge storm water...
	(g) If the City of Swartz Creek has been refused access to any part of the premises from which stormwater is discharged, and he/she is able to demonstrate probable cause to believe that there may be a violation of this ordinance, or that there is a ne...

	2014-10-27 Oct-27 Council Minutes
	Genesee County Metro Alliance Due 2015
	Consumers notice
	Consumers notice2
	CMOM
	Bldg Reports
	October 2014 Payments
	Swartz Creek Senior Citizens  Audit June 30 2014
	20141105152927
	20141105152945
	Asset Management Training
	PRESENTATION asset mgmt 2014 REV 2
	Park Update
	Oct 2014 DPS Reports
	wrd-stormwater-MS4-Application_402860_7
	PURPOSE AND AUTHORITY
	ELIGIBLE PERMITTEES
	PENALTIES


	SECTION I  APPLICANT NAME AND MAILING ADDRESS: 
	Current PermitCOC Number if applicable: 
	Additional Applicant Name Information: 
	Street Address or PO Box: 
	email: 
	City or Village: 
	State: 
	ZIP Code: 
	FAX Number  with area code: 
	First Name: 
	Last Name: 
	Title: 
	Business: 
	Application Contact: Off
	Storm Water Program: Off
	Storm Water Billing: Off
	Address 1: 
	Address 2: 
	City: 
	State_2: 
	ZIP Code_2: 
	Telephone with area code: 
	FAX with area code: 
	email_2: 
	First Name_2: 
	Last Name_2: 
	Title_2: 
	Business_2: 
	Application Contact_2: Off
	Storm Water Program_2: Off
	Storm Water Billing_2: Off
	Address 1_2: 
	Address 2_2: 
	City_2: 
	State_3: 
	ZIP Code_3: 
	Telephone with area code_2: 
	FAX with area code_2: 
	email_3: 
	First Name_3: 
	Last Name_3: 
	Title_3: 
	Business_3: 
	Application Contact_3: Off
	Storm Water Program_3: Off
	Storm Water Billing_3: Off
	Address 1_3: 
	Address 2_3: 
	City_3: 
	State_4: 
	Zip Code: 
	Telephone with area code_3: 
	FAX with area code_3: 
	email_4: 
	SECTION III PERMIT ACTION REQUESTED New Authorization Reissuance of Previous Authorization Modification of Current Permit: 
	New Authorization: Off
	Reissuance of Previous Authorization: Off
	Modification of Current Permit: Off
	NESTED JURISDICTION NAME AND GENERAL DESCRIPTION: 
	ERP Reference page and paragraph of attachments eg Attachment A Page 3 Section b: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments eg Attachment A Page 3 Section b: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments: 
	Provide the procedure with the assessment of high priority communitywide issues and targeted issues to reduce pollutants in storm: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments eg Attachment A Page 3 Section b_2: Off
	Not applicable  PEP topics will not be prioritized: Off
	Priority Ranking: 
	undefined: 
	See Table 2: Off
	Attach existing approved PEP page and paragraph of attachments: Off
	undefined_2: Off
	Not applicable  Provide explanation below: 
	Priority Ranking_2: 
	undefined_3: 
	See Table 2_2: Off
	Attach existing approved PEP page and paragraph of attachments_2: Off
	undefined_4: Off
	Not applicable  Provide explanation below_2: 
	Priority Ranking_3: 
	undefined_5: 
	See Table 2_3: Off
	Attach existing approved PEP page and paragraph of attachments_3: Off
	undefined_6: Off
	Not applicable  Provide explanation below_3: 
	Priority Ranking_4: 
	undefined_7: 
	See Table 2_4: Off
	Attach existing approved PEP page and paragraph of attachments_4: Off
	undefined_8: Off
	Not applicable  Provide explanation below_4: 
	Priority Ranking_5: 
	undefined_9: 
	See Table 2_5: Off
	Attach existing approved PEP page and paragraph of attachments_5: Off
	undefined_10: Off
	Not applicable  Provide explanation below_5: 
	Priority Ranking_6: 
	undefined_11: 
	See Table 2_6: Off
	Attach existing approved PEP page and paragraph of attachments_6: Off
	undefined_12: Off
	Not applicable  Provide explanation below_6: 
	Priority Ranking_7: 
	undefined_13: 
	See Table 2_7: Off
	Attach existing approved PEP page and paragraph of attachments_7: Off
	undefined_14: Off
	Not applicable  Provide explanation below_7: 
	Priority Ranking_8: 
	undefined_15: 
	See Table 2_8: Off
	Attach existing approved PEP page and paragraph of attachments_8: Off
	undefined_16: Off
	Not applicable  Provide explanation below_8: 
	Priority Ranking_9: 
	undefined_17: 
	See Table 2_9: Off
	Attach existing approved PEP page and paragraph of attachments_9: Off
	undefined_18: Off
	Not applicable  Provide explanation below_9: 
	Priority Ranking_10: 
	undefined_19: 
	See Table 2_10: Off
	Attach existing approved PEP page and paragraph of attachments_10: Off
	undefined_20: Off
	Not applicable  Provide explanation on the next page: 
	Priority Ranking_11: 
	Attach existing approved PEP page and paragraph of attachments_11: 
	See Table 2_11: Off
	undefined_21: Off
	undefined_22: Off
	Not applicable  Provide explanation below_10: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_2: 
	The map or maps is available at the following location eg The Department of Public Works front office: 
	undefined_23: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments eg Attachment A Page 3 Section b_3: Off
	Not applicable  The applicant will perform illicit discharge identification and investigation throughout the entire MS4  Skip to: Off
	IDEP Prioritized Areas page and paragraph of attachments: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_3: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_4: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_5: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_6: 
	The procedure shall include a schedule for performing field observations and followup field screening and source investigations as: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_7: Off
	Not applicable  Field observations will be conducted at all outfalls and points of discharge: Off
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_8: 
	approach to meet the minimum requirements: 
	Not applicable: Off
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_9: 
	Program Reference page and paragraph of attachments: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_10: 
	Ordinance numbers or regulatory mechanism titles attach a copy: 
	prohibiting the discharges and flows from firefighting activities if they are identified as not being significant sources of pollutants to: 
	Yes ordinance or regulatory mechanism reference page and paragraph of attachments: Off
	Not applicable  All nonstorm water discharges into the applicants MS4 will be prohibited: Off
	Yes ordinance or regulatory mechanism reference page and paragraph of attachments_2: Off
	Not applicable  All nonstorm water discharges into the applicants MS4 will be prohibited_2: Off
	undefined_24: 
	Ordinance or regulatory mechanism reference page and paragraph of attachments: 
	Ordinance or regulatory mechanism reference page and paragraph of attachments_2: 
	Ordinance or regulatory mechanism reference page and paragraph of attachments_3: 
	Ordinance or regulatory mechanism reference page and paragraph of attachments_4: 
	County Enforcing Agency: Off
	Municipal Enforcing Agency: Off
	Authorized Public Agency: Off
	No the applicant relies on the following Qualifying Local Soil Erosion and Sedimentation Control Program Part 91 Agency: Off
	undefined_25: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments eg Attachment A Page 3 Section b_4: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_11: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_12: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_13: 
	shall apply to private commercial and public projects including projects where the applicant is the developer This requirement may: 
	Yes ordinance or regulatory mechanism reference page and paragraph of attachments eg Attachment A Pages 115: Off
	No the ordinance or regulatory mechanism will be available on: Off
	undefined_26: 
	than an acre that are part of a larger common plan of development or sale and discharge into the applicants MS4: 
	Yes ordinance or regulatory mechanism reference page and paragraph of attachments_3: Off
	No the ordinance or regulatory mechanism will be available on_2: Off
	undefined_27: 
	Yes: Off
	No skip to Question 36: Off
	undefined_28: 
	Yes regulatory mechanism reference page and paragraph of attachments: Off
	No the regulatory mechanism will be available on: Off
	undefined_29: 
	Treat the first one inch of runoff from the entire project site Ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference page and: Off
	paragraph of attachments: 
	Treat the runoff generated from 90 percent of all runoffproducing storms for the project site  Ordinance or other regulatory: Off
	mechanism reference page and paragraph of attachments: 
	No the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on: Off
	The ordinance or other regulatory mechanism iswill be available on: Off
	undefined_30: 
	and includes the following water quality treatment: 
	standard Provide an explanation as to how the water quality treatment standard will prevent or minimize water quality impacts: 
	The MDEQs memo dated March 24 2006 providing the 90 percent annual nonexceedance storm statistics The memo is: Off
	An analysis of at least ten years of local published rain gauge data following the method in the March 25 2006 MDEQ memo: Off
	Other rainfall data source page and paragraph of attachments: Off
	undefined_31: 
	development total suspended solids loadings by 80 percent or achieve a discharge concentration of total suspended solids not to: 
	Yes ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference page and paragraph of attachments: Off
	No the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on_2: Off
	undefined_32: Off
	undefined_33: 
	The ordinance or other regulatory mechanism defines treatment as follows: 
	calculations is available at wwwmichigangovdocumentsdeqwbstormMS4RunoffVolume3312357xls: 
	Yes ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference page and paragraph of attachments_2: Off
	No the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on_3: Off
	The ordinance or other regulatory mechanism iswill be available on_2: Off
	undefined_34: 
	and includes the following channel protection: 
	standard Provide an explanation as to how the channel protection standard will prevent or minimize water quality impacts: 
	of the Great Lakes Rouge River downstream of the Turning Basin Saginaw River Mona Lake and Muskegon Lake Muskegon: 
	Yes ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference page and paragraph of attachments_3: Off
	No the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on_4: Off
	Not applicable_2: Off
	undefined_35: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_14: 
	auto recyclers recycling centers and scrap yards  Hot spots also include areas with the potential for contaminating public water: 
	Yes ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference page and paragraph of attachments_4: Off
	No the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on_5: Off
	undefined_36: 
	geographic area included in a10digit Hydrologic Unit Code and a sewershed is the area where storm water is conveyed by the: 
	Yes ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference page and paragraph of attachments_5: Off
	No the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on_6: Off
	Not pursuing this option: Off
	undefined_37: 
	standards A watershed is the geographic area included in a 10digit Hydrologic Unit Code and a sewershed is the area where storm: 
	Yes ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference page and paragraph of attachments_6: Off
	No the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on_7: Off
	Not pursuing this option  If not pursuing this option was selected for both Questions 43 and 44 skip to Question 52: Off
	undefined_38: 
	given to locations that yield benefits to the same receiving water that received runoff from the original project site: 
	Yes ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference page and paragraph of attachments_7: Off
	No the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on_8: Off
	undefined_39: 
	amount of storm water identified as the first tier For example a minimum of 04 inches of storm water runoff shall be managed on: 
	Yes ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference page and paragraph of attachments_8: Off
	No the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on_9: Off
	undefined_40: Off
	undefined_41: 
	The ordinance or other regulatory mechanism requires the following: 
	identified in Question 46 not managed onsite to the amount of storm water required to be mitigated at another site or for which in: 
	Yes ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference page and paragraph of attachments_9: Off
	No the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on_10: Off
	undefined_42: Off
	undefined_43: 
	The ordinance or other regulatory mechanism requires the following_2: 
	infeasible to manage the first tier of storm water identified in Question 47 onsite the offset ratio for the unmanaged portion is 12: 
	Yes ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference page and paragraph of attachments_10: Off
	No the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on_11: Off
	undefined_44: Off
	undefined_45: 
	The ordinance or other regulatory mechanism requires the following_3: 
	mitigation and inlieu projects should be completed within 24 months after the start of the original project site construction: 
	Yes ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference page and paragraph of attachments_11: Off
	No the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on_12: Off
	undefined_46: Off
	undefined_47: 
	The ordinance or other regulatory mechanism requires the following_4: 
	50 Does the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism require that offsets and inlieu projects be preserved and maintained in: 
	Yes ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference page and paragraph of attachments_12: Off
	No the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on_13: Off
	undefined_48: Off
	undefined_49: 
	The ordinance or other regulatory mechanism requires the following_5: 
	51 Describe the tracking system implemented or to be implemented to track offsite mitigation andor inlieu projects: 
	or to be implemented during the permit cycle The applicant shall demonstrate how the exception provides an equivalent or greater: 
	Yes demonstration reference page and paragraph of attachments: Off
	No: Off
	53 Does the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism include a requirement to submit a site plan for review and approval of post: 
	Yes ordinance or regulatory mechanism reference page and paragraph of attachments_4: Off
	No the ordinance or regulatory mechanism will be available on_3: Off
	undefined_50: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_15: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_16: 
	56 Does the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism require the longterm operation and maintenance of all structural and vegetative: 
	Yes ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference page and paragraph of attachments_13: Off
	No the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on_14: Off
	undefined_51: 
	operators responsible for the longterm operation and maintenance of structural and vegetative BMPs installed and implemented to: 
	Yes ordinance or other regulatory mechanism reference page and paragraph of attachments_14: Off
	No the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism will be available on_15: Off
	undefined_52: Off
	undefined_53: 
	The ordinance or other regulatory mechanism requires the following_6: 
	Inspect the structural or vegetative BMP: Off
	Perform the necessary maintenance or corrective actions neglected by the BMP owner or operator: Off
	Track the transfer of operation and maintenance responsibility of the BMP eg deed restrictions: Off
	mechanism allows the applicant to verify and ensure maintenance of the BMP: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_17: 
	Inventory Reference Page and Paragraph of Attachments eg Attachment A Page 3 Section b: 
	Administration buildings: Off
	Airports: Off
	Cemeteries: Off
	Equipment storage and maintenance facilities: Off
	Fuel Farms: Off
	Hazardous waste handling and transfer facilities: Off
	Landscape maintenance facilities: Off
	Materials storage yards: Off
	Parks: Off
	Police stations: Off
	Public parking lots: Off
	Public works yards: Off
	Salt storage facilities: Off
	Vacant land and open space: Off
	undefined_54: Off
	Animal Control Building: Off
	Bus Stations and Garages: Off
	Composting facilities: Off
	Fire Stations: Off
	Hazardous waste disposal facilities: Off
	Landfills: Off
	Libraries: Off
	Mosquito Control Facility: Off
	Pesticide storage facilities: Off
	Public golf courses: Off
	Public schools: Off
	Recycling facilities: Off
	Solid waste handling and transfer facilities: Off
	Vehicle storage and maintenance yards: Off
	Other facilities  Provide a description below: Off
	Outdoor wash areas: 
	Catch basins: Off
	Detention basins: Off
	Oilwater separators: Off
	Pump Stations: Off
	Secondary containment: Off
	Vegetated swales: Off
	undefined_55: Off
	Constructed wetlands: Off
	Infiltration basins and trenches: Off
	Porous pavement: Off
	Rain gardens: Off
	Underground storage vaults or tanks: Off
	Other structural storm water controls  Provide a description below: 
	The map or maps is available at the following location: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_18: 
	undefined_56: Off
	Not Applicable  The applicant does not own a facility that discharges storm water to surface waters of the state  Skip to: Off
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_19: 
	pollutants to surface waters of the state: Off
	undefined_57: Off
	Prioritized Facility List page and paragraph of attachments: 
	Fleet Maintenance and Storage Yard Demonstrations page and paragraph of attachments: 
	Yes a sitespecific SOP is available at each facility with the high potential for pollutant runoff: Off
	Not Applicable  The applicant does not own or operate any facilities with the high potential for pollutant runoff  Skip to Question: Off
	SOP Reference page and paragraph of attachments: 
	This space is available to reference multiple sitespecific SOPs: 
	SOP Reference page and paragraph of attachments_2: 
	This space is available to reference multiple sitespecific SOPs_2: 
	SOP Reference page and paragraph of attachments_3: 
	This space is available to reference multiple sitespecific SOPs_3: 
	SOP Reference page and paragraph of attachments_4: 
	This space is available to reference multiple sitespecific SOPs_4: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_20: 
	undefined_58: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_21: Off
	Not Applicable  The applicant does not own or operate catch basins Skip to Question 75: Off
	Catch Basin Priority Location page and paragraph of attachments: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_22: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_23: 
	procedure is 30 days following the implementation of a new structural storm water control: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_24: Off
	Not Applicable  Applicant does not own or operate any structural storm water controls: Off
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_25: 
	Road parking lot and sidewalk maintenance eg pothole sidewalk and curb and gutter repair: Off
	Bridge maintenance: Off
	Rightofway maintenance: Off
	Unpaved road maintenance: Off
	Cold weather operations eg plowing sanding application of deicing agents and snow pile disposal: Off
	Vehicle washing and maintenance of applicantowned vehicles eg police fire school bus public works: Off
	undefined_59: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_26: Off
	undefined_60: Off
	Not Applicable  Provide an explanation below: 
	30 days following the construction of a new street parking lot or other applicantowned or operated impervious surface or within 30: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_27: Off
	Not Applicable  The applicant does not own or operate any streets parking lots or other impervious infrastructure  Skip to: Off
	Street Sweeping Priority Location page and paragraph of attachments: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_28: 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_29: 
	at httpwwwmichigangovmdard0461071251569169883528911992: Off
	Not Applicable  Provide an explanation below eg the applicants pesticide applicator only uses readytouse products from the: Off
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments_30: 
	original container: 
	Procedure Reference Page and Paragraph of Attachments: 
	Program Reference Page and Paragraph of Attachments: 
	Yes the following approved USEPA TMDLs was included in my application notice letter: Off
	Approved USEPA TMDL(s): 
	Procedure Reference page and paragraph of attachments eg Attachment A Page 3 Section b_5: 
	TMDL BMP Priority List page and paragraph of attachments: 
	TMDL Monitoring Plan page and paragraph of attachments: 
	Print Name: 
	Title_4: 
	Representing: 
	Signature: 
	Date: 
	Outfall Point of Discharge: 
	undefined_61: Off
	undefined_62: Off
	OutfallPoint of Discharge Identification No: 
	Receiving Water Row1: 
	Latitude: 
	Longitude: 
	Outfall Point of Discharge_2: 
	undefined_63: Off
	undefined_64: Off
	OutfallPoint of Discharge Identification No_2: 
	Receiving Water Row1_2: 
	Latitude_2: 
	Longitude_2: 
	Outfall Point of Discharge_3: 
	undefined_65: Off
	undefined_66: Off
	OutfallPoint of Discharge Identification No_3: 
	Receiving Water Row1_3: 
	Latitude_3: 
	Longitude_3: 
	Outfall Point of Discharge_4: 
	undefined_67: Off
	undefined_68: Off
	OutfallPoint of Discharge Identification No_4: 
	Receiving WaterRow1: 
	Latitude_4: 
	Longitude_4: 
	Outfall Point of Discharge_5: 
	undefined_69: Off
	undefined_70: Off
	OutfallPoint of Discharge Identification No_5: 
	Receiving Water Row1_4: 
	Latitude_5: 
	Longitude_5: 
	Outfall Point of Discharge_6: 
	undefined_71: Off
	undefined_72: Off
	OutfallPoint of Discharge Identification No_6: 
	Receiving Water Row1_5: 
	Latitude_6: 
	Longitude_6: 
	Outfall Point of Discharge_7: 
	undefined_73: Off
	undefined_74: Off
	OutfallPoint of Discharge Identification No_7: 
	Receiving Water Row1_6: 
	Latitude_7: 
	Longitude_7: 
	PEP TopicRow1: 
	BMP IdentifierRow1: 
	BMP DescriptorRow1: 
	Partner CollaborationRow1: 
	Target AudienceRow1: 
	Key MessagesRow1: 
	Delivery MechanismRow1: 
	YearRow1: 
	FrequencyRow1: 
	Responsible PartyRow1: 
	Measurable GoalRow1: 
	PEP TopicRow2: 
	BMP IdentifierRow2: 
	BMP DescriptorRow2: 
	Partner CollaborationRow2: 
	Target AudienceRow2: 
	Key MessagesRow2: 
	Delivery MechanismRow2: 
	YearRow2: 
	FrequencyRow2: 
	Responsible PartyRow2: 
	Measurable GoalRow2: 
	PEP TopicRow3: 
	BMP IdentifierRow3: 
	BMP DescriptorRow3: 
	Partner CollaborationRow3: 
	Target AudienceRow3: 
	Key MessagesRow3: 
	Delivery MechanismRow3: 
	YearRow3: 
	FrequencyRow3: 
	Responsible PartyRow3: 
	Measurable GoalRow3: 
	PEP TopicRow4: 
	BMP IdentifierRow4: 
	BMP DescriptorRow4: 
	Partner CollaborationRow4: 
	Target AudienceRow4: 
	Key MessagesRow4: 
	Delivery MechanismRow4: 
	YearRow4: 
	FrequencyRow4: 
	Responsible PartyRow4: 
	Measurable GoalRow4: 
	PEP TopicRow5: 
	BMP IdentifierRow5: 
	BMP DescriptorRow5: 
	Partner CollaborationRow5: 
	Target AudienceRow5: 
	Key MessagesRow5: 
	Delivery MechanismRow5: 
	YearRow5: 
	FrequencyRow5: 
	Responsible PartyRow5: 
	Measurable GoalRow5: 
	PEP TopicRow6: 
	BMP IdentifierRow6: 
	BMP DescriptorRow6: 
	Partner CollaborationRow6: 
	Target AudienceRow6: 
	Key MessagesRow6: 
	Delivery MechanismRow6: 
	YearRow6: 
	FrequencyRow6: 
	Responsible PartyRow6: 
	Measurable GoalRow6: 
	PEP TopicRow7: 
	BMP IdentifierRow7: 
	BMP DescriptorRow7: 
	Partner CollaborationRow7: 
	Target AudienceRow7: 
	Key MessagesRow7: 
	Delivery MechanismRow7: 
	YearRow7: 
	FrequencyRow7: 
	Responsible PartyRow7: 
	Measurable GoalRow7: 
	PEP TopicRow8: 
	BMP IdentifierRow8: 
	BMP DescriptorRow8: 
	Partner CollaborationRow8: 
	Target AudienceRow8: 
	Key MessagesRow8: 
	Delivery MechanismRow8: 
	YearRow8: 
	FrequencyRow8: 
	Responsible PartyRow8: 
	Measurable GoalRow8: 
	PEP TopicRow9: 
	BMP IdentifierRow9: 
	BMP DescriptorRow9: 
	Partner CollaborationRow9: 
	Target AudienceRow9: 
	Key MessagesRow9: 
	Delivery MechanismRow9: 
	YearRow9: 
	FrequencyRow9: 
	Responsible PartyRow9: 
	Measurable GoalRow9: 
	PEP TopicRow10: 
	BMP IdentifierRow10: 
	BMP DescriptorRow10: 
	Partner CollaborationRow10: 
	Target AudienceRow10: 
	Key MessagesRow10: 
	Delivery MechanismRow10: 
	YearRow10: 
	FrequencyRow10: 
	Responsible PartyRow10: 
	Measurable GoalRow10: 
	PEP TopicRow11: 
	BMP IdentifierRow11: 
	BMP DescriptorRow11: 
	Partner CollaborationRow11: 
	Target AudienceRow11: 
	Key MessagesRow11: 
	Delivery MechanismRow11: 
	YearRow11: 
	FrequencyRow11: 
	Responsible PartyRow11: 
	Measurable GoalRow11: 
	PEP TopicRow12: 
	BMP IdentifierRow12: 
	BMP DescriptorRow12: 
	Partner CollaborationRow12: 
	Target AudienceRow12: 
	Key MessagesRow12: 
	Delivery MechanismRow12: 
	YearRow12: 
	FrequencyRow12: 
	Responsible PartyRow12: 
	Measurable GoalRow12: 
	PEP TopicRow13: 
	BMP IdentifierRow13: 
	BMP DescriptorRow13: 
	Partner CollaborationRow13: 
	Target AudienceRow13: 
	Key MessagesRow13: 
	Delivery MechanismRow13: 
	YearRow13: 
	FrequencyRow13: 
	Responsible PartyRow13: 
	Measurable GoalRow13: 
	PEP TopicRow14: 
	BMP IdentifierRow14: 
	BMP DescriptorRow14: 
	Partner CollaborationRow14: 
	Target AudienceRow14: 
	Key MessagesRow14: 
	Delivery MechanismRow14: 
	YearRow14: 
	FrequencyRow14: 
	Responsible PartyRow14: 
	Measurable GoalRow14: 
	PEP TopicRow15: 
	BMP IdentifierRow15: 
	BMP DescriptorRow15: 
	Partner CollaborationRow15: 
	Target AudienceRow15: 
	Key MessagesRow15: 
	Delivery MechanismRow15: 
	YearRow15: 
	FrequencyRow15: 
	Responsible PartyRow15: 
	Measurable GoalRow15: 
	PEP TopicRow16: 
	BMP IdentifierRow16: 
	BMP DescriptorRow16: 
	Partner CollaborationRow16: 
	Target AudienceRow16: 
	Key MessagesRow16: 
	Delivery MechanismRow16: 
	YearRow16: 
	FrequencyRow16: 
	Responsible PartyRow16: 
	Measurable GoalRow16: 
	PEP TopicRow17: 
	BMP IdentifierRow17: 
	BMP DescriptorRow17: 
	Partner CollaborationRow17: 
	Target AudienceRow17: 
	Key MessagesRow17: 
	Delivery MechanismRow17: 
	YearRow17: 
	FrequencyRow17: 
	Responsible PartyRow17: 
	Measurable GoalRow17: 
	PEP TopicRow18: 
	BMP IdentifierRow18: 
	BMP DescriptorRow18: 
	Partner CollaborationRow18: 
	Target AudienceRow18: 
	Key MessagesRow18: 
	Delivery MechanismRow18: 
	YearRow18: 
	FrequencyRow18: 
	Responsible PartyRow18: 
	Measurable GoalRow18: 
	PEP TopicRow19: 
	BMP IdentifierRow19: 
	BMP DescriptorRow19: 
	Partner CollaborationRow19: 
	Target AudienceRow19: 
	Key MessagesRow19: 
	Delivery MechanismRow19: 
	YearRow19: 
	FrequencyRow19: 
	Responsible PartyRow19: 
	Measurable GoalRow19: 
	PEP TopicRow20: 
	BMP IdentifierRow20: 
	BMP DescriptorRow20: 
	Partner CollaborationRow20: 
	Target AudienceRow20: 
	Key MessagesRow20: 
	Delivery MechanismRow20: 
	YearRow20: 
	FrequencyRow20: 
	Responsible PartyRow20: 
	Measurable GoalRow20: 
	PEP TopicRow21: 
	BMP IdentifierRow21: 
	BMP DescriptorRow21: 
	Partner CollaborationRow21: 
	Target AudienceRow21: 
	Key MessagesRow21: 
	Delivery MechanismRow21: 
	YearRow21: 
	FrequencyRow21: 
	Responsible PartyRow21: 
	Measurable GoalRow21: 
	PEP TopicRow22: 
	BMP IdentifierRow22: 
	BMP DescriptorRow22: 
	Partner CollaborationRow22: 
	Target AudienceRow22: 
	Key MessagesRow22: 
	Delivery MechanismRow22: 
	YearRow22: 
	FrequencyRow22: 
	Responsible PartyRow22: 
	Measurable GoalRow22: 
	PEP TopicRow23: 
	BMP IdentifierRow23: 
	BMP DescriptorRow23: 
	Partner CollaborationRow23: 
	Target AudienceRow23: 
	Key MessagesRow23: 
	Delivery MechanismRow23: 
	YearRow23: 
	FrequencyRow23: 
	Responsible PartyRow23: 
	Measurable GoalRow23: 
	PEP TopicRow24: 
	BMP IdentifierRow24: 
	BMP DescriptorRow24: 
	Partner CollaborationRow24: 
	Target AudienceRow24: 
	Key MessagesRow24: 
	Delivery MechanismRow24: 
	YearRow24: 
	FrequencyRow24: 
	Responsible PartyRow24: 
	Measurable GoalRow24: 
	PEP TopicRow25: 
	BMP IdentifierRow25: 
	BMP DescriptorRow25: 
	Partner CollaborationRow25: 
	Target AudienceRow25: 
	Key MessagesRow25: 
	Delivery MechanismRow25: 
	YearRow25: 
	FrequencyRow25: 
	Responsible PartyRow25: 
	Measurable GoalRow25: 
	PEP TopicRow26: 
	BMP IdentifierRow26: 
	BMP DescriptorRow26: 
	Partner CollaborationRow26: 
	Target AudienceRow26: 
	Key MessagesRow26: 
	Delivery MechanismRow26: 
	YearRow26: 
	FrequencyRow26: 
	Responsible PartyRow26: 
	Measurable GoalRow26: 
	PEP TopicRow27: 
	BMP IdentifierRow27: 
	BMP DescriptorRow27: 
	Partner CollaborationRow27: 
	Target AudienceRow27: 
	Key MessagesRow27: 
	Delivery MechanismRow27: 
	YearRow27: 
	FrequencyRow27: 
	Responsible PartyRow27: 
	Measurable GoalRow27: 
	PEP TopicRow28: 
	BMP IdentifierRow28: 
	BMP DescriptorRow28: 
	Partner CollaborationRow28: 
	Target AudienceRow28: 
	Key MessagesRow28: 
	Delivery MechanismRow28: 
	YearRow28: 
	FrequencyRow28: 
	Responsible PartyRow28: 
	Measurable GoalRow28: 
	PEP TopicRow29: 
	BMP IdentifierRow29: 
	BMP DescriptorRow29: 
	Partner CollaborationRow29: 
	Target AudienceRow29: 
	Key MessagesRow29: 
	Delivery MechanismRow29: 
	YearRow29: 
	FrequencyRow29: 
	Responsible PartyRow29: 
	Measurable GoalRow29: 
	PEP TopicRow30: 
	BMP IdentifierRow30: 
	BMP DescriptorRow30: 
	Partner CollaborationRow30: 
	Target AudienceRow30: 
	Key MessagesRow30: 
	Delivery MechanismRow30: 
	YearRow30: 
	FrequencyRow30: 
	Responsible PartyRow30: 
	Measurable GoalRow30: 


